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PROFILE

KONAMI was founded in Osaka in 1969 by Kagemasa
Kozuki, who is currently Chairman and CEO, and began
manufacturing and selling amusement machines for arcades
in 1973.

In the following years, we have added innovative busi-
nesses to our business portfolio. We currently have five main
business segments. These business segments each play a
part in forming an innovative corporate group that maintains
industry-leading competitiveness and creates synergies.

In September 2002, we listed our shares on the New
York Stock Exchange and in March 2003, celebrated our
30th anniversary, taking our first steps toward the next
stage of evolution.

We are committed to making every moment of the lives
of our customers special through the provision of products
and services that are sources of surprise and enjoyment
and that transform every scene of daily life into quality
time, or into what we call “high quality life.” This spirit per-
vades all our computer and video game software, toy and
hobby products, amusement products, casino gaming ma-
chines, and sports clubs. Redesigned in April 2003, our
new logo also embodies this commitment. Moreover, we
have embraced a new tagline to clarify our fundamental
principles: “Bikkuri (Be Creative).” Bikkuri means surprise
in Japanese. When people encounter something truly
original, their natural response is surprise. This tagline ex-
presses our desire to create original products and services
that genuinely surprise customers. Most importantly, we hope
to fully harness our revolutionary creativity, the primary
source of our competitiveness, to achieve further growth.

Cautionary Statements With Respects to Forward-Looking Statements

Statements made in this report with respect to our current plans, estimates, strategies
and beliefs, including any forecasts, are forward-looking statements about our future
performance. These statements are based on management’s assumptions and beliefs
in light of information that is currently available to it, and therefore, you should not
place undue reliance on such statements. A number of important factors could cause
actual results to be materially different from, and possibly worse than, those discussed
in forward-looking statements. Such factors include, but are not limited to: (i) changes
in economic conditions affecting our operations; (ii) fluctuations in currency exchange
rates, particularly with respect to the value of the Japanese yen, the U.S. dollar and
the euro; (iii) our ability to continue to win acceptance of our products, which are offered
in highly competitive markets characterized by the continuous introduction of new
products, rapid developments in technology and subjective and changing consumer
preferences; (iv) our ability to successfully expand internationally, mainly in our video
game software business, card game business and gaming machine business (v) our
ability to successfully expand the scope of our business and broaden our customer
base through our exercise entertainment business; (vi) regulatory developments and
changes and our ability to respond and adapt to those changes; (vii) our expectations
with regard to further acquisitions and the integration of any companies we may acquire;
and (viii) the outcome of contingencies.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (U.S. GAAP)
KONAMI CORPORATION and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003

Thousands of
Millions of Yen  U.S. dollars

(except per share data) (except per share data)

2001 (Note 1) 2002 2003 2003

Income Statement Data:
Net revenues ¥171,481 ¥225,580 ¥253,657 $2,110,291
Cost of revenues 103,068 154,651 174,879 1,454,900
Impairment on goodwill and other intangible assets – – 47,599 395,998
Selling, general and administrative expenses 30,502 52,842 53,049 441,340

Operating income (loss) 37,911 18,087 (21,870) (181,947)

Other income (expenses)—net 2,924 4,591 (226) (1,880)

Income (loss) before income taxes (Note 2) 40,835 22,678 (22,096) (183,827)
Income taxes 19,203 11,667 6,186 51,464
Minority interest in income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries 420 364 (1,051) (8,744)
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies 356 755 (1,288) (10,716)

Net income (loss) ¥  21,568 ¥  11,402 ¥ (28,519) $  (237,263)

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share ¥  189.04 ¥    89.32 ¥ (234.58) $        (1.95)
Cash dividends per share (Note 3) ¥    54.00 ¥    54.00 ¥    54.00 $         0.44

Balance Sheet Data:
Total current assets ¥124,852 ¥142,055 ¥136,705 $1,137,313
Total assets 293,830 328,091 278,250 2,314,892
Total current liabilities 80,350 79,548 71,774 597,122
Total long-term liabilities 36,754 77,637 87,215 725,582
Total shareholders’ equity 145,151 134,990 90,406 752,130
Note: (1) In February 2001, we acquired 54.64% of the outstanding shares of PEOPLE CO., LTD., a sports club operator in Japan, for ¥69,415 million in cash. The acquired

company was then renamed Konami Sports Corporation. The assets, liabilities and results of operations of Konami Sports Corporation have been included in our
consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) Under U.S. GAAP, income before income taxes does not include equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies.
(3) Cash dividends per share consist of interim dividends paid during the fiscal year and year-end dividends paid after the fiscal year-end.
(4) The translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan, and have been made at the

rate of ¥120.20 to U.S.$1, the approximate exchange rate on March 31, 2003.
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In past years, we have created and marketed a steady stream of attractive products that have defined

leading-edge amusement scenes. Today, however, a new world of entertainment is emerging. The con-

tent of individual fields within the entertainment industry, such as games, films, music, sports, toys, pub-

lishing and communications, are rapidly converging, driven by advances in digital technologies. The

entertainment industry is certain to become still more sophisticated and diversified, given the possibility

that education and fitness markets may be added to its fold. In this climate, we must seize these emerg-

ing opportunities to sustain growth. Executing sophisticated and diversified strategies, and building a

stronger organization are imperatives. We are already taking steps to formulate a business model that

will generate steady streams of earnings. Key to accomplishing this is skillfully managing four industry-

leading strengths—our content production skills, marketing skills, financial strength, and brand value.

Accurately identifying and comprehending new trends in the entertainment market will also be impor-

tant. Through the creation of entertainment for all ages, genders and nationalities, we seek to run stable

businesses that do not depend on any specific hit product.

A Wide Range of Content

2

Transforming KONAMI Into a Universally Admired Brand

Foster Wider Acceptance of KONAMI-branded Products
Across All Generations

Children

Seniors

Families

Singles

Students

Elderly

Game software, mobile phone and online games

Card games

Educational toys

Toys for boys and girls

Casino

Fitness and health

Arcade games

Hobby products

Shifts in life stages and lifestyle

FEATURE
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We have achieved steady growth over the three decades since our founding
by providing quality entertainment. We will continue to pursue our mission
of creating a high quality of life for even more people.

“High Quality Life”

On March 19, 1973, we started our first business—the leasing of jukeboxes. Our

next business was manufacturing of arcade game machines. We then achieved

rapid growth on the success of our game software for Nintendo’s Family Computer

console. This period of robust growth laid the foundation for our organization today.

The addition of the Toy & Hobby, Gaming and Exercise Entertainment Business

Segments defines our organization today. In this manner, we have always striven to

expand by staying on top of trends and creating entertainment with broad appeal.

Our mission is to provide a higher quality of life for a growing audience around the

world. Today, our businesses are steadily growing. In the future, we will diversify

into new business domains in step with the latest market trends, promptly entering

new markets. Our goal is to make the KONAMI brand synonymous with entertainment

value and drive further growth.
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Fiscal 2003, ended March 31, 2003, saw our

listing on the New York Stock Exchange

(NYSE)—a major milestone in our 30-year

history. We are now placed in full view of the

world’s most demanding investors, who ex-

pect the highest standard of disclosure. Our

NYSE listing is extremely significant in light

of our aspirations to expand worldwide, as it

gives us greater recognition and diversified

means of raising funds in the U.S. This listing

will also enhance corporate governance

throughout the KONAMI Group.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

4
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Fiscal 2003 Review

In fiscal 2003, we booked an impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets in the Exercise

Entertainment Business. This reflected our transition from accounting principles and practices generally

accepted in Japan (Japanese GAAP) to accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (U.S.

GAAP) upon listing on the NYSE. Under U.S. GAAP, goodwill and identifiable intangible assets must be

tested for impairment at the end of every fiscal year. KONAMI underwent an appraisal by an independent

appraiser to determine the fair value of its goodwill and other intangible assets. We booked an impairment

loss in fiscal 2003 pursuant to the findings of this appraisal.

Excluding the effect of this impairment loss, we recorded both increased sales and earnings in fiscal

2003. Net sales increased 12.4% year on year to ¥253,657 million, as we exceeded overall targets set at

the beginning of the fiscal year. By segment, the Exercise Entertainment Business fell short of its target,

but this was more than offset by the strong performance by the Toy & Hobby Business. We recorded a

net loss for fiscal 2003 of ¥28,519 million, compared with net income of ¥11,402 million in the previous

fiscal year, due to the impairment loss on goodwill and identifiable intangible assets mentioned earlier.

Excluding the net loss due to the impairment loss, fiscal 2003 was a fruitful year for us—we paid dividends

of ¥54 per share for the year to shareholders, unchanged from the previous year, and listed on the

NYSE as planned.

A Unique Management Policy

We celebrated our 30th anniversary on March 19, 2003. This milestone highlighted a key management

issue for the future—the importance of generating growing streams of reliable earnings from diverse

entertainment businesses. This will help us avoid depending too heavily on any specific business for

earnings, as we seek to reach the next stage of our evolution.

Stable and High Dividends

I believe that companies must consider the viewpoints of all stakeholders. This includes shareholders and

other investors, end users, customers, employees and society at large. For all stakeholders, we are

committed to remaining an exemplary corporate citizen, and we will continue to contribute to the

development of the entertainment industry. At the same time, by providing quality time filled with

excitement and inspiration to people of all ages, we hope to become a universally admired and

respected company.

Our fundamental management policy emphasizes shareholder-focused management practices,

with the emphasis on consistently paying a high level of dividends and increasing corporate value for

shareholders. For the past three years, including our most recent fiscal year, we have paid dividends

of ¥54 per share. Looking forward, our policy is to continue rewarding shareholders with high dividends.
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Investing in Businesses Promising High Growth and Profitability

We will be actively making investments in fields promising high growth and profitability. In past years, our

businesses have mainly targeted children and young men interested in video game software and arcade

games. The youth market will continue to contract as low birth rates and the aging of society persist

for the foreseeable future. Another challenge of this segment is staying on top of the fast-changing

preferences of trend-sensitive young adults. The way forward lies in redefining ourselves as a universal

entertainment company with a broad focus on many different generations and market segments. This

policy will see us target senior citizens, women and other groups.

Our first promising initiative is the Exercise Entertainment Business. This business combines the

operation of sports clubs and the manufacture of fitness machines. In Japan today, all generations are

interested in looking good and feeling good. Senior citizens, in particular, are a promising source of

demand for high value-added businesses, in view of the aging of society.

Entertainment-related businesses have unlimited potential, especially given the current debate

over legalized casino gambling in Japan. The casino gaming market, which was previously centered

on North America and Australia, is now expanding worldwide.

Transparent Management

Establishing strong internal controls and ensuring compliance with all laws and regulations are essential

for upholding our high standards of transparent management. I am confident that senior management,

including me, will always abide by the letter and spirit of the law. To uphold high ethical standards

among our employees, who now number more than 4,300 employees, our Code of Business Conduct

and Ethics was formulated to prevent any ethical breaches. We will also maintain fair and transparent

disclosure to prove worthy of the trust of investors as a listed company on the NYSE. One key step was

the establishment of the Disclosure Committee to audit the reliability of the information published

through our disclosure program in April 2003.

Segment Business Strategies Focused on Synergies

In January 2003, we renamed and reclassified our business segments to more clearly delineate

responsibilities for each business. This move gave us an organizational structure that maximizes our

specialized expertise in each business and core competency. The number of segments remains unchanged

at five. However, certain segments have been reclassified to better reflect frontline operations, taking

into consideration the distinctive features of business domains. This change will give us the optimal

organizational structure we need to execute our strategies.



7

Computer & Video Games

Exercise Entertainment

Toy & Hobby

Amusement

Gaming

Five Business Segments

Casino gaming machines

Name Business activities

Home-use video game software
Video game software for mobile phones

Operation of sports clubs
Exercise entertainment products

Card games, character goods
Electronic toys and candy toys

Arcade video games
Token-operated games
LCD units

Our Approach to Global Game Software Markets

The Computer & Video Games Business Segment generates the largest portion of our consolidated net

sales. We hold a market share of approximately 12% in the domestic home-use video game software

market, but only an approximately 5% share of the European and U.S. markets. It is imperative, therefore,

that we capture a greater share of overseas markets. Our strategy will entail creating a powerful

lineup of brand titles that win acceptance throughout the world, entering the PC software business

and taking other actions.

We have long advanced a multi-platform strategy that seeks to ensure steady earnings irrespec-

tive of the development of individual game platforms. We will continue to pursue a multi-genre strategy

aimed at rolling out outstanding titles across diverse genres, involving three primary initiatives. The

first is to sustain growth of brand titles that are set to win solid market acceptance, such as the

METAL GEAR SOLID, WORLD SOCCER WINNING ELEVEN and Yu-Gi-Oh! series. The second is to develop

new titles such as Boktai: The Sun is in Your Hand, KOROKKE! and MIRUMO DE PON!. The third initia-

tive is to remake best-selling titles of past years such as TEENAGE MUTANT NINJA TURTLES and

Castlevania. These initiatives will help us drive steady sales growth.

Capturing Synergies in the Exercise Entertainment Business Segment

The Exercise Entertainment Business Segment integrates the operation of sports clubs with the manu-

facture of fitness machines, activities that were previously classified under separate segments. This

industry has entered a period of significant upheaval in Japan due to strong interest in health and

beauty, low birth rates coupled with an aging population, and consolidation within the industry due to

Japan’s protracted recession. This upheaval represents a significant opportunity for us.
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With an unrivaled market share of approximately 25% in Japan, our subsidiary Konami Sports

Corporation is the driving force behind the Exercise Entertainment Business. As of March 31, 2003,

Konami Sports’ network consisted of 238 sports clubs throughout Japan. By combining our expertise

in entertainment and industry-leading health management skills, the Exercise Entertainment Business

aims to provide exercise and relaxation programs that are fun and sustainable. This segment will take

steps to improve customer service and provide customer-centric health and fitness services. Upgrading

exercise entertainment machines is another priority. One example is the personal training log system,

which displays training history and physiological data that is automatically stored in the databases of

sports clubs. Another is the development of exercise entertainment machines that fuse our entertainment

content in game software with fitness machines. By steadily increasing our experience and expertise

in these areas, we will expand opportunities and provide innovative products and services.

Toy & Hobby Business Segment: Synergies Driven by Shared Content

The Toy & Hobby Business Segment mainly involves the manufacture and sale of card games, character

goods, portable games, electronic toys and candy toys. This business offers significant opportunities

for capturing synergies with other businesses, especially the Computer & Video Game Business. The

long-standing success of the Yu-Gi-Oh! series is a good example. The goal is to establish ourselves as

a solid brand in the markets of this segment. Key to accomplishing this will be maximizing the benefits

of collaboration among the Toy & Hobby Business and other businesses, and developing quality toy

and hobby products with outstanding performance and enjoyment.

Amusement Business Segment: Delivering New Games and Enjoyment

The Amusement Business is facing a contracting market partly due to diversifying entertainment pref-

erences and the growing sophistication of home-use games. Nevertheless, we are producing highly

successful arcade game machines such as e-AMUSEMENT. These products all share features that are

industry-firsts and that can be enjoyed only at amusement arcades. Having created a huge sensation

with music simulation games, we have the ability to spur growth in the entire amusement arcade market

on our own.

The Potential of the Gaming Business as Entertainment

The global casino gaming machine market is estimated to be worth approximately ¥300 billion and has

strong growth potential over the medium- and long-terms. The Gaming Business Segment has already

captured approximately 20% of the Australian market for casino gaming machines in terms of unit

sales. By capturing a greater share of the North American market, we aim to raise our global market

share. We plan to break into markets in Europe, South Africa and South America, as casino gaming

machine markets expand worldwide. The emergence of a new market in Japan is a possibility that

holds considerable promise for the future.
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NYSE Listing Prompts Enhanced Disclosure

In 2002, restoring investor confidence became a top priority in the wake of several high profile accounting

scandals in the U.S. There was some debate as to whether this was the right time for Japanese companies

to be listing on the NYSE. However, in my view, the crisis in investor confidence made it all the more

important that we proceed with our original plans. The interests of our non-Japanese shareholders,

who represent more than 25% of our shareholder base, also needed to be considered. Listing on

the NYSE allows them to trade our shares much more easily and helps us attract more U.S. investors.

Proceeding with our listing plans was therefore essential. Coincidentally, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act was

signed into law just as we listed on the NYSE. This new legislation has made enterprise risk management

a vital priority for senior management, prompting senior management and our staff to work closely together

on several fronts. One key action was the establishment of the Disclosure Committee. By upholding an

unwavering commitment to fair and transparent disclosure, we aim to help restore investor confidence

in capital markets.

KONAMI: A Strong and Admired Corporate Group

We look to sustain healthy growth irrespective of shifts in earnings in any single business. To accomplish

this goal, we are strengthening our hand in diverse entertainment businesses and creating a frame-

work where each business can maximize synergies to achieve higher success. There is another critical

requirement. All of our businesses must create the kind of entertainment that inspires and excites

people, thereby filling day-to-day living with quality time. The key to making this happen is creativity.

We are focused on conducting businesses that maximize creativity. Building on this foundation, we

will reinforce four elements indispensable to sustaining our growth into the future. The first is content

production skills, the driving force behind attractive content. The second is marketing skills, which leverage

an outstanding sales network flexible enough to sell game software produced by other companies.

The third is our financial strength, which paves the way for the timely execution of business strategies.

Fourth is our brand, a hallmark of excellence in entertainment value. This drive will transform us into

an even stronger and more admired organization.

July 2003

Kagemasa Kozuki

Chairman of the Board and CEO
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Market Environment

In Japan, the market for hardware platforms was

characterized by slowing growth in sales of the

current generation of platforms,

including the PlayStation 2, Xbox,

and Nintendo GameCube and

Game Boy Advance. On the other

hand, the greater platform pen-

etration created solid demand

for game software. In console

platforms, the PlayStation 2

continued to post higher sales

while the Game Boy Advance

continued to dominate the

handheld game category. New

gaming formats such as games for mobile

phones and online games are also emerging.

In Europe and North America, lowered prices

of game consoles sparked enormous growth

in sales of software. The result was record-

high sales of game software in these regions.

A large number of new titles were intro-

duced in every region during the fiscal year,

causing customers to become even more

selective. The result was an even greater gap

between popular games and other titles. In

this environment, companies having a large

volume of highly appealing content that have

the qualities customers want most have an

enormous advantage.

Performance

During fiscal 2003, we launched

a broad range of games in Japan

and overseas, including titles

covering sports, animation,

original themes and other catego-

ries. Total shipments, including

our distribution business, rose

from last year’s

22.8 million to an all-time high

of 23.7 million copies. Shipments

of KONAMI titles increased

from 20.3 million to 21.0 million

copies while shipments in our

distribution business of other

companies’ games increased from

2.5 million to 2.7 million copies.

One notable trend of fiscal

2003 was the popularity of

relatively low-priced titles. As a result, net

sales and operating income were both below

results in the prior fiscal year, when we

launched METAL GEAR SOLID 2: SONS OF

LIBERTY, a mega-hit title for the PlayStation 2

that sold more than 5 million copies world-

wide. However, we did keep total shipments

over the 20 million level for the second con-

secutive year, aided largely by the success of

soccer games and the Yu-Gi-Oh! series.

In the soccer category, WORLD SOCCER

WINNING ELEVEN 6 for the PlayStation 2

went on sale in Japan in April 2002. This

game was very well received, becoming the

first soccer game to sell more than one mil-

lion copies. In October 2002,

the European version of this

game, Pro Evolution Soccer 2,

another PlayStation 2 game,

was launched. This title too

passed the one million mark.

Another success was recorded

by WORLD SOCCER WINNING

ELEVEN 6 FINAL EVOLUTION,

which debuted in Japan in

December 2002 and has thus

PS2
METAL GEAR SOLID 2:
SUBSTANCE

PS2
Pro Evolution Soccer 2
©1996 JFA
the use of real player names and likenesses is
authorised by FIFPro and its member associa-
tions

34.5%

Sales Composition

Computer & Video Games
Business Segment
The Computer & Video Games Business Segment develops, manufactures
and sells video game software. We boast one of the industry’s most power-
ful software production forces. By providing products that are innovative
and captivating, this business brings joy and excitement to customers world-
wide. This business has started distributing content for mobile phones.
There is a growing content distribution business in Japan, and similar op-
erations have been started in Hong Kong and Taiwan.

In fiscal 2003, consolidated net sales in this segment decreased 2.9%
to ¥87,476 million, operating income was down 23.8% to ¥13,987 million and
the operating margin declined from 20.4% to 16.0%.

Segment Sales

‘01 ‘02 ‘03

100

80

60

20

0

40

(Billions of Yen)

Kazumi Kitaue
Executive Corporate Officer,
Computer & Video Games
Business Segment

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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far sold more than 700,000 copies. Paced by

the strength of these titles, we sold 4.35 mil-

lion copies of soccer games in all during the

fiscal year.

In the Yu-Gi-Oh! series, sales slowed in

Japan as the immense surge in

popularity that followed its ini-

tial release waned. At the same

time, sales were much higher in

North America, where this series

of games has been available

since March 2002. Repeat orders

continued to be strong for two

titles released in March 2002:

Yu-Gi-Oh! Dark Duel Stories for

the Game Boy Color and Yu-Gi-

Oh! FORBIDDEN MEMORIES for

the PlayStation. Shipments of

each title topped the one mil-

lion level. We recorded another

million-seller with Yu-Gi-Oh! THE ETERNAL

DUELIST SOUL, a Game Boy Advance game

that went on sale in October 2002. Two games

released in February 2003 are also recording

strong sales: Yu-Gi-Oh! THE DUELIST OF THE

ROSES for the PlayStation 2 and Yu-Gi-Oh!

DUNGEON DICE MONSTERS for the Game

Boy Advance. The result was total shipments

of 4.6 million Yu-Gi-Oh! titles in North America.

We started marketing this series in Europe in

November 2002. Worldwide sales of the

Yu-Gi-Oh! series, including Japan, North

America and Europe, totaled 5.9

million copies in fiscal 2003.

We introduced a broad

array of successful titles in

categories other than soccer

and Yu-Gi-Oh! as well. One

was METAL GEAR SOLID 2:

SUBSTANCE for the PlayStation

2, Xbox and PC platforms, a

title that follows up on METAL

GBA
Yu-Gi-Oh! THE ETERNAL
DUELIST SOUL
©1996 KAZUKI TAKAHASHI

PS2
WORLD SOCCER WINNING
ELEVEN 6: FINAL EVOLUTION
©1996 JFA
adidas, the adidas logo, FEVERNOVA and the
trigon logo are trade marks which are owned by
the adidas-Salomon Group, used with permission.
the use of real player names and likenesses is
authorised by FIFPro and its member associations.

PS2
PAWAFURU PURO YAKYU
KETTEIBAN
approved by NPB

GEAR SOLID 2, which recorded

more than 5 million copies

shipped worldwide in the prior

fiscal year. As a result, total

METAL GEAR SOLID series

shipments were

1.9 million copies

during fiscal 2003. There were

also many new hit cartoon

games, including HIKARU NO

GO and THE PRINCE OF TENNIS.

We also recorded strong sales

of baseball games, the core of

the sports game market, Contra,

a revival of a previous title, and

of mainstay titles such as

Castlevania and Frogger.

As a result, con-

solidated segment

sales decreased

2.9% to ¥87,476 million, operating

income fell 23.8% to ¥13,987

million and the operating margin

declined from 20.4% to 16.0%.

Outlook

We have a large storehouse of

content covering many catego-

ries other than Yu-Gi-Oh! and

soccer games, which were hugely

popular in fiscal 2003. Popular games include

original titles such as METAL

GEAR SOLID, SILENT HILL and

Suikoden, as well as baseball

and other sports games, music

simulation games and cartoon

games, among others. We will

continue to leverage our pro-

duction infrastructure, one of

the best in the industry, to

build on existing content and

PS
Dancing Stage Party Edition

sell these titles worldwide.

We will also rapidly create and

acquire new content to enlarge

our pool of game titles. One

highlight of fiscal 2004 will be

the planned release of an up-

dated version of TEENAGE

MUTANT NINJA TURTLES, which was a huge

hit in North America in the late 1980s and

early 1990s.

By region, we will work to retain a large

share of Japan’s game market, which is

showing signs of maturity. As growth slows

in Japan, we must capture a greater share of

attractive overseas markets, particularly

North America and Europe, if we are to con-

tinue to expand. With this in mind, we will be

placing emphasis on bolstering

our library of titles created

mainly for users outside Japan.

To cut production costs, we

will be making increasing use of

external vendors as well as

whol ly  owned subs id ia ry

Konami Software Shanghai, Inc.

We already distribute con-

tent for mobile phones, which we

view as an attractive platform

for our content. In the current

fiscal year, we will be working

harder at expanding this content

distribution business outside Japan. Online

games are another target. As the market for

these games takes shape, we will develop

this business step by step. Through these

measures, we plan to build a business model

that is a reliable source of sales and earnings.
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Market Environment

The Japanese sports club market has consis-

tently generated annual revenues of about ¥300

billion over the past few years. One notable

trend is the number of mergers and alliances.

Another is the increasing disappearance of

relatively small-scale companies, operating

only a few clubs, as they are absorbed by

large companies. The persistent weakness of

Japan’s economy is partly responsible for

these events. At the same time, there is rising

interest in fitness as Japan’s population ages.

Especially significant is the surge in interest

in sports clubs among middle-age and older

individuals. Overall, there is much room for

growth in the sports club market, as a much

lower share of Japan’s population uses these

clubs than in the United States and Europe.

One critical shortcoming of the sports club

industry is the tendency to offer a generally

identical selection of services. This lack of

originality prevents clubs from offering ser-

vices tailored to the needs of different age

groups. There is an obvious need for fresh

ideas for the operation of these clubs. And

ongoing shifts in market dynamics indicate

that companies able to cater to these needs

will be rewarded.

In the market for fitness machines used in

sports clubs, there has traditionally been a high

reliance on products imported from Europe

and North America. However, there is now a

growing volume of machines developed in Japan

to precisely address domestic market demands.

Some models even have entertainment-based

features. Overall, these events are taking the

fitness machine market in new directions.

Performance

During fiscal 2003, Konami Sports Corporation

continued to expand with the opening of 16

facilities, including clubs acquired from other

companies. Among the additions were clubs

in Oyama (Tokyo), Yachiyodai (Chiba),

Moriguchi (Osaka) and Nishifunabashi (Chiba).

On March 24, 2003, NISSAY ATHLETICS

COMPANY became a wholly owned subsidiary

of Konami Sports, adding five directly-managed

sports clubs.

At existing facilities, six were relocated to

better locations in the same neighborhood or

moved to a sports club purchased from another

company. These actions helped create a net-

work that is more appealing to customers.

The combination of the opening of new clubs

and retaining members gave Konami Sports a

network of 238 clubs with about 850,000

members, far more than any competitor.

Actions were taken to create more power-

ful brands. On April 1, 2002, Sele and Freizeit

clubs were integrated under the Eg-zas brand.

And on October 1, 2002, we began operating

clubs under the Undo-Jyuku brand to serve

young people from toddlers to high school

students. The goal is to use sports to facilitate

the development of a sound mind and a sound

body. This move gives Konami Sports three

distinct brands: Eg-zas, Undo-Jyuku and

GRANCISE, a chain of clubs that offer upscale

services for business people.

Several new services and products were

launched during the year. One was a personal

trainer system, in which well-trained instruc-

tors provide one-on-one direction so that indi-

viduals can conduct training programs to meet

specific goals. Another was the start of the
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Fumiaki Tanaka
Executive Corporate Officer,
Exercise Entertainment
Business Segment

Exercise Entertainment
Business Segment
The Exercise Entertainment Business Segment operates sports clubs and
produces and sells fitness machines and health products that make exer-
cising more enjoyable. This business seeks to create new markets by offer-
ing ideas for enjoyable lifestyles where entertainment and exercise
converge. Operations are conducted in a manner that effectively taps our
expertise in entertainment and the health management skills of Konami
Sports Corporation. From this stance, the Exercise Entertainment Business
Segment is reexamining every aspect of the sports club and fitness industry
to offer innovative ideas. In fiscal 2003, consolidated net sales increased
19.6% to ¥78,525 million and there was an operating loss of ¥49,412 million,
¥44,789 million more than the prior fiscal year’s loss.

(Billions of Yen)

Sales Composition

Segment Sales
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first official i-mode Internet site in the sports

club industry, Konami Sports Club. By dissemi-

nating information on these clubs and fitness-

related subjects, the site is structured to make

it even easier for customers to utilize a

Konami Sports facility.

In the fitness machine and health products

sector, we developed and began selling the

EZ series of “Exertainment” (Exercise and

Entertainment) products that combine the

functions of an exercise machine with an enter-

tainment product. The series combines the

functions of a full-fledged exercise machine

with features that provide enjoyment. These

next-generation machines meet the needs of

individuals who want to become fit while hav-

ing fun. Already in use at selected locations,

this equipment has been very well received

by customers. For the home fitness market, we

introduced MARTIAL BEAT II, a martial arts

fitness game for the PlayStation, and Aerobics

Revolution, a full-fledged aerobics game for the

PlayStation 2. These and other products are

aimed at enabling people to enjoy exercising

at home.

The result of these activities was a 19.6%

increase in consolidated net sales to ¥78,525

million and an operating loss of ¥49,412 mil-

lion, compared with an operating loss of

¥4,623 million in the previous fiscal year.

Outlook

The number of people who attend sports

clubs in Japan is still well below the levels in

Europe and the U.S. as a share of the total

population. However, the number of new

members of sports clubs in Japan is steadily

increasing, with growth occurring chiefly

among middle-age and older individuals who

are becoming more conscious of the importance

of staying healthy. In this environment, success

will depend greatly on the ability to offer services

that are innovative and highly appealing.

In the sports club sector, we will continue

to open new locations. The resulting growth

in market share and geographic coverage will

yield a variety of competitive advantages.

Along with this expansion, Konami Sports will

adopt the customers’ viewpoint to offer

sports clubs that are safe, clean and pleasant.

Another goal is improving services in terms of

diversity and quality to address the broadest

possible spectrum of customer demands.

To succeed in a market where customers

are increasingly seeking distinctive services,

we are implementing a new strategy based

on the Exercise Entertainment concept in the

sports club business. This strategy will further

set Konami Sports apart from other sports

clubs by establishing an image as a place

where people can stay fit while having fun.

One way is through the EZ Series of fitness

machines that feature audio systems and

games. Clubs will also offer equipment that is

linked to a network within clubs and the

Internet. Sports club members will have a ter-

minal that gives them access to the “Personal

Training Log System,” providing them with

health management data anywhere and anytime.

The overall concept is to provide an environment

where people can constantly enjoy exercising

and complete relaxation. In this manner, Konami

Sports will help customers reach their fitness

goals while supplying a variety of experiences

that are available nowhere else.

Our “Exertainment” business is only in the

initial stages of development. Ongoing initia-

tives are being guided by a commitment to re-

taining the trust of customers while providing

services imbued with our unique creativity.

Through comprehensive sports club services,

we intend to provide a “high quality life” to

our customers.
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Toy & Hobby Business Segment
The Toy & Hobby Business Segment develops, manufactures and sells a
variety of toys and hobby products that leverage outstanding content and
take advantage of synergies with other businesses. Main products include
card games, the MICROiR series of high-performance miniature toys re-
motely controlled by infrared signals, and candy toys that come with de-
tailed figurines. The centerpiece of this business, these main products have
proven popular across a wide range of customer age brackets.

Consolidated sales of the Toy & Hobby Business Segment were ¥45,948
million, 79.5% higher than in the previous fiscal year. Operating income in-
creased 130.9% year on year to ¥16,629 million. The operating income ratio
was 36.2%, compared with 28.1% in the previous fiscal year.

Akihiko Nagata
Executive Corporate Officer,
Toy & Hobby Business Segment

Yu-Gi-Oh! OCG Duel Monsters
YAMIMAKAI NO KYOUI
©KAZUKI TAKAHASHI STUDIO DICE/ SHUEISHA
Planning and production: KONAMI

Yu-Gi-Oh!
TRADING CARD GAME
PHARAOH’S SERVANT
©1996 KAZUKI TAKAHASHI

Yu-Gi-Oh!
TRADING CARD GAME
METAL RAIDERS
©1996 KAZUKI TAKAHASHI

Combat DigiQ

Market Environment

In Japan, the toy market is holding firm with-

out any sharp declines in demand, despite the

country’s low birth rate, aging population and

falling disposable income levels. The main rea-

sons are that expenditure per child is increasing

and adults are becoming new users. Meanwhile,

the expansion of business formats transcend-

ing industry lines is broadening the market. In

this climate, supplying high-quality products

and services that precisely meet customer

needs is an extremely critical determinant of

success. Furthermore, it has become crucial to

offer products and services not only to children,

but also to a broader range of age groups. It has

also become important to develop businesses

focused on overseas toy markets.

Performance

Sales of the Yu-Gi-Oh! official card game series,

the mainstay product in this business, declined

in Japan compared with the previous fiscal year.

Nevertheless, we continued to record brisk

sales in excess of ¥10.0 billion. Although the

explosion in popularity of the Yu-Gi-Oh! official

card game series has run its course, the

sophistication and enjoyment of these cards

command strong allegiance from hardcore fans.

In fiscal 2003, sales of the Yu-Gi-Oh! official

card game series in Japan and Asia were

¥13.5 billion, compared with ¥18.9 billion in

the previous fiscal year.

Since its launch in March 2002, the Yu-Gi-Oh!

trading card game has enjoyed an upsurge in

popularity in the North American market, lifted

by the highly popular Yu-Gi-Oh! animated TV

series and home-use video game software.
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MIZUSHIMA SHINJI CHARACTERS YAKYUGUNZO
©Shinji MizushimaDigiQ Formula

This propelled significant sales growth start-

ing in summer vacation in 2002 through the

Christmas season. As a result, sales of the

Yu-Gi-Oh! trading card game were ¥24.0 billion

compared with just ¥0.3 billion one year earlier.

In Europe, this product was introduced in

the U.K. in December 2002 and France in

March 2003. Sales totaled ¥0.5 billion in fiscal

2003, relatively small because this game is

still not yet widely available. However, the

strong initial response to the Yu-Gi-Oh! trading

card game bodes well for future sales.

As a result of the above, worldwide sales

of the Yu-Gi-Oh! card game totaled ¥38.0 bil-

lion, compared with ¥19.2 billion in the prior

fiscal year.

To create a balanced product lineup that

avoids relying too heavily on any single form

of content, such as Yu-Gi-Oh! card games, we

are seeking to diversify into new content genres.

In fiscal 2003, we continued to launch new

products in the candy toy category, which we

entered in the previous fiscal year. The high-

quality figurines included in these candy toys

were very popular in the domestic market,

propelling higher sales. The SF Movie Selection:

Thunderbirds series of candy toys sold well,

with the first two volumes of the series

reaching million-unit sales. The MIZUSHIMA

SHINJI  CHARACTERS YAKYUGUNZO

achieved sales of more than one million units,

too. The MICROiR series also recorded healthy

sales, buoyed by strong repeat sales of DigiQ,

which was launched in the previous fiscal

year, and new MICROiR series products re-

leased in fiscal 2003 such as DigiQ Train,

Combat DigiQ and DigiQ Formula. Although

sales in new content genres are still less than

sales of Yu-Gi-Oh! card game, our powerful

product lineup is proving popular in all markets.

As a result, in fiscal 2003, consolidated

sales of the Toy & Hobby Business Segment

increased 79.5% to ¥45,948 million. Operating

income rose 130.9% to ¥16,629 million. The

consolidated operating income ratio was

36.2%, compared with 28.1% in the previous

fiscal year.

Outlook

The Toy & Hobby Business Segment will

concentrate on nurturing its mainstay Yu-Gi-Oh!

card game into a long-running bestseller

throughout the world. Initiatives will see us

enhance Yu-Gi-Oh! training seminars and

special events, as well as hold tournaments.

In summer 2003, we are scheduled to hold

the “Yu-Gi-Oh! World Championship 2003” in

<Candy Toys> <Official Guidebooks>

New York, which will attract players from all

over the world who have survived qualifying

rounds in their home countries. Moreover, to

expand business further, we will extend our

product lineup from candy toys and the

MICROiR series to include educational toys

for toddlers and new product genres targeting

young boys. By developing an enhanced

lineup of toy and hobby products that con-

sistently meet customer needs, we will seek

to build a strong reputation as a top-notch

toy manufacturer.
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Amusement Business Segment

Fumiaki Tanaka
Executive Corporate Officer,
Amusement Business Segment

Market Environment

The amusement arcade market

is showing signs of bottoming

out, after domestic equipment

sales and operations sales had

declined for several years. This

is mainly attributable to progress in replacing

existing arcades with large-scale facilities, and

the development of new types of amusement

machines that combine the benefits of net-

works, card systems and amusement arcades.

There are strong prospects for a recovery

in market conditions. The increase in the

number of amusement arcades within large

multi-purpose facilities has reassured women

and families that amusement arcades are

safe and healthy recreational facilities.

By product genre, the increase in large

multipurpose facilities is lifting sales of products

popular with women and families.

Games linked to networks and card systems

are appearing in amusement arcades. These

games are fast becoming a strong source of

hit products, and are creating new markets.

pop’n music

MAH-JONG
FIGHT CLUB
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This business segment develops, manufactures and sells games for amuse-
ment arcades and LCD units for pachinko machines in Japan and overseas.

The starting point for us, the Amusement Business Segment has suc-
cessively produced innovative games that leverage our distinctive, industry-
leading expertise. Recent hit products include music simulation games such
as the beatmania series and the Dance Dance Revolution series, which
created headlines. Building on these successes, we rolled out the e-
AMUSEMENT service, which established a wholly new market in fiscal
2003. This new service links amusement arcades throughout Japan and us
over a single network.

Consolidated sales of this segment fell 9.5% to ¥34,305 million. Operat-
ing income declined 15.5% to ¥7,270 million. The operating income ratio was
21.2%, compared with 22.7% in the previous fiscal year.

The pachinko market has

been contracting slightly due

to steady growth in demand

for pachinko slot machines in

recent years. In this climate,

customers are expected to

become more selective, lead-

ing to a more pronounced differ-

ence in products that sell and those that are

left behind.

Performance

During fiscal 2003, we established a new

market with e-AMUSEMENT, a new service that

links amusement arcades throughout Japan

and us over networks. This new service is an

online gaming framework that allows players

to connect with any other player, anywhere

for as long as they like. It has won accolades

from operators and users throughout Japan.

Our first e-AMUSEMENT product was

MAH-JONG FIGHT CLUB series, which made

a strong contribution to sales during fiscal

2003. This game allows people anywhere in

Japan to play mah-jong online. As of March

(Billions of Yen)
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WORLDCOMBAT

GI-TURFWILD

OVALARENA

31, 2003, e-AMUSEMENT products had a

membership totaling approximately 1 million

players. With nationwide tournaments and

other events planned, its popularity will con-

tinue to grow. Another popular product was

WORLDCOMBAT, a shooting game that can

be played by several people at the same time.

Music simulation games such as the pop’n

music, GUITARFREAKS and drummania series

were also popular.

In token-operated machines, the strong

popularity of our large-scale token-operated

game machines, a key strength, was driven by

the increase in large-scale amusement facilities.

Our token-operated game machines combine

a wealth of content with stage effects and

entertainment value unmatched by traditional

token-operated games. This makes our machines

indispensable to the token-operated game

section of any amusement arcade. During fiscal

2003, demand was strong for GI-WINNING

SIRE and GI-TURFWILD, both token-operated

horse racing game machines with a real-

ism and evolved game value surpassing pre-

vious GI-series machines. FORTUNE ORB, a

large “penny-falls” token-operated machine

popular for its entertaining stage effects, and

OVALARENA, a new type of bingo game with

a player match-up function, made strong

contributions to sales.

The LCD unit business recorded lower

sales. The main reason was that new prod-

ucts matched to the needs of a fast-changing

market were not launched in a timely manner.

Consolidated sales in this segment

decreased 9.5% to ¥34,305 million. Operat-

ing income was ¥7,270 million, down 15.5%

from the previous fiscal year. The operating

income ratio was 21.2%, compared with

22.7% in the previous fiscal year.

Outlook

The amusement market is expected to remain

flat, partly due to the growing sophistication

of home-use video game consoles. However,

during fiscal 2003, we recorded strong sales

based on entirely new types of games that

can only be enjoyed at amusement arcades.

This was borne out by the successful launch

of the e-AMUSEMENT online game concept

in fiscal 2003.

The e-AMUSEMENT service revolutionizes

the way games are played at amusement

arcades. Online gaming allows players at dif-

ferent locations to participate in games at the

same time and facilitates content distribution.

We are still in the early stages of commercial-

izing this product, and will work to reinforce

the lineup of e-AMUSEMENT products.

In token-operated games, our lineup of

large-scale token-operated game machines

and single-token machines will be up-

graded to meet growing demand for token-

operated game sections at large-scale

amusement facilities.

In the LCD unit business, market condi-

tions are likely to remain difficult, but are not

projected to lead to sharp sales declines.

Rather, we expect that customers will make

clear-cut choices that create a sharp dividing

line between products that sell and those that

do not. We will focus on developing products

that meet market needs. This will entail enlarg-

ing our traditional focus on the staging effects

of the liquid crystal display to include an

awareness of the entire pachinko board.
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Gaming Business Segment
The Gaming Business Segment is involved in the development, manufac-
ture and sale of gaming machines mainly for the Australian and North
American markets.

Our video slot machines have been extremely well received by the
Australian market ever since we entered the market in 1998. We estimate
that it ranks second in terms of market share in Australia, with a 20% mar-
ket share on a unit sales basis. We are also taking steps to build a stronger
presence in North America, the world’s largest market. Actions include en-
hancing the product lineup and obtaining licenses in more states.

Consolidated sales in this segment climbed 168.2% to ¥8,215 million.
The operating loss narrowed to ¥169 million from ¥2,726 million in the previous
fiscal year.

Market Environment

The number of countries and regions where

casinos are legal is increasing every year,

with casinos currently operating in over 130 coun-

tries and regions around the world. The market

for casinos is estimated to be worth ¥300 bil-

lion, and is poised to continue expanding.

Growth in Australia, the world’s second larg-

est market, is slowing, partly due to an upper

limit on the number of gaming machines that

can be installed in casinos. North America, the

world’s largest market, offers solid prospects

for steady growth on strong replacement demand

for machines operating on cashless systems.

Technical advances are making gaming

machines that offer superior entertainment

and game value more popular. This will give

full play to our outstanding skills in producing

gaming machines.

Performance

We hold licenses to manufacture and sell

gaming machines in every state in Australia.

Our video slot machines are extremely highly

rated in this market. During fiscal 2003, our

subsidiary Konami Australia Pty Ltd recorded

unit sales of 6,100 gaming machines, driven

by the popularity of our mainstay Endeavor

series. This compares with unit sales of 1,700

in the previous fiscal year, although this only

includes sales for the half-year period begin-

ning in October 2001. We ranked second in

terms of market share, with an estimated

share of 20% on a unit-sales basis.

In North America, after receiving a license

to manufacture and sell gaming machines in

Nevada in January 2000, we acquired similar

licenses in Mississippi, California, New

Mexico, Illinois, Michigan and other states.

As of March 31, 2003, we held licenses in a

total of 18 states in North America (19 as of

April 30, 2003).

In September 2002, we displayed 26 gaming

machine titles at the Global Gaming Expo in

Shuji Kido
Executive Corporate Officer,
Gaming Business Segment

Gaming Machines for North America
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Las Vegas, the world’s largest trade show for

gaming machines. Our product lineup has im-

proved in terms of both quality and quantity.

During fiscal 2003, our subsidiary Konami

Gaming, Inc. recorded unit sales of 2,200

gaming machines, compared with 1,100 units

in the previous fiscal year.

As a result, consolidated sales in this

segment increased 168.2% to ¥8,215 mil-

lion. The operating loss declined to ¥169

million, compared with ¥2,726 million in the

previous fiscal year.

Outlook

We aim to build on our estimated 20% share

of the Australian market to retain and capture

even more market share by delivering even

more distinctive products that leverage our

content production skills.

Although our market share in North America

is currently low, we will work to increase sales

in this region, the world’s largest market.

Growth will depend greatly on continued efforts

to acquire state licenses and enhancing our

product lineup by tapping content production

skills. We will continue to implement cost cut-

ting initiatives and efficient management prac-

tices to make the Gaming Business Segment

profitable soon.

In regions other than North America and

Australia, there are high hopes for emerging new

markets. The relaxing of U.K. gaming restric-

tions in the near future, and actions toward the

possible legalization of casinos in Japan may

open up exciting new avenues for growth. We

will remain focused on developing businesses

in these regions, too.

Building on a solid lineup of video slot

machines, we will expand our product lineup

to include mechanical slot machines (using

stepper reels), video poker machines and

Gaming Machines for Australia

wide-area progressive machines. By leveraging

our extensive experience in the amusement

business, we will also consider introducing

highly original new products that transcend

the status quo of existing gaming machines.
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We listed our shares on the Stock Exchange of Singapore in November

1997 and on the London Stock Exchange in September 1999. We sub-

sequently listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and began reporting

consolidated financial results based on U.S. GAAP. We have taken further

steps to lay a strong foundation as a global company, including corpo-

rate governance reforms pursuant to the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act and

measures to strengthen disclosure.

In January 2000, we became the first Japanese company to obtain

a license from the State of Nevada for the manufacture and sale of casino

gaming machines. We have continued to obtain licenses in additional

U.S. states. We have undergone thorough examinations to obtain

these licenses, and are required to remain in strict compliance with

laws and regulations at all times to maintain them.

I am confident that we are well placed to earn an even greater

level of trust from stakeholders, having listed on major exchanges

worldwide and moved into businesses that require strict compliance

standards. Our organization will continue to be managed to the highest

global standard.

POLICIES AND MEASURES CONCERNING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our fundamental management philosophy is to maintain a shareholder-

driven approach to management and sound relationships with all

other stakeholders, while fulfilling our obligations as a responsible

corporate citizen. Open and transparent management practices

are essential to operating in line with this philosophy. For this purpose,

we some time ago began making revisions to our board of directors.

In May 1992, the first external director joined the board, making

this body more active and effective. To speed up decision-making

regarding management and business operations, the executive officer

system was adopted in June 1999. In June 2001, the number of directors

was reduced from 15 to nine. The latest move came in June 2003,

when we reduced the board to eight members, four of whom are exter-

nal directors, thus giving us an even more powerful management

supervisory system.

Corporate ethics and the reliability of information disclosed by

companies is undergoing much scrutiny today. To address these issues,

we have three committees: the Risk Management Committee,

Compliance Committee and Disclosure Committee. These units

take the lead in preventing problems from occurring and educating

employees throughout the company.

The Corporate Governance System

Noriaki Yamaguchi
Representative Director,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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We began conducting full-scale investor relations activities in 1995. As

we placed emphasis especially on overseas activities, our foreign

ownership rose from only about 1% in 1995 to a peak of 35% in fiscal 2001.

I am proud of this achievement, which demonstrates that IR activities

enabled a large number of investors to learn about our strong operating

results and growth potential. Another important factor was that investors

rated our corporate governance reforms highly. Naturally, rising foreign

ownership means that we must adopt management practices that can

be more easily understood by overseas shareholders. This is one reason

for the June 2001 election of four external directors, almost half of the

nine-member board at that time. In June 2003, we reduced the board to

eight members, four of which are external directors. External directors as

well as external corporate auditors, all of whom are prominent in their

respective fields, contribute many opinions and advice. Therefore, I

believe that we have a board of directors that can fulfill its obligations

to oversee our management. During the past few years, there have been

many revisions to Japan’s Commercial Code that give companies more

options regarding management systems. We have ourselves conducted

a series of reforms to establish our own style of corporate governance.

We will continue to work on preserving sound relationships with our

stakeholders while building a distinctive, KONAMI model for management.

Risk Management Committee

Formed in April 2000, this committee’s primary role is enacting pre-

ventive measures with regard to various kinds of risks to which the

company is exposed.

Compliance Committee

Formed in September 2001, this committee is responsible for en-

suring that each and every individual at KONAMI strictly complies

with all applicable laws and regulations.

Toshiro Tateno
Director and
Executive Corporate Officer,
Corporate Planning Division

Disclosure Committee

Formed in April 2003, this committee is charged with determining if

the company is releasing information in conformity with the disclo-

sure provisions of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We are subject to this

law, as our shares have been traded on the New York Stock Exchange

since September 2002. The listing has prompted us to tighten inter-

nal controls throughout the group and ensure the highest standard

of fair disclosure.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Fiscal 2003 and 2002 indicate the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 respectively

A. Operating Results.

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consoli-
dated financial statements and information included in this annual report. Fiscal 2003 herein refers to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2003, and other fiscal years are referred to in a corresponding manner.

This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of
certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth in this annual report.

Overview
Konami is a global entertainment products and services company. We develop, publish and distribute software for

use by consumers with home and handheld video game consoles, principally those manufactured by Sony and Nintendo.
Since February 2001, we have also run the largest chain of sports clubs in Japan. We also produce non-video games
and toys, such as card games, that use characters from or inspired by characters in our home video game software and
other products. Finally, we produce and market a variety of entertainment machines and components, including LCD units
for pachinko machines, amusement arcade games, token-operated games, gaming machines and fitness machines.

We have achieved constant growth in net revenues over the last five years, with revenue growth of 12.4% in fiscal
2003. Our consolidated net revenue for fiscal 2003 was ¥253,657 million, which is the highest since our founding. Revenue
growth has been driven by both domestic and international growth and acquisitions, most notably the acquisition of People
Co., Ltd., now called Konami Sports Corporation, in February 2001, and the acquisition of Daiei Olympic Sports Club, Inc. in
February 2002, which was subsequently merged with Konami Sports Corporation in October 2002. Our operating income
(loss) and net income (loss), however, declined in the last two consecutive years. The decline in fiscal 2002 reflected the
waning product cycle for our Yu-Gi-Oh! card game, one of our hit products, in Japan. In fiscal 2003, our operating income
(loss) and net income (loss) declined due to our recognition of impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets relating
to our Exercise Entertainment business, despite a large increase in oversea sales of our Yu-Gi-Oh! card game.

We expanded our business globally during fiscal 2003 with video game software such as WORLD SOCCER WINNING
ELEVEN 6 and Pro Evolution Soccer 2, home video game sports software titles that each reached sales of one million
copies in Japan and Europe, respectively, video game software with cartoon characters such as Yu-Gi-Oh!, music
games and a variety of other original products. As a result, the total number of home video games shipped reached 20
million for the second consecutive year. Also, we achieved significantly increased sales of Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game
in the U.S. In addition, gaming machines in overseas markets achieved healthy sales.

In order to better focus our business and management resources, we transferred our amusement arcade operations,
which had been conducted by Konami Amusement Operation, Inc. to AmLead Co., Ltd. We did so to achieve business
portfolio optimization. Also, Konami Sports Corporation acquired Konami Athletics Inc., formerly known as Nissay Athletics
Company,  with the goal of expanding our network of directly-managed sports clubs.

We divide our worldwide operations principally into five operating segments for financial reporting purposes: Computer
& Video Games, Exercise Entertainment, Toy & Hobby, Amusement and Gaming. The net revenue of each segment,
including intersegment revenue, accounted for 34.5%, 31.0%, 18.1%, 13.5% and 3.2%, respectively, of our consolidated
net revenues exclusive of intersegment revenues in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003.

Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations
Factors Affecting Combined Results of Operations
A number of factors affect revenues and expenses across several of our segments, and therefore have a substantial impact
on our combined results of operations. These factors include the importance of “hit products” that respond to trends in
popular culture, intellectual property licensing, seasonal fluctuations, investments and acquisitions.
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Hit Products
Most of our non-fitness related revenues come from sales of interactive entertainment software and devices and are
dependent on our ability to anticipate or influence the kinds of games and products that are popular with consumers.
Revenues for our Computer & Video Games, Toy & Hobby, Amusement and Gaming segments are strongly affected by
whether individual products or a series of products become “hits” with consumers. A single hit product can generate very
substantial revenues, which can continue over an extended period through the release of sequel products and through
extension of the concept or characters from a popular game from one business segment to another business segment.

For example, our Toy & Hobby net revenues, including intersegment revenues, increased 79.5% from ¥25,601 million
to ¥45,948 million from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 due mainly to robust sales of the Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game in the
U.S., which coincided with the popularity of the Yu-Gi-Oh! television cartoon among U.S. adolescents. Our Computer &
Video Games net revenues, including intersegment revenues, decreased 2.9% from ¥90,129 million to ¥87,476 million
from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 due in part to the waning sales of our METAL GEAR SOLID 2: SONS OF LIBERTY title for
PlayStation 2, which was a major hit in fiscal 2002, with over 5 million copies sold.

It is difficult to predict whether any particular product will become a hit. We seek to reduce the volatility of our net
revenues by developing a large number of new titles each year in various categories and for various platforms. We have
steadily increased the number of titles published by our home and handheld video game software business from 58
titles in the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998 to 120 titles in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. We have also
decreased the volatility of our net revenues by entering the sports club business, which we believe will provide a more
stable base of revenue.

Intellectual Property Licensing
One means we use to increase the likelihood that our products will succeed is licensing the right to utilize ideas and
images from popular culture, such as comic book characters, sports and entertainment personalities and high visibility
events. Thus, to some extent our revenues are dependent on successful identification and acquisition of rights to popu-
lar ideas and images. We have steadily increased the number of intellectual property licenses we hold from 13 licenses
for 26 products in the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999 to 66 licenses for 115 products in the fiscal year ended March
31, 2003.

These licenses typically require a guarantee of minimum future royalties. We may experience losses if sales based
on licensed intellectual property do not produce sufficient revenues to cover our royalties expenses. In addition, games
that are based on licensed ideas have lower margins than games that we develop independently.

In recent years, the entertainment industry has seen an acceleration in crossovers with other industries such as
toys, films, music, comics, publishing and communications. When we are able to use intellectual property licenses in
multiple segments, we are able to produce higher revenues. For example, our Yu-Gi-Oh! card game originated from the
popular Yu-Gi-Oh! comic in a prominent Japanese weekly magazine. Following our “media-mix strategy”, we made good
use of the license for the game, making substantial sales of our Yu-Gi-Oh! card game for our Toy & Hobby segment and
as a video game for our Computer & Video Games segment.

Seasonal Fluctuations
Many of our products are in the greatest demand in December and January, particularly at the end and beginning of the
year and, to a lesser extent, in August (summer vacation) and in March (spring vacation), in decreasing order. These
months correspond to the periods of children’s school holidays, and it is customary in Japan to buy toys as Christmas
and New Year presents in December and January. However, our earnings may not necessarily reflect the seasonal
patterns of the industry as a whole as a result of increased sales due to the occurrence of special events such as the
Olympic Games, World Cup Soccer Tournament or the release of “hit” titles.



25

Investments and Acquisitions
In the last three years we have sought growth and diversification through investments and acquisitions in sectors that
promise increased revenue stability and increased revenue growth. In particular, we have made investments in video
game software production companies for our Computer & Video Games segment and we have acquired new consoli-
dated subsidiaries for our Exercise Entertainment and Gaming segments. These investments and acquisitions have
made substantial changes in the composition of our assets, in particular increasing the amount of goodwill and intan-
gibles in our consolidated balance sheet for fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002.

We have made the following investments in equity method affiliates in fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002:
• acquisition of 23.0% of the common stock of Takara Co., Ltd.;
• acquisition of 45.5% of the common stock of Hudson Soft Co., Ltd.; and
• acquisition of 37.2% of the common stock of Genki Co., Ltd.
Our investments allow us to develop closer ties with companies doing business in areas that we consider growth

areas for our business, including sales of Toy & Hobby products and mobile and on-line video game software. Because
these companies are equity method affiliates, our financial results are affected by our pro rata share of their net income
or losses. As a result of our fiscal 2003 year-end annual examination of these investments, we recognized a net-of-tax
impairment charge of ¥2,438 million with respect to the investment in Hudson Soft Co., Ltd. due to a significant decline
in its share value in the market. For fiscal 2003, our income statement included ¥1,288 million in equity in loss of
affiliated companies.

We spent an aggregate of ¥76,139 million on the following acquisitions of consolidated subsidiaries in the last
three fiscal years:

Exercise Entertainment:
• acquisition of 54.6% of the common stock of Konami Sports Corporation, formerly known as People Co., Ltd. in

February 2001;
• acquisition of 100% of the common stock of Konami Sports Plaza, Inc., formerly known as Nissan Sports Plaza,

Inc., in June 2001;
• acquisition of 82.2% of the common stock of Konami Olympic Sports Club, Inc., formerly known as Daiei Olympic

Sports Club, Inc., in February 2002; and
• acquisition of 100% of the common stock of Konami Athletics Inc., formerly known as Nissay Athletics Company,

in March 2003.
Gaming:
• acquisition of 100% of the common stock of Paradigm Gaming Systems, Inc. in August 2001; and
• acquisition of 100% of the common stock of Konami Australia Pty. Ltd. in October 2001.
In connection with our acquisition of majority ownership of new consolidated subsidiaries in fiscal 2001, 2002 and

2003, we recognized an aggregate amount of goodwill of ¥39,021 million and acquired an aggregate amount of intan-
gibles of ¥64,809 million, mostly related to the trademarks and other intangible property associated with our sports
club business. Our acquisition related goodwill and other intangible assets were originally amortized over various peri-
ods. However, a recent change in U.S. GAAP means that such amortization for goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles
ceased beginning on April 1, 2002 and that the remaining balances will be tested for impairment at least on an annual
basis. Following the impairment review for fiscal 2003, we recognized impairment losses of ¥47,599 million with re-
spect to our investment in Konami Sports Corporation. Approximately ¥36,717 million of this impairment related to the
write-off of goodwill and the remaining ¥10,882 million related to the impairment of identifiable intangible assets such
as trademarks and franchise contracts. This impairment was recognized as a component of our operating loss during
fiscal 2003. For further information regarding this impairment, see “Critical Accounting Policies — Valuation of Intangible
Assets and Goodwill” on page 40. Intangibles with finite lives will continue to be amortized.
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Foreign Currency Fluctuations
An increasing portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than yen — most significantly, U.S. dollars, as
we increase our sales overseas. Our business is thus becoming sensitive to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, especially the yen-U.S. dollar exchange rate. Our consolidated financial statements are increasingly becoming
subject to both translation risk and transaction risk. Translation risk arises from the fact that our foreign subsidiaries
have different functional currencies than we do. Changes in the value of the Japanese yen relative to the functional
currencies of these subsidiaries create translation gains and losses on our equity investments in foreign subsidiaries
which are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments on our consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
and accumulated other comprehensive income until we dispose of, liquidate or take an impairment charge with respect
to, the relevant subsidiaries.

Transaction risk arises when the currency structure of our costs and liabilities deviates from the currency structure
of our sales proceeds and assets. A substantial portion of our overseas sales are made in U.S. dollars and Euros. Our
sales denominated in U.S. dollars are, to a significant extent, offset by U.S. dollar denominated costs. Transaction risk
remains for products sold in U.S. dollars to the extent that we must purchase parts for our products from Japan, the
costs for which are denominated in yen.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign exchange exposure associated with short-term move-
ments in exchange rates applicable to our payables commitments and receivables that we expect to pay or receive in
foreign currencies. Changes in the fair values of our foreign exchange forward contracts are recognized as gains or
losses on derivative instruments in our income statement. For a more detailed discussion of these instruments, you
should read Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report.

Factors Affecting Results of Business Segments
In addition to the factors affecting our combined results of operations through several segments, there are other factors
that affect the results of each of our segments independently. The factors affecting results in each of our business
segments are as follows:

Computer & Video Games
Net Revenues. We develop, publish and distribute video game software for use in home and handheld video game
consoles and, to a limited extent, for personal computers, mobile phones and on-line games. We refer to this segment
as our “Computer & Video Games” segment. Our video game software is sold mainly in the form of DVD-ROMs or
proprietary discs for home video game platforms such as Sony PlayStation2, Nintendo GameCube and Microsoft Xbox
and ROM-cartridges for handheld video game platforms such as the Game Boy Advance.

In fiscal 2003, net revenues from the Computer & Video Games segment, including intersegment revenues, were
¥87,476 million, accounting for 34.5% of consolidated net revenues excluding intersegment revenues. This was derived
primarily from strong sales of soccer titles such as WORLD SOCCER WINNING ELEVEN 6  in Japan and Pro Evolution
Soccer 2 in Europe. In the U.S., we achieved strong sales of Yu-Gi-Oh! titles, including Yu-Gi-Oh! THE ETERNAL DUELIST
SOUL for Game Boy Advance, Yu-Gi-Oh! FORBIDDEN MEMORIES for PlayStation and Yu-Gi-Oh! Dark Duel Stories for
Game Boy Color, each of which recorded sales of over one million copies, reflecting a synergy effect of the popularity of
the Yu-Gi-Oh! cartoon on television and the Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game. As a result, the operating margin for the
Computer & Video Games segment, including intersegment revenues, for fiscal 2003 was 16.0%.

Sales of video game software are significantly affected by sales volumes of video game consoles. The potential
market for a software product designed for a particular video game system is determined by the total number of such
video game consoles purchased by consumers, a number which is sometimes referred to as the “installed base” of such
video game consoles. When new hardware systems are introduced, we often experience a temporary decline in net
sales attributable to video game software until we are able to produce one or more hit products that utilize the increased
capabilities of the new hardware.
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The home video game industry is characterized by rapid technological changes, which have resulted in successive
introductions of increasingly advanced game consoles. As a result of the rapid technological shifts, no single game
console has achieved long-term dominance in the home video game and computer games market, although Nintendo has
continued as a major publisher and game console manufacturer since the introduction of the Nintendo Entertainment
System during the Christmas season of 1983 and Sony has been a major publisher and game console manufac-
turer since the introduction of PlayStation in 1994. These rapid shifts in video game hardware technology force us to
continually anticipate game console cycles, time our product pipeline so that we do not publish games for hardware
that is no longer popular, and develop software programming tools necessary for emerging hardware systems. The
home video game and computer games industry began to shift systems with the introduction of Sega’s Dreamcast in
1999, and the introduction of Sony’s 128-bit console, PlayStation2, in the spring of 2000. By March 2001, Sega had
exited the hardware manufacturing market, and in September 2001, Nintendo introduced its next-generation game
console, GameCube, and Microsoft introduced its first game console, Xbox. The rapid technological advances in game
consoles have significantly changed the software development process. The process of developing software for the
new 128-bit consoles is extremely complex and we expect the process to become even more complex and expensive
with the advent of more powerful future game consoles. According to our estimates, it currently takes between 6 and
24 months to develop a new title and the average development cost per title is generally between ¥100 million and
¥700 million.

Expenses. A majority of our software titles are developed by our development subsidiaries. Costs and expenses that
we incur in the development of new video game software titles are expensed as research and development fees until
such games reach technological feasibility, at which point we begin to capitalize the expenses. We expense capitalized
costs to cost of revenues upon commercial release of the resulting game, as the commercial life of our consumer
software is of short duration.

Our cost of revenues for video game software also includes the costs of licenses from contents licensors. While
some of our contents licenses include prepaid or guaranteed royalties, most of the royalties we pay are on a sales
basis. We amortize the cost of prepaid royalties over the expected life of the associated products. We evaluate the
future recoverability of any prepaid royalties and capitalized software costs on a regular basis based on actual title
performance. We expense as part of product development costs those capitalized costs that we deem unrecoverable.

Exercise Entertainment
Net Revenues. We are the largest sports club operator, as well as a provider of sports-related games and fitness
machines, in Japan. As of March 31, 2003, we operated 238 club facilities that collectively served approximately 850,000
members. Our Exercise Entertainment segment had ¥78,525 million in net revenues, including intersegment revenues,
in fiscal 2003.

The majority of our Exercise Entertainment revenues come from membership fees. Our membership fee structure
generally includes virtually no initial membership fee. We do not have financing plans for new members. A lack of
financing plans and the fact that almost all of our members pay their monthly dues by credit card mean that we have a
comparatively low risk of losses from uncollectible receivables.

Our sports clubs also collect additional revenues from ancillary sales and services, sales of consumables including
meals in our in-club restaurants and nutritional products in our in-club stores, and fees for services such as jazzercise
and other fitness classes, massage, fitness counseling, diet programs and personal trainers.

Although we have not achieved the expected growth due to unfavorable market conditions, we expect to continue
to increase revenues through club and membership growth. We currently serve many, but not all, of the major cities in
Japan. We plan to extend our reach into new geographic markets until we cover all of Japan. We believe that we are
well positioned, being twice as large as the second largest operator, to identify opportunities to selectively acquire
existing operators and facilities at attractive prices due to our dominant position in a fragmented market. During fiscal
2003, we increased the aggregate number of sports clubs we directly operate by 11 clubs and the aggregate number of
sports clubs under our franchise by 8 clubs. Also, as a result of our acquisition of all the shares of Konami Athletic Inc.
as of March 24, 2003, we added 5 directly-managed sports clubs. We also worked to improve customer satisfaction by
moving five existing club facilities to better facilities in the same neighborhood by creating new facilities or acquiring
facilities that had been operated by other companies.
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We introduced a new “Undo-Jyuku” brand on October 1, 2002 after integrating our Freizeit and Sele clubs into the
Eg-zas brand, thereby strengthening brand recognition and providing more sophisticated facility services, as part of our
continuous efforts to improve the retention rate of current customers. Improving the retention rate of customers of
existing clubs is one of our major objectives as revenue growth of existing clubs is lower than newly opened clubs. In a
move to improve customer convenience, we introduced new services and products such as a personal trainer system
where an instructor with specialized knowledge provides individualized lessons for each customer. Finally, we launched
the first official i-mode (internet enabled cellular phone) site in the fitness industry, which provides various club facility
information and health related information.

Our Exercise Entertainment segment sells fitness-oriented games to consumers and entertainment-oriented fitness
machines to sports clubs. We derive revenues from the distribution of machines manufactured by other parties and
from the production and distribution of our own machines. We intend to increase the percentage of our exercise game
and machine sales derived from our own products. As of March 31, 2003, we have developed 4 exercise entertainment
machines under EZ series brand and these machines are now introduced in our Konami Sports clubs. We also have
several new machines in various stages of the development pipeline.

In fiscal 2003, our fitness-related games and fitness machines business released new home fitness products such
as MARTIAL BEAT II, which is a popular martial arts fitness action game that uses video game software and can
measure physical strength, and Aerobics Revolution, which allows players to enjoy realistic aerobics activity at home.

Expenses. Operating expenses for our Exercise Entertainment segment include, for our sports club business, leases
for facilities, salaries for trainers and other club employees, costs of exercise machines and other equipment, utilities
charges, marketing expenses, costs for maintaining the facilities and depreciation. Upon opening a new sports club, we
often experience an initial period of club operating losses for the first twelve months, but this period can vary substan-
tially depending on the individual club. Initial membership levels tend not to generate sufficient revenue for the club to
generate positive earnings in its first full year of operation and substantially lower margins in its second full year of
operations than a mature club. However, because most of our expenses are fixed, operating margins tend to improve with
respect to each club as membership increases. Expenses for our fitness-related games and fitness machines business
are largely related to cost of parts and raw materials, manufacturing costs and research and development expenses.

In fiscal 2003, we had substantial additional operating expenses in our Exercise Entertainment segment because we
recognized impairment losses of ¥47,599 million with respect to our investment in Konami Sports Corporation. Under
U.S. GAAP, impairment loss is treated as an operating expense. Approximately ¥36,717 million of this impairment related
to the write-off of goodwill and the remaining ¥10,882 million related to identifiable intangible assets such as trade-
marks and franchise contracts. These impairment losses were attributed to the fact that the growth of this segment did
not meet our expectations as a result of negative trends in general economic conditions in Japan.

Toy & Hobby
Net Revenues. In fiscal 2003, net revenues from the Toy & Hobby segment, including intersegment revenues, were
¥45,948 million, accounting for 18.1% of consolidated net revenues. This was derived primarily from robust sales of our
popular Yu-Gi-Oh! card game series and firm sales of our new MICROiR series, small and [high-tech] toys using infra-
red remote control. The operating margin for the Toy & Hobby segment, including intersegment revenues, for fiscal
2003 was 36.2%.

The Toy & Hobby segment generates revenues principally from the sales of card games. Net revenues for the Toy
& Hobby segment are affected principally by our ability to identify and acquire the rights to popular comic book
and television characters and apply them to creative games, as well as the population of children, timing of product
introductions, competition within the market, product life cycles and general economic trends.

The card game industry in Japan has been declining since fiscal 2000 when total retail sales peaked at approxi-
mately ¥120 billion, and dropped to ¥60 billion in fiscal 2003 according to The Japan Toy Association. The aggregate
market size reflects the dominance of our Yu-Gi-Oh! Card Game for the years in question, with approximately 50%
market share, and the shifting interests in toys among the lower elementary school children. We believe that the size of
the overall Japanese toy market has also shrunk due to the declining number of children from reduced birth rates,
however, expenditures per child has increased which has maintained the market scale in terms of retail sales.
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In 2002, we entered into a distribution agreement with a retail partner in the United States, The Upper Deck Company,
LLC which has begun selling our Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game in the North American card market. The animated Yu-Gi-Oh!
television program in the United States was the most popular cartoon on television among 6-11 years-old boys in May
2003 and sales of the card game reflected the popularity of the television cartoon. We have been globally standardizing
the cards aimed for international use.

Expenses. Our Toy & Hobby segment has been a comparatively high margin segment because the costs of producing
some of the goods marketed by the segment are comparatively low. In particular, card games have historically shown a
higher margin than other toy products due to their relatively low manufacturing expenses. Costs include raw material
costs, manufacturing outsourcing, licensing, research and development and administrative costs. Furthermore, because
the Toy & Hobby products are typically based on previously developed intellectual property, research and development
costs for the segment are comparatively low.

Amusement
Net Revenues. In fiscal 2003, net revenues from the Amusement segment, including intersegment revenues, were
¥34,305 million, accounting for 13.5% of consolidated net revenues excluding intersegment revenues. This was derived
primarily from sales of popular video arcade games such as MAH-JONG FIGHT CLUB and WORLDCOMBAT and token-
operated game machines such as GI-TURFWILD and FORTUNE ORB and sales of LCD screen software for pachinko
machines. The operating margin for the Amusement segment, including intersegment revenues, for fiscal 2003 was 21.2%.

The majority of revenues for the Amusement segment are derived from the sales of amusement arcade games and
token-operated game machines. Especially, we maintained the favorable market acceptance of e-AMUSEMENT pro-
ducts for amusement arcades such as the MAH-JONG FIGHT CLUB series, which are video games that allow players to
compete directly with players in other arcade game locations via an on-line amusement connection. Revenues for the
Amusement segment are affected by market acceptance, introduction of hit titles and general economic trends. We
have found that we are able to elongate the life-cycle of our arcade games and increase our Amusement segment
margins by creating new software packages for our existing arcade games in addition to creating new games.

We derive sustained revenues from our token-operated machines in Japan. We believe that we are one of the
leading companies in the Japanese token-operated game machine industry with revenues of ¥7.4 billion in fiscal 2003.

The arcade operations industry in Japan has been consolidating, with the number of amusement arcades declining
and the average size of each arcade increasing. Arcade game sales have been declining since the appearance of ad-
vanced interactive entertainment products such as sophisticated video game consoles and mobile phones which offered
competing entertainment options. It is now possible to play on a mobile phone games that one could only play in an
amusement arcade about twenty years ago.

The Amusement segment also generates revenues from the sale of software for liquid crystal display units in pachinko
games machines. Revenues from pachinko LCDs are affected by the maturation of the market, consumer preference,
regulatory standards, supply-demand balance of liquid crystal display units, competition within the market, product life
cycles and general economic trends. In recognition that all software have a finite life-cycle, pachinko parlors systemati-
cally replace legacy software experiencing declining pay levels with new software incorporating enhanced entertain-
ment value and improved player appeal generally every two months to one year. We recorded a decline in sales of LCD
units in fiscal 2003, due primarily to our inability to introduce new products matching changing customers’ needs in a
timely manner.

Also, the pachinko machine market has shown a slight decline due to the overall effects of recession in the past
several years. The pachinko industry still remains highly regulated which restricts rapid development of our operations.
All pachinko manufacturers in Japan are required to get approval from The Security Electronics and Communication
Technology Association, supervised by National Police Agency, in order to engage in sales activities. The manufactur-
ers of pachinko machines must also register with The Japan Crime Prevention Association. Licensing requirements can
delay the development and release of new pachinko machine products. Changes in rules or regulations governing pachinko
machines may adversely affect our sales of software for LCD units.
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Expenses. Expenses for our Amusement segment are largely related to cost of parts and raw materials, particularly
with respect to pachinko LCDs, liquid crystal displays, which are sometimes scarce and priced accordingly, manufactur-
ing costs and research and development expenses. We are currently working on improving margins in our Amusement
segment through the introduction of less expensive Internet-linked amusement arcade games “e-AMUSEMENT” and
other measures to decrease production costs.

Gaming
Net Revenues. In fiscal 2003, net revenues from the Gaming segment, including intersegment revenues, were ¥8,215
million, accounting for 3.2% of consolidated net revenues excluding intersegment revenues. This was derived primarily
from sales of 6,100 casino gaming machines in Australia through Konami Australia Pty Ltd, which had licenses for sales
and manufacturing of gaming machines in all Australian states. Although the dominance of the largest player in the
Australian gaming markets has made it difficult for us to become a market leader quickly, we have made substantial in-
roads and believe we are one of the largest sellers of gaming machines in the Australian market.

In the United States, the largest casino gaming machines market in the world, we currently hold licenses to manu-
facture and sell casino gaming machines in 19 states and 83 Native American casinos. We participated in the world’s
largest gaming show held in Las Vegas in September 2002 with 26 titles of our products, thereby showing that we
improved our line up of gaming machines both in quantity and quality. As a result, Konami Gaming, Inc., our U.S.
subsidiary for casino gaming machines, increased its sales to 2,200 machines in fiscal 2003 from 1,100 machines in
fiscal 2002.

The main revenue source for the Gaming segment is the sale of video slot machines and software contents in
Australia and the United States. Revenues for the Gaming segment are affected by the timing of product introductions,
timing of regulatory approvals in various markets, ability to penetrate into foreign casino markets, number of casino
players, competition within the market, normal product life cycles and general economic trends.

Our sales of casino gaming machines are conducted overseas, primarily in North America and in Australia. Casinos
are authorized to operate in more than 110 countries and the number of countries authorizing casinos has been increas-
ing each year according to Tokyo Metropolitan Government, Bureau of Industrial and Labor Affairs. We believe that the
world-wide sales (including leasing and others) of casino gaming machines for the year 2004 will be over ¥300 billion
and the market will grow continuously. In Australia, the second largest market for casino gaming machines, sales have
been increasing moderately due to limits on the number of gaming machines in major states. On the other hand, in the
United States, the largest market for casino gaming machines, continuous and stable growth of the market is expected
due to an increase in demand for switching to newly introduced gaming machines corresponding to the new cashless
system. We believe that we have a competitive advantage in gaming machines market, especially in Australia where
video slot games using game software are popular, as gaming machines are becoming more high-tech, with increased
entertainment and game value.

Expenses. Expenses in our Gaming segment are largely related to cost of parts and raw materials, manufacturing
costs and research and development expenses. In recent years, we have attempted to decrease our cost of revenues for
our Gaming segment by acquiring parts and producing our machines sold abroad in the markets in which they are sold,
thereby reducing shipping costs and foreign exchange risks.
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Results of Operations
The table below shows selected items from our consolidated statements of income for the periods indicated:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

NET REVENUES:
Product sales revenue ¥167,001 ¥165,154 ¥178,766 $1,487,238
Service revenue 4,480 60,426 74,891 623,053

Total net revenues 171,481 225,580 253,657 2,110,291

COSTS AND EXPENSES:
Costs of products sold 99,016 104,192 112,364 934,809
Costs of services rendered 4,052 50,459 62,515 520,091
Impairment charge for goodwill and other intangible assets — — 47,599 395,998
Selling, general and administrative 30,502 52,842 53,049 441,340

Total costs and expenses 133,570 207,493 275,527 2,292,238
Operating income (loss) 37,911 18,087 (21,870) (181,947)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
Interest income 468 244 373 3,103
Interest expense (1,266) (767) (938) (7,804)
Gain on sale of subsidiary shares 3,948 4,655 904 7,521
Other, net (226) 459 (565) (4,700)

Other income (expenses), net 2,924 4,591 (226) (1,880)

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY INTEREST AND
EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 40,835 22,678 (22,096) (183,827)

INCOME TAXES:
Current 20,902 17,276 14,912 124,060
Deferred (1,699) (5,609) (8,726) (72,596)

Total 19,203 11,667 6,186 51,464

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST AND EQUITY
IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 21,632 11,011 (28,282) (235,291)

MINORITY INTEREST IN INCOME (LOSS) OF
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 420 364 (1,051) (8,744)

EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 356 755 (1,288) (10,716)
NET INCOME (LOSS) ¥  21,568 ¥  11,402 ¥ (28,519) $  (237,263)
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Comparison of Fiscal 2003 with Fiscal 2002
Net Revenues

Net revenues increased ¥28,077 million, or 12.4%, to ¥253,657 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥225,580 million in fiscal
2002 due primarily to robust sales of our Yu-Gi-Oh! card game series in the U.S. and the addition of a full year of
revenues from a subsidiary that operates sports club businesses, Konami Olympic Sports Club, which was acquired in
February 2002, and subsequently merged into Konami Sports Corporation in October 2002.

Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues increased ¥20,228 million, or 13.1%, to ¥174,879 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥154,651 million in fiscal
2002, mirroring the rise in sales, and the inclusion of a full year of cost of revenues from Konami Olympic Sports Club.

Impairment Charge for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
An impairment charge of ¥47,599 million for goodwill and other intangible assets was recorded in fiscal 2003 as a
result of a significant decline in the value of goodwill and other intangible assets relating to our sports club business.
These impairment losses were attributed to the fact that the growth of this segment did not meet our expectations as a
result of negative trends in general economic conditions in Japan.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased ¥207 million, or 0.4%, to ¥53,049 million in fiscal 2003 from
¥52,842 million in fiscal 2002. The increase in expenses was due primarily to the inclusion of a full year of such ex-
penses incurred by the sports club business of Konami Olympic Sports Club and a ¥3,311 million increase in advertising
expenses. However, the increase in such expenses was mostly offset by a ¥3,948 million decrease in bad debt expense
and a ¥3,532 million decrease in amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets due to the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, which ended the amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets.

Operating Income (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, our operating income (loss) decreased ¥39,957 million to ¥(21,870) million in fiscal 2003
from ¥18,087 million in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of net revenues, operating income decreased 16.6% to (8.6)% in
fiscal 2003 from 8.0% in fiscal 2002.

Other Income (Expenses), net
Other income (expenses), net decreased ¥4,817 million to ¥(226) million in fiscal 2003 from ¥4,591 million in fiscal 2002
due primarily to a ¥3,751 million decrease in gains on the sale of subsidiary shares. The decrease in gains resulted from
the fact that we had a ¥3,526 million gain in connection with an initial public offering by Konami Computer Entertain-
ment Japan, Inc. and a ¥1,129 million gain in connection with the sale of shares of Konami Computer Entertainment
Tokyo, Inc. in the market during fiscal 2002, while we did not sell any shares of any of our public subsidiaries during
fiscal 2003.

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes, Minority Interest and Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliated
Companies

As a result of the foregoing, our income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity in net income (loss) of
affiliated companies decreased ¥44,774 million to ¥(22,096) million in fiscal 2003 from ¥22,678 million in fiscal 2002.

Income Taxes
Income taxes decreased by ¥5,481 million, or 47.0%, to ¥6,186 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥11,667 million in fiscal 2002.
This decrease in income taxes was primarily due to a decrease in the effective income tax rate. The effective tax rate
decreased by 79.5% to (28.0%) in fiscal 2003 from 51.5% in fiscal 2002. This 79.5% decrease in the effective tax rate
was attributable to the recognition of an impairment charge for goodwill, which provide no tax benefit. As a result, the
effective tax rate was significantly different from the statutory tax rate of 42.0%.
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Minority Interest in Income (Loss) of Consolidated Subsidiaries
Minority interest in income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries decreased ¥1,415 million to ¥(1,051) million in fiscal
2003 from ¥364 million in fiscal 2002 due primarily to a ¥2,632 million minority interest in the impairment charge
related to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets incurred by Konami Sports Corporation, which more than offset an
overall increase in income of consolidated subsidiaries.

Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliated Companies
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies decreased ¥2,043 million to ¥(1,288) million in fiscal 2003 from ¥755
million in fiscal 2002 due primarily to a ¥2,438 million other-than-temporary decline in the value of our investment in
Hudson Soft Co., Ltd.

Net Income (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, our net income (loss) decreased ¥39,921 million to ¥(28,519) million in fiscal 2003 from
¥11,402 million in fiscal 2002.

Comparison of Fiscal 2002 with Fiscal 2001
Net Revenues

Net revenues increased ¥54,099 million, or 31.5%, to ¥225,580 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥171,481 million in fiscal
2001 due primarily to robust sales of action and sports related video game software and the addition of a full year of
revenues from our new sports club business.

Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues increased ¥51,583 million, or 50.0%, to ¥154,651 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥103,068 million in fiscal
2001, mirroring the rise in sales, and the inclusion of a full year of cost of revenues from our new sports club business.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased ¥22,340 million, or 73.2%, to ¥52,842 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥30,502 million in fiscal 2001 due primarily to a write-off of lease deposits amounting to ¥4,137 million owed to us by a
sports club facility lessor that entered corporate reorganization proceedings in fiscal 2002, a ¥5,732 million increase in
amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, ¥5,556 million of which was associated with the acquisition of
Konami Sports Corporation, and a ¥4,995 million increase in directors’ compensation and employees’ salaries.

Operating Income (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, our operating income decreased ¥19,824 million, or 52.3%, to ¥18,087 million in fiscal
2002 from ¥37,911 million in fiscal 2001. As a percentage of net revenues, operating income decreased 14.1% to 8.0%
in fiscal 2002 from 22.1% in fiscal 2001.

Other Income (Expenses), net
Other income (expenses), net increased ¥1,667 million, or 57.0%, to ¥4,591 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥2,924 million in fiscal
2001 due primarily to gains on the sale of subsidiary shares which increased by ¥707 million. We had a ¥3,526 million gain
in connection with an initial public offering by Konami Computer Entertainment Japan, Inc. during fiscal 2002 as compared
to a gain of ¥3,948 million in connection with an initial public offering of Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo, Inc. in fiscal
2001. Interest expense decreased by ¥499 million during fiscal 2002 reflecting repayment of long-term debt.

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes, Minority Interest and Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliated
Companies

As a result of the foregoing, our income before income taxes and minority interest decreased ¥18,157 million, or 44.5%,
to ¥22,678 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥40,835 million in fiscal 2001.
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Income Taxes
In spite of an increase in our effective income tax rate from 47.0% to 51.5% resulting primarily from non-deductible
amortization of goodwill, income taxes decreased ¥7,536 million, or 39.2%, to ¥11,667 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥19,203 million in fiscal 2001 due primarily to the 52.3% decrease in operating income.

Minority Interest in Income (Loss) of Consolidated Subsidiaries
Minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries decreased ¥56 million, or 13.3%, to ¥364 million in fiscal 2002
from ¥420 million in fiscal 2001 due primarily to a write-off of lease deposits by Konami Sports Corporation discussed in
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses above, which more than offset an overall increase in income of consoli-
dated subsidiaries.

Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliated Companies
Equity in net income of affiliated companies increased ¥399 million, or 112.1%, to ¥755 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥356
million in fiscal 2001. Our share of the improved net income of Takara Co., Ltd. accounted for ¥442 million of this increase.

Net Income (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, our net income decreased ¥10,166 million, or 47.1%, to ¥11,402 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥21,568 million in fiscal 2001.

Segment Information
Based on the applicable criteria set forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, or SFAS 131, we have five reportable operating segments for
which separate financial information is available and reported in our consolidated financial statements. Our chief oper-
ating decision maker regularly evaluates this data in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
The operating segments are managed separately as each segment represents a strategic business unit that offers
different products and serves different markets. As required by SFAS No. 131, we present our business segment infor-
mation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as it is presented in reports to our management, derived
from our U.S. GAAP financial statements in fiscal 2003. Such reports were previously prepared based on Japanese
GAAP and accordingly, results for fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002 have been restated to be based on U.S. GAAP.

During fiscal 2003, we renamed each of its business segments in order to clarify the operations of each segment.
Former “Consumer Software” became “Computer & Video Games”, former “Health and Fitness” became “Exercise
Entertainment”, former “Character Products” became “Toy & Hobby”, former “Amusement Content” became “Amuse-
ment” and former “Gaming Content” became “Gaming”.

 In May 2002, Konami sold its amusement facility operation business, which was a part of the Other segment, to a
third-party purchaser.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, Konami transferred its fitness-related games and fitness machines business
from the Amusement segment to the Exercise Entertainment segment and its token-operated game machine business
from the Gaming segment to the Amusement segment. In accordance with these changes, results for fiscal 2001 and
fiscal 2002 have been reclassified to conform to the presentation for fiscal 2003.

The following tables present net revenues, both including and excluding intersegment revenues, operating expenses
and operating income (loss) for the three years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, by segment, which are the
primary measures used by our chief operating decision makers to measure our operating results and to measure seg-
ment profitability and performance. The year-to-year comparisons following the tables discuss comparisons of net
revenues, including intersegment revenues, operating expenses and operating income (loss) for each year.
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(Millions of Yen)

Computer Eliminations
& Video Exercise Toy & and

Year Ended March 31, 2001 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥59,176 ¥4,732 ¥60,526 ¥39,880 ¥    425 ¥6,742 ¥171,481 — ¥171,481
Intersegment 1,711  452 64 621 — 2,135 4,983 ¥(4,983) —

Total 60,887 5,184 60,590 40,501 425 8,877 176,464 (4,983) 171,481
Operating expenses  53,774 5,424 30,230 30,475 3,163 8,896 131,962 1,608 133,570
Operating income (loss) ¥  7,113 ¥  (240) ¥30,360 ¥10,026 ¥(2,738) ¥    (19) ¥  44,502 ¥(6,591) ¥  37,911

(Millions of Yen)

Computer Eliminations
& Video Exercise Toy & and

Year Ended March 31, 2002 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥88,762 ¥65,619 ¥25,213 ¥36,649 ¥ 3,063 ¥6,274 ¥225,580 — ¥225,580
Intersegment      1,367  31  388 1,269 — 2,623 5,678 ¥(5,678) —

Total 90,129 65,650 25,601 37,918 3,063 8,897 231,258 (5,678) 225,580
Operating expenses    71,777 70,273 18,400 29,318 5,789 9,241 204,798 2,695 207,493
Operating income (loss) ¥18,352 ¥ (4,623) ¥  7,201 ¥  8,600 ¥(2,726) ¥  (344) ¥  26,460 ¥(8,373) ¥  18,087

(Millions of Yen)

Computer Eliminations
& Video Exercise Toy & and

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥85,891 ¥  78,437 ¥45,887 ¥33,105 ¥8,215 ¥2,122 ¥253,657 — ¥253,657
Intersegment 1,585  88  61 1,200 — 3,398 6,332 ¥(6,332) —

Total 87,476 78,525 45,948 34,305 8,215 5,520 259,989 (6,332) 253,657
Operating expenses    73,489 127,937 29,319 27,035 8,384 6,330 272,494 3,033 275,527
Operating income (loss) ¥13,987 ¥ (49,412) ¥16,629 ¥  7,270 ¥  (169) ¥  (810) ¥ (12,505) ¥(9,365) ¥ (21,870)

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Computer Eliminations
& Video Exercise Toy & and

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers $714,567 $   652,554 $381,755 $275,417 $68,344 $17,654 $2,110,291 — $2,110,291
Intersegment      13,186  732  508      9,983 — 28,270 52,679 $(52,679) —

Total 727,753 653,286 382,263 285,400 68,344 45,924 2,162,970 (52,679) 2,110,291
Operating expenses    611,389 1,064,368 243,918 224,917 69,750 52,663 2,267,005 25,233 2,292,238
Operating income (loss) $116,364 $  (411,082) $138,345 $  60,483 $ (1,406) $ (6,739) $  (104,035) $(77,912) $  (181,947)
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Comparison of Fiscal 2003 with Fiscal 2002
Computer & Video Games

Net revenues of our Computer & Video Games segment decreased ¥2,653 million, or 2.9%, to ¥87,476 million in fiscal
2003 from ¥90,129 million in fiscal 2002, despite a record year in terms of copies sold. This decrease was due primarily
to a shift in our product mix from products with higher unit prices such as the METAL GEAR SOLID 2: SONS OF LIBERTY
for PlayStation 2, which recorded sales of more than five million copies worldwide in fiscal 2002, to products with
lower unit prices and an increase in unit sales to North America, which generated less revenues than a similar increase
in unit sales in Japan would have, due to different market conditions. WORLD SOCCER WINNING ELEVEN 6 and Pro
Evolution Soccer 2 for PlayStation 2 each recorded over one million sales in Japan and in Europe respectively, reflecting
worldwide popularity of soccer. Also the Yu-Gi-Oh! titles including Yu-Gi-Oh! THE ETERNAL DUELIST SOUL for Game
Boy Advance, Yu-Gi-Oh! FORBIDDEN MEMORIES for PlayStation and Yu-Gi-Oh! Dark Duel Stories for Game Boy Color,
recorded total sales of 4.6 million copies in the U.S. As a result, we recorded an increase in sales to 23.7 million copies
in fiscal 2003, including 21.0 million copies of our titles and 2.7 million copies of titles from other third party companies
from 22.8 million copies in fiscal 2002, including 20.3 million copies of our titles and 2.5 million copies of titles from
other third party companies.

Operating expenses increased ¥1,712 million, or 2.4%, to ¥73,489 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥71,777 million in
fiscal 2002. Such increase includes a ¥269 million decrease in cost of revenues and a ¥1,981 increase in selling, general
and administrative costs including advertisement costs relating to the Yu-Gi-Oh! titles.

Operating income decreased ¥4,365 million, or 23.8%, to ¥13,987 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥18,352 million in
fiscal 2002 reflecting the fact that revenues decreased while costs increased.

Exercise Entertainment
Net revenues of our Exercise & Entertainment segment increased ¥12,875 million, or 19.6%, to ¥78,525 million in
fiscal 2003 from ¥65,650 million in fiscal 2002. This increase was due primarily to the expansion of our network of
sports clubs by acquiring our competitors, the opening of 16 new fitness clubs and entering into new franchise
relationships, and the addition of a full year of revenues from Konami Olympic Sports Club Corporation, which was
acquired in February 2002 and subsequently merged into Konami Sports Corporation in October 2002. In addition,
we added five new directly-managed club facilities by the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of Konami
Athletics Inc. in March 2003.

Operating expenses increased ¥57,664 million, or 82%, to ¥127,937 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥70,273 million in
fiscal 2002 due primarily to a charge taken in connection with the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
relating to this segment of ¥47,599 million, the inclusion of a full year of operating expenses incurred by Konami Olympic
Sports Club Corporation and costs of opening 16 new fitness clubs.

Operating loss increased ¥44,789 million to ¥49,412 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥4,623 million in fiscal 2002, reflecting
the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.

Toy & Hobby
Net revenues of our Toy & Hobby segment increased ¥20,347 million, or 79.5%, to ¥45,948 million in fiscal 2003 from
¥25,601 million in fiscal 2002. This increase was due primarily to an increase in sales of the Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card
Game series in the U.S. to approximately ¥24,000 million from approximately ¥300 million in fiscal 2002. Since its
release in the U.S. in March 2002, sales of Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game series grew dramatically from summer vaca-
tion until the Christmas season, reflecting the popularity of the Yu-Gi-Oh! cartoon on television and the Yu-Gi-Oh! video
game series. A new series of the Yu-Gi-Oh! card game also maintained high levels of sales in Japan and other Asian
countries of approximately ¥13,500 million. As a result, worldwide total sales of Yu-Gi-Oh! card games were approxi-
mately ¥38,000 million in fiscal 2003, increased from approximately ¥19,200 million in fiscal 2002. We also recorded
stable sales in MICROiR series products.

Operating expenses increased ¥10,919 million, or 59.3%, to ¥29,319 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥18,400 million in
fiscal 2002. The increase consists primarily of an increase in cost of revenues of ¥9,124 million due mainly to an in-
crease in cost of revenues for the Yu-Gi-Oh! card games and an increase in selling, general and administrative costs
due mainly to an increase in advertisement costs for TV commercials in the United States.
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Operating income increased ¥9,428 million, or 130.9%, to ¥16,629 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥7,201 million in fiscal
2003, reflecting the fact that revenues increased more than costs.

Amusement
Net revenues of our Amusement segment decreased ¥3,613 million, or 9.5%, to ¥34,305 million in fiscal 2003 from
¥37,918 million in fiscal 2002. This decrease was due primarily to the decline in sales of pachinko LCD units to approxi-
mately ¥7,200 million from approximately ¥15,400 million in fiscal 2002, resulting from our inability to introduce new
products meeting rapidly changing market needs in a timely manner. On the other hand, sales of amusement arcade
game products increased to approximately ¥17,900 million in fiscal 2003 from approximately ¥11,800 million in fiscal
2002, reflecting the favorable market acceptance of e-AMUSEMENT products for amusement arcades such as the
MAH-JONG FIGHT CLUB series and the expansion of the line-up of games that can be played by more than one person
such as WORLDCOMBAT, a gun shooting game, as well as music simulation games such as pop’n music, GUITAR
FREAKS and drummania. Token-operated products also contributed approximately ¥7,400 million to revenues for fiscal
2003. Token-operated game sales were led by the continuously popular GI-WINNING SIRE, GI-TURFWILD, the latest
large-scale token-operated horse racing game in the GI series, which has a realistic “right there in the midst of it” feel,
FORTUNE ORB, a large-sized “penny-falls” game machine popular for its entertaining stage effects and OVALARENA, a
new large-scale token-operated bingo game machine with a player match-up function.

Operating expenses decreased ¥2,283 million, or 7.8%, to ¥27,035 million in fiscal 2003 from 29,318 in fiscal 2002
due primarily to the decreases in cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses accompanying the
decrease in revenues.

Operating income decreased ¥1,330 million, or 15.5%, to ¥7,270 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥8,600 million in fiscal
2002, reflecting the fact that revenue decreased more quickly than costs.

Gaming
Net revenues of our Gaming segment increased ¥5,152 million, or 168.2%, to ¥8,215 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥3,063
million in fiscal 2002. This increase was due primarily to an increase in revenues from sales of casino gaming machines
by our Australian subsidiary, Konami Australia Pty Ltd, to 6,100 machines in fiscal 2003 from 1,700 machines in fiscal
2002, reflecting both growth in sales by Konami Australia Pty Ltd and an additional six months of revenues from Konami
Australia Pty Ltd in fiscal 2003, since it was acquired in October 2001. Revenue growth also reflects an increase in sales
of casino gaming machines through our U.S. subsidiary, Konami Gaming, Inc., to 2,200 machines in fiscal 2003 from
1,100 machines in fiscal 2002.

Operating expenses increased ¥2,595 million, or 44.8%, to ¥8,384 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥5,789 million in fiscal
2002 due primarily to an increase in revenues and the fact that we recognized only 6 months of operating expenses of
Konami Australia Pty Ltd in fiscal 2002.

Operating loss decreased ¥2,557 million to ¥169 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥2,726 million in fiscal 2002, reflecting
that revenues increased more than costs.

Other
Net revenues of our Other segment decreased ¥3,377 million, or 38.0%, to ¥5,520 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥8,897
million in fiscal 2002. This decrease was due primarily to the sale of our amusement arcade operation business to
AmLead Co., Ltd, as of May 13, 2002. After the sale of our amusement arcade operation business, the segment includes
real estate management services for our group companies and delivery and maintenance services that we provide with
respect to products of our Amusement segment.

Operating expenses decreased ¥2,911 million, or 31.5%, to ¥6,330 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥9,241 million in fiscal
2002 due primarily to the sale of our amusement arcade operation business.

Operating loss increased ¥466 million, or 135.5%, to ¥810 million in fiscal 2003 from ¥344 million in fiscal 2002,
reflecting the fact that revenues decreased more than costs.
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Comparison of Fiscal 2002 with Fiscal 2001
Computer & Video Games

Net revenues of our Computer & Video Games segment increased ¥29,242 million, or 48.0%, to ¥90,129 million in fiscal
2002 from ¥60,887 million in fiscal 2001. This increase was due primarily to an increase of approximately ¥28,600
million in sales of video game software including hit titles such as METAL GEAR SOLID 2: SONS OF LIBERTY of which
five million DVDs were shipped worldwide, SILENT HILL 2 and WORLD SOCCER WINNING ELEVEN 5 FINAL EVOLUTION
for the PlayStation2 and Yu-Gi-Oh! Duelmonsters 5 Expert 1 for the Game Boy Advance. The active global hardware
systems market contributed to this increase as the release of Nintendo GameCube and Microsoft Xbox together with
the rapid increase in sales of PlayStation2 stimulated the software market. Revenues from other products and services
such as tuition fees for the Konami School increased by approximately ¥1,100 million.

Operating expenses increased ¥18,003 million, or 33.5%, to ¥71,777 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥53,774 million in
fiscal 2001. The majority of this increase in operating expenses, or ¥15,383 million, was due to cost of revenues and the
remaining ¥2,620 million increase was due to a rise in selling, general and administrative expenses, both of which rose
in line with the increase in revenues.

Operating income increased ¥11,239 million, or 158.0%, to ¥18,352 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥7,113 million in
fiscal 2001, reflecting the fact that revenues grew more quickly than expenses.

Exercise Entertainment
Net revenues of our Exercise Entertainment segment increased ¥60,466 million to ¥65,650 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥5,184 million in fiscal 2001. This increase was due primarily to the fact that only one full month of revenues of Konami
Sports Corporation, which we acquired in February 2001, was recorded for the segment in fiscal 2001 and the segment
experienced substantial growth in fiscal 2002 through the acquisition of various competitors. The addition of revenues
from Konami Sports Corporation was responsible for approximately ¥53,300 million of this increase in revenues in
fiscal 2002.

Operating expenses increased ¥64,849 million to ¥70,273 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥5,424 million in fiscal 2001.
Cost of revenues increased by ¥51,040 million and selling general and administrative expenses increased by ¥13,809
million due mainly to the addition of Konami Sports Corporation to our consolidated results and a write-off of lease
deposits amounting to ¥4,137 million owed to us by a sports club facility lessor that entered corporate reorganization
proceedings in fiscal 2002.

Operating loss increased ¥4,383 million to ¥4,623 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥240 million in fiscal 2001 due primarily
to the addition of Konami Sports Corporation to our consolidated results.

Toy & Hobby
Net revenues of our Toy & Hobby segment decreased ¥34,989 million, or 57.7%, to ¥25,601 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥60,590 million in fiscal 2001. This decrease was due primarily to a decline of approximately ¥34,600 million in sales of
card games such as the Yu-Gi-Oh! Card Game from its peak during fiscal 2001. However, the series still generated
approximately ¥20,400 million in sales during fiscal 2002. Sales of other Toy & Hobby products decreased by approxi-
mately ¥700 million on a net basis although we experienced an increase in sales of our new DigiQ remote controlled
cars which were sold through Takara Co., Ltd.

Operating expenses decreased ¥11,830 million, or 39.1%, to ¥18,400 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥30,230 million in
fiscal 2001. Almost all of this decline in operating expenses, or ¥11,789 million, was due to decreased cost of revenues
in line with the decline in revenues.

Operating income decreased ¥23,159 million, or 76.3%, to ¥7,201 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥30,360 million in
fiscal 2001, reflecting the fact that revenues decreased more than costs.
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Amusement
Net revenues of our Amusement segment decreased ¥2,583 million, or 6.4%, to ¥37,918 million in fiscal 2002 from
¥40,501 million in fiscal 2001. This decrease was due primarily to a decline in the sales of our music-related amuse-
ment arcade games such as Dance Dance Revolution and GUITAR FREAKS, which experienced very high sales in previous
fiscal years. The decrease was offset in part by the sales of new amusement arcade games such as Celebrity Studio, an
automatic photo machine and HIE HIE PENTA, the first prize-awarding machine to provide frozen prizes. Overall, while
revenues from amusement arcade games declined by approximately ¥6,100 million to ¥11,000 million, revenues from
pachinko LCD units increased by approximately ¥700 million to approximately ¥15,400 million.

Operating expenses decreased ¥1,157 million, or 3.8%, to ¥29,318 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥30,475 million in
fiscal 2001, reflecting the decrease in revenues.

Operating income decreased ¥1,426 million, or 14.2%, to ¥8,600 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥10,026 million in fiscal
2001, reflecting the fact that revenues decreased more than costs.

Gaming
Net revenues of our Gaming segment increased ¥2,638 million to ¥3,063 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥425 million in
fiscal 2001 due primarily to the acquisition of Konami Australia Pty Ltd., our Australian sales agent and producer of
gaming machines, which became a consolidated subsidiary in October 2001.

Operating expenses increased ¥2,626 million, or 83.0%, to ¥5,789 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥3,163 million in fiscal
2001. This increase was due primarily to increased sales and the addition of Konami Australia Pty Ltd to our consoli-
dated results. The consolidation resulted in a ¥654 million increase in cost of revenues and a ¥1,972 million increase in
selling, general and administrative expenses.

Operating loss decreased ¥12 million, or 0.4%, to ¥2,726 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥2,738 million in fiscal 2001,
reflecting the fact that revenues increased more than operating expenses.

Other
Net revenues of our Other segment increased ¥20 million, or 0.2%, to ¥8,897 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥8,877 million
in fiscal 2001. This increase was due primarily to an increase in intersegment sales related to real estate management
services provided to our subsidiaries, which offset a decrease in revenues of approximately ¥300 million from the
operation of amusement arcade centers.

Operating expenses increased ¥345 million, or 3.9%, to ¥9,241 million in fiscal 2002 from ¥8,896 million in fiscal
2001 due to a ¥111 million increase in selling, general and administrative expenses and a ¥234 million increase in cost
of revenues.

Operating loss increased ¥325 million to ¥344 million in fiscal 2001 reflecting the fact that operating expenses
increased more than revenues.

Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires our management to make assumptions and estimates about expected future cash
flows and other matters that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements. We consider some of our significant accounting policies to be critical to our reported results
because they require our management to make complex judgments in making assumptions and estimates about the
effects of matters that are inherently uncertain and therefore subject to change. Changes in such assumptions and
estimates could have a material effect on the amounts reported in our financial statements. We believe that among our
significant accounting policies, the following policies may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity.
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Acquisitions
In the past two fiscal years, we have made a number of business acquisitions, which have been accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. The purchase method requires that the net assets—tangible and identifiable intan-
gible assets less liabilities—of the acquired company be recorded at fair value, with the difference between the cost of
an acquired company and the fair value of the acquired net assets recorded as goodwill. Application of the purchase
method requires us to make complex judgments about the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the net
assets we acquired, and estimated useful lives of such assets.

With respect to intangible assets acquired in the course of our acquisitions, we have estimated the useful lives of
various intangible assets based on our internal expertise as well as assistance from independent valuation experts. We
determined that our acquired intangibles related to trademarks, franchise contracts, and gaming licenses have an in-
definite useful life. Our intangibles related to membership lists, existing technology and customer relationships are
estimated to have useful lives of two to five years.

Valuation of intangible assets and goodwill
As of April 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” Under SFAS No. 142, we are required to perform an initial impairment test of our indefinite-lived
intangibles and goodwill at the transition and an annual impairment test thereafter. We also assess the impairment of
intangibles and goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

• significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
• significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;
• significant negative industry or economic trends;
• significant decline in the stock price of the acquired entity for a sustained period; and
• market capitalization of the acquired entity relative to its net book value.
When we determine that the carrying amount of intangibles and goodwill may not be recoverable based upon the

existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we evaluate the carrying amount of the assets based on
their fair value. If the fair value is less than the carrying amount of the assets, we record an impairment loss based on
the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the assets.

We evaluated the recoverability of goodwill on our books under SFAS No. 142 at its adoption on April 1, 2002 and again
in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. In both instances, we engaged an independent appraiser to
assist us in our determination of the fair values of our reporting units. In its determination of the fair values, the appraiser
primarily utilized a discounted cash flow analysis as well as other valuation approaches including the stock price and
market capitalization of the acquired entity and asset and liability structure of the reporting units. Significant assumptions
used in this analysis included 1) expected future revenue growth rates, profit margins and working capital levels of the
reporting units, 2) a discount rate, and 3) a terminal value multiples. The revenue growth rates, profit margins and working
capital levels of the reporting units were based on our expectation of future results. In evaluating the recoverability of other
intangible assets which were allocated to the reporting units, we primarily utilized a discounted cash flow analysis as well
as other applicable valuation approaches, and if applicable, independent valuations.

At the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on April 1, 2002, we completed our transitional impairment assessment for good-
will and other intangible assets based on their fair value. Based on our assessment of the circumstances, considering
the independent appraiser’s findings, we concluded that there was no impairment in the carrying value of our goodwill
and intangible assets with an indefinite life.

In the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, however, using the same methodologies and again
considering the independent appraiser’s findings, we determined that the fair value of our Exercise Entertainment
reporting unit was lower than the carrying value. As a result of the subsequent reassessment of fair values of goodwill
and other intangible assets which were allocated to the reporting unit, an aggregate non-cash impairment charge of
¥47,599 million was recognized for these intangible assets as a component of operating loss for the year ended March
31, 2003. The impairment charge consisted of ¥36,717 million for goodwill and ¥10,882 million for trademarks. These
impairment losses were attributed to the reporting unit’s failure to meet previous growth expectations as a result of a
significant slow-down in the growth rate of the industry in which it operated as well as negative trends in general
economic conditions in Japan that accelerated in the later half of fiscal 2003.
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If our expectations of future operating results change, or if there are changes to other assumptions, the estimate of
the fair value of our identifiable intangible assets could change significantly. Such a change could result in additional
impairment charges in future periods, which could have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Software Development
We utilize our internal development teams to develop our software. We account for software development costs in
accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed”. We capitalize software development costs once technological feasibility is established and such costs are
determined to be recoverable against future revenues. We expense software development costs incurred prior to tech-
nological feasibility to research and development. We evaluate the technological feasibility of our software in develop-
ment on a product-by-product basis, based on our historical experience, whether the software is closely related to
previously marketed software or uses existing technology, and other factors. For products where proven game engine
technology exists, technological feasibility may occur early in the development cycle. Our technological feasibility
decisions affect the timing of our recognition of the costs associated with developing our products.

Revenue Recognition
We derive revenue from primarily two sources: (i) product revenue, which includes packaged game software and other
products, game machines and related equipment and components, and (ii) membership fee revenue from sports club members.

Our revenue recognition criteria are as follows:

Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement.
For our product sales, it is our customary practice to have a written contract, which is signed by both the customer and
us, or a purchase order or amendment to the written contract from those customers that have previously negotiated a
standard purchase agreement.

For our sports clubs, members are required to sign a standard monthly membership agreement upon admission,
which is automatically renewed unless the member provides advance notice of his or her intention to cancel prior to the
tenth day of the month at the end of which the membership will terminate.

Delivery Has Occurred.
Our packaged game software and other products are physically delivered to our customers, with standard transfer
terms. Also, our game machines and related equipment are physically delivered to our customers as a fully-assembled,
ready to be installed unit. Our arrangements generally include acceptance clauses. Acceptance occurs upon the earlier
of receipt of a written customer acceptance immediately after delivery or expiration of the acceptance period, which is
generally seven days from the delivery date. Accordingly, we recognize revenue from our product sales upon delivery
and acceptance. Generally, we do not permit exchanges or accept returns of unsold merchandise except in the case of
obvious defects. In certain limited circumstances we may allow returns or provide price protection, for which we esti-
mate the related allowances based upon our management’s evaluation of our historical experience, the nature of the
software titles and other factors. These estimates are deducted from gross sales.

Revenue from sports club membership is derived primarily from monthly membership fees from club members.
Revenue for those fees is recognized as monthly charges are made to the members’ accounts in advance, at the end of
each month, with respect to the following month’s membership. This policy requires us to defer the membership fee
revenue for one month. Initial membership fee revenue is deferred and recognized over the estimated period of the
related membership. Currently, however, the amount of such initial fees is not significant.

The Price is Fixed or Determinable.
The price our customers pay for our products is negotiated at the outset of an arrangement, and is generally determined by
the specific volume of product to be delivered. Therefore, the prices are considered to be fixed or determinable at the start
of the arrangement. Our membership fee for health and sports clubs is fixed at the time of admission of the member.
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Collection is Probable.
Probability of collection is assessed on a customer-by-customer basis. We typically sell to customers with whom we
have a history of successful collection. New customers are subjected to a credit review process that evaluates the
customers’ financial position and ultimately their ability to pay. For our sports clubs, the collectibility of membership
fees is always assured as we charge members’ accounts one-month in advance.

Accounting Developments
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 requires
that legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets be recorded as a liability and mea-
sured at fair value when those obligations are incurred if an estimate of fair value is possible. When a company initially
recognizes a liability for an asset retirement obligation, it must capitalize the cost by recognizing an increase in the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. We adopted SFAS No. 143 on April 1, 2003 and the adoption did not
have a material effect on the results of operations and financial position.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS No. 145 provides for the rescission of several previously
issued accounting standards, new accounting guidance relating to the accounting for certain lease modifications and
various technical corrections to existing pronouncements that are not substantive in nature. We adopted SFAS No. 145
on April 1, 2003, except for the provisions relating to the amendment of SFAS No.13, which was adopted for transac-
tions occurring subsequent to May 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”.
SFAS No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and
nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity”. The provisions of this Statement are effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application encouraged. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 has not had a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5,
57 and 107 and a rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”. This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be
made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under guarantees issued. The
Interpretation also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair
value of the obligation undertaken. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of the Interpretation are appli-
cable to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002 and have not had a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods
ending after December 15, 2002. We did not have a significant item to be disclosed under such requirements in our
consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2003.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpreta-
tion of ARB No. 51”. This Interpretation addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest enti-
ties as defined in the Interpretation. The Interpretation applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interests in variable interest entities obtained after January 31,
2003. For nonpublic enterprises with a variable interest in a variable interest entity created before February 1, 2003, the
Interpretation is applied to the enterprise no later than the end of the first annual reporting period beginning after June
15, 2003. The application of this Interpretation is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements. The Interpretation requires certain disclosures in financial statements issued after January 31, 2003 if it is
reasonably possible that variable interest entities will be consolidated or their information will be disclosed information
when the Interpretation becomes effective.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal needs for cash are: fees for manufacturing and royalty payments to video game hardware manufacturers
who produce our game software; payments to content licensors; purchase of parts and raw materials; selling, general
and administrative expenses such as research and development expenses; payments for the acquisition of companies
targeted under our acquisitions strategy; employees’ salaries, wages and other payroll cost; lease payments for sports
club facilities; debt service requirements; expenditures to renovate and maintain our properties; payments of dividends
to our shareholders; and taxes.

In February 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-02 (“EITF 03-02”), “Accounting for the Transfer to the
Japanese Government of the Substitutional Portion of Employee Pension Fund Liabilities.” This Issue provides a consensus
that Japanese employers should account for the entire separation process as a single settlement event upon completion of
the transfer to the Japanese government of the substitutional portion of the benefit obligations and related plan assets.
According to this consensus, the transfer is not viewed as a plan amendment unfavorable to employees. Furthermore,
accounting recognition is done upon the actual transfer of the substitutional portion of the benefit obligations and the
related plan assets. Additionally, the EITF agreed that the resultant gain from the government subsidy which is the difference
between the fair value of the substitutional portion of the obligations transferred, computed based on a market discount
rate, and the amount of plan assets required to be transferred which the government is to calculate, would be directly
recognized as a gain or loss at settlement. The application of EITF 03-02 is not expected to have any effect on our consoli-
dated financial statements as we do not have such substitutional portion of employee pension fund liabilities subject to
this consensus.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedg-
ing Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, includ-
ing certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives) and for hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Except for certain provi-
sions, SFAS No. 149 is to be applied prospectively to contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and to
hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. We are in the process of determining the impact, if any, that the
adoption of SFAS No. 149 will have on its results of operations and financial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Financial Statement on Certain Financial Instruments with Character-
istics of Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 changes the accounting for certain financial instruments with character-
istics of both liabilities and equity that, under previous guidance, could be classified as equity, by now requiring those
instruments to be classified as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) in the statement of financial position.
Further, SFAS No. 150 requires disclosure regarding the terms of those instruments and settlement alternatives. SFAS
No. 150 is generally to be applied to all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and is
otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No.
150 is not expected to have a material effect on our results of operations and financial position.

Capital Expenditures
Our capital expenditures amounted to ¥77,598 million, ¥20,681 million and ¥17,919 million during fiscal 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively. The major portion of our capital expenditures during fiscal 2001 related to the acquisition of intangible
assets in the amount of ¥56,759 million recognized in connection with our purchase of Konami Sports Corporation and
other subsidiaries. During fiscal 2002, our capital expenditures consisted mainly of purchases and leases of computer and
other product development equipment in the amount of ¥9,615 million. During fiscal 2003, our capital expenditures
consisted mainly of the acquisition of Konami Super Campus for ¥3,010 million and funds for the opening and repair of
sports clubs in the amount of ¥4,638 million. We expect our capital expenditures for fiscal 2004 to be approximately
¥11,000 million, of which approximately ¥3,000 million will relate to purchases and leases of computer and other
product development equipment and ¥2,500 million will relate to the opening and repair of additional sports clubs.
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Our principal needs for cash for fiscal 2004 include cash used for ordinary operations of our business. In addition,
we consider potential opportunities to expand our current business or enter new areas of business from time to time.
Generally, our sources of funds include available cash reserves, cash provided by our current and future operating
activities, borrowings from banks and other financial institutions and issuance of debt securities. We believe that
available cash reserves and expected cash from operations and future borrowings or issuance of debt capital will
provide sufficient financial resources to meet our currently anticipated capital and other expenditure requirements.
There are no material contractual or legal restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us in the
form of dividends (assuming that they have sufficient distributable net assets or retained earnings as provided under
the local law of the relevant jurisdiction), loans or advances. There are no material economic restrictions on payments
of dividends, loans or advances to us by our subsidiaries other than general withholding or other taxes calculated at
rates determined by the local tax law of the relevant jurisdiction (ordinarily 20% in the case of dividend payments by our
Japanese subsidiaries and 10% (or, in certain circumstances, 15%) in the case of dividend payments and 10% in the
case of interest payments by our U.S. subsidiaries).

Cash Flows
The following table sets forth certain information about our cash flows during fiscal 2001, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Fiscal year ended March 31 2001 2002 2003 2003

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥22,398 ¥11,119 ¥27,711 $230,541
Net cash used in investing activities (72,788) (16,024) (12,242) (101,847)
Net cash provided by financing activities 59,261 12,613 (16,443) (136,797)

8,871 7,708 (974) (8,103)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 576 667 466 3,877
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,447 8,375 (508) (4,226)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 57,366 66,813 75,188 625,524
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ¥66,813 ¥75,188 ¥74,680 $621,298

Comparison of Fiscal 2003 with Fiscal 2002
Net cash provided by operating activities increased ¥16,592 million, or 149.2%, to ¥27,711 million in fiscal 2003 from
¥11,119 million in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2003, increased collection of payments on trade notes and accounts receiv-
able, which had been at a high level at the end of fiscal 2002, contributed to the improvement of cash flows from
operating activities by ¥8,510 million. Our operating cash flows were also improved by ¥4,413 million due to the fact
that we used less cash to decrease trade notes and accounts payable as compared to fiscal 2002. In addition, there was
a decrease in inventories in fiscal 2003, which contributed to the increase in net operating cash flows by ¥4,150 million
since there had been an increase in inventories in fiscal 2002.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased ¥3,782 million, or 23.6%, to ¥12,242 million in fiscal 2003 from
¥16,024 million in fiscal 2002. Improvements in investing cash flows were, in part, due to the fact that we did not use
cash for investments in affiliated companies during fiscal 2003 while we made such investments amounting to ¥8,115
million during fiscal 2002. A ¥1,790 million increase in proceeds from sales of property and equipment also contributed
to the improvement of cash flows from investing activities in fiscal 2003. However, the decrease in cash used for
investments was partly offset by a ¥7,262 million increase in capital expenditures, which was due mainly to active
acquisition of property and equipment related to the Exercise Entertainment segment.

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to ¥16,443 million for fiscal 2003 while net cash of ¥12,613 million
was provided by financing activities during fiscal 2002. This was due primarily to a ¥29,828 million decrease in pro-
ceeds from long-term debt. During fiscal 2003, we had ¥14,902 in net proceeds from the issuance of bonds while we
had ¥44,681 million of such debt issuance proceeds during fiscal 2002.
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Comparison of Fiscal 2002 with Fiscal 2001
Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to ¥22,398 million in fiscal 2001 and ¥11,119 million in fiscal 2002.
In fiscal 2002, a ¥10,166 million decrease in net income was offset by a ¥10,353 million increase in depreciation and
amortization expenses. Net cash provided by operating activities decreased principally due to a ¥12,377 million de-
crease in trade notes and accounts payable as compared to fiscal 2001, which was caused in large part by bill payments
from the previous year being credited on the first day of fiscal 2002 due to a banking holiday.

Cash used in investing activities in recent periods included acquisitions of several subsidiaries and investments in
affiliates, as well as investments in property and equipment. There was a decrease in cash used in investing activities
to ¥16,024 million in fiscal 2002, from ¥72,788 in fiscal 2001, due primarily to a substantially smaller amount of expen-
ditures on investments and acquisitions in fiscal 2002 as compared to fiscal 2001. In fiscal 2001, we acquired the
business that is now Konami Sports Corporation. In fiscal 2002, we made further acquisitions of smaller sports clubs
and investments in strategic partners in the video game software industry such as Hudson Soft Co., Ltd. and Genki Co.,
Ltd. During fiscal 2002, we also sold outstanding shares of Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo, Inc. for ¥1,797
million, which resulted in a gain of ¥1,129 million.

Cash provided by financing activities totaled ¥12,613 million in fiscal 2002 as compared to ¥59,261 in fiscal 2001.
During fiscal 2001, cash in the amount of ¥6,013 million was provided by the issuance of shares by Konami Computer
Entertainment Tokyo, Inc. in its initial public offering. We also received ¥62,824 million from the issuance of our own
shares in a global equity offering. During fiscal 2002, we received cash in the amount of ¥7,035 million in the initial
public offering of Konami Computer Entertainment Japan, Inc. As a result, net proceeds from the issuance of common
stock decreased ¥61,802 million as compared to fiscal 2001, but this was partially offset by a ¥44,509 increase in
proceeds from long-term debt issued during fiscal 2002. Cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2002 was further
reduced by repurchases of treasury stock and repayments of long-term debt.

Long and Short-term Debt
Our debt includes both long-term debt and short-term borrowings. Our borrowing requirements have not been seasonal.
Short-term borrowings consisted entirely of unsecured bank loans totaling ¥10,948 million as of March 31, 2002 and
¥8,308 million as of March 31, 2003. As of March 31, 2003, the non-current portion of our long-term debt consisted
mainly of ¥60,000 million of unsecured bonds described in the following paragraphs. It also included ¥540 million of
unsecured loans from banks. For information regarding the aggregate annual maturities of our long-term debt outstand-
ing at March 31, 2003, please see the Contractual Obligations table on the following page under “Other Commitments”.
We are able to borrow from financial institutions at local market-based interest rates, which in our case, is mostly
market-based rates in Japan, however, approximately 18% of our total outstanding long-term debt, excluding unse-
cured bonds, and short term borrowings as of March 31, 2003 is denominated in U.S. dollars and based on the local
market-based interest rates of the United States. The interest rates of our long-term debt and short-term borrowings
ranged from 0.56% to 2.36% during fiscal 2003. We plan to refinance repayment of our debt and borrowings due in one
to three years by a combination of all or some of the following funding sources: available cash reserves; cash provided
by our operations; borrowings from banks or other financial institutions; and issuance of debt securities.

During fiscal 2003, our consolidated subsidiary, Konami Sports Corporation, issued unsecured domestic bonds series
1, 2 and 3 due 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Each series of the bonds was issued for ¥5,000 million to total an
aggregate principal amount of ¥15,000 million. During fiscal 2002, we issued unsecured domestic bonds series 3, 4 and
5 due 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively. Each series of the bonds was issued for ¥15,000 million to total an aggregate
principal amount of ¥45,000 million. The interest rates of these bonds issued by Konami and Konami Sports Corporation
range from 0.70% to 1.39%.

In fiscal 2000, we entered into a renewable credit line agreement to provide for borrowings of up to ¥12,000 million
in order to increase our financing capabilities. The current line of credit expires on March 31, 2004. We had no out-
standing borrowings under the revolving line of credit as of March 31, 2003. We also established a commercial paper
program worth ¥10,000 million in fiscal 1996, for which there was no outstanding balance at March 31, 2003. Financing
under the commercial paper program is available upon the satisfaction of certain procedural requirements which we
believe that it may take us a few weeks to complete.

In connection with our purchases of certain products for distribution in North America and Europe, including Game Boy
cartridges and GameCube discs, some of our suppliers require us to provide irrevocable letter of credit prior to accepting
our purchase orders. As of March 31, 2003, we had outstanding letters of credit in the amount of C=3,545,973 and $4,673,989.
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Derivative Transactions
We enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign exchange exposure associated with short-term
movements in exchange rates applicable to our payables commitments and receivables that we expect to pay or re-
ceive in foreign currencies. For a more detailed discussion of these instruments, you should read Note 18 to our consoli-
dated financial statements included in this annual report. We do not hold or issue derivatives for speculation purposes.
Because the counterparties to those contracts are limited to major international financial institutions, we do not antici-
pate any material losses arising from credit risk. Our Finance Department executes and controls those contracts. Each
contract and its results are to be periodically reported to an officer in charge of the department and the CFO.

We do not designate any derivative financial instruments as hedges and, as a result, they are to be recognized as
either assets or liabilities at fair value and the corresponding gains and losses are to be recognized in earnings in the
period of change.

C.  Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

Our research and development activities consist primarily of developing amusement arcade games, video game soft-
ware, gaming machines and Toy and Hobby products. Research and development expenses are charged to income as
incurred. On a consolidated basis, we spent ¥836 million, ¥861 million and ¥855 million on research and development
for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

D.  Trend Information.

While our results of operations for the year ending March 31, 2004 remain subject to a number of uncertainties, we
currently expect that our net revenues for fiscal 2004 will slightly increase from the previous fiscal year and our operating

Other Commitments
Licenses. We have several on-going contractual commitments involving minimum future royalties payments. Under
these agreements, we commit to provide specified payments to the intellectual property holders, such as professional
sports organizations, based upon contractual arrangements. Assuming all contractual provisions are met, the total future
minimum contract commitment for contracts in place as of March 31, 2003 is ¥ 984 million, substantially all of which
has been prepaid and recorded as prepaid royalties and license fees.

Leases. We lease certain computer and other equipment under capital leases and non-cancelable operating leases.
Total future minimum lease payments under capital lease arrangements were ¥5,010 million as of March 31, 2003.
Minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases at March 31, 2003 were ¥30,867 million.

Purchase Obligations. We have obligations to purchase property, plant, equipment and other assets amounting to
approximately ¥607 million as of March 31, 2003.

The following tables summarize the contractual obligations and other commercial commitments that will affect our
liquidity position for the next several years, as of March 31, 2003:

Contractual Obligations
(millions of yen)

Payments Due by Period

Less than After
Contractual Obligations Total  1 year 1–3 years 4–5 years 5 years

Short-Term Debt ¥    8,308 ¥  8,308 — — —
Unsecured Bank Loans 8,308 8,308 — — —

Long-Term Debt 60,540 40 ¥15,500 ¥40,000 ¥5,000
Unsecured Bonds 60,000 — 15,000 40,000 5,000
Unsecured Bank Loans 540 40 500 — —

Capital Lease Obligations 5,010 1,884 2,258 847 21
Operating Leases 30,867 2,570 4,979 4,440 18,878
Purchase Obligations 607 607 — — —
Total ¥105,332 ¥13,409 ¥22,737 ¥45,287 ¥23,899
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income and the net income will recover substantially without the negative effect of the impairment of goodwill and other
intangible assets associated with our Exercise Entertainment segment recognized in fiscal 2003. We base our expecta-
tions on the following assumptions:

• We expect a slight decrease in revenues of our Computer & Video Game segment, reflecting less robust sales of
our Yu-Gi-Oh! and soccer-related titles, which sold over 5.9 million copies and 4.3 million copies, respectively, in
fiscal 2003, particularly in North America. We expect our Computer & Video Game segment to be buoyed, however,
by releasing a more diverse line up of new original products, particularly in the animation category, and working
to expand sales of the Yu-Gi-Oh! series in Europe.

• We expect an increase in sales by our Exercise Entertainment segment, reflecting an increase in the number of
members of newly opened clubs and our continuous efforts to improve the retention rate of current customers.

• We expect a slight decrease in our Toy & Hobby segment revenues based on our conservative estimate of sales
of the Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game in North America. However, we expect to sustain this segment by expanding
the market for our Yu-Gi-Oh! Trading Card Game in Europe and introducing a new product line-up for boys’ toys.

• We expect a slight decrease in our Amusement segment revenues, despite the popularity of our products, since the
market for amusement games, token-operated games and LCD units is currently leveling off. We expect, how-
ever, that this segment will be supported by the fact that our amusement games for mass participation and large
token-operated games will be indispensable as trend towards larger amusement facilities gains momentum.

• We expect an increase in revenues by our Gaming segment reflecting anticipated gains in sales of casino gaming
machines in North America.

Notwithstanding the loss recorded due to the recognition of impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
relating to our Exercise Entertainment segment in fiscal 2003, our business has grown steadily and we believe that our
medium to long-term growth prospects are good as well. We expect consumer demand for video game software to
expand, based on the predominance of PlayStation 2 and Game Boy Advance in fiscal 2003. We are also expecting
growth in our sports clubs business, reflecting increased interests in health and beauty, especially amount middle-aged
and senior people. Our gaming segment expects to expand its market, including in the U.K., where the deregulation of
casino business is scheduled in 2004, and Japan, where such deregulation has been actively promoted.

The discussion above includes forward-looking statements are based on management’s assumptions and beliefs in
light of information currently available to it and, therefore, you should not place undue reliance on them. A number of
important factors could cause actual results to be materially different from and worse than those discussed in forward-
looking statements. Such factors include, but are not limited to: (i) changes in economic conditions affecting our opera-
tions; (ii) fluctuations in currency exchange rates, particularly with respect to the value of the Japanese yen, the U.S. dollar
and the Euro; (iii) our ability to continue to win acceptance of our products, which are offered in highly competitive markets
characterized by the continuous introduction of new products, rapid developments in technology and subjective and chang-
ing consumer preferences; (iv) our ability to successfully expand internationally with a focus on  our video game software
business, card game business and gaming machine business; (v) our ability to successfully expand the scope of our busi-
ness and broaden our customer base through our exercise entertainment business; (vi) regulatory developments and changes
and our ability to respond and adapt to those changes; (vii) our expectations with regard to further acquisitions and the
integration of any companies we may acquire; and (viii) the outcome of contingencies. Our actual results could vary signifi-
cantly from these projections and could be influenced by a number of factors including our ability to generate new popular
products, our ability to expand overseas, consumer spending patterns and other factors and risks.

E.  Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

Not applicable.

F.  Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations.

Not applicable.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

KONAMI CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
March 31, 2002 and 2003

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 75,188 ¥ 74,680 $ 621,298
Trade notes and accounts receivable, net of allowance for

doubtful accounts of ¥636 million and ¥976 million ($8,120 thousand)
at March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively 34,275 29,107 242,155

Inventories 15,990 13,359 111,140
Deferred income taxes, net 9,143 12,820 106,656
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,459 6,739 56,064

Total current assets 142,055 136,705 1,137,313

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 43,562 46,284 385,058

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Investments in marketable securities 204 189 1,572
Investments in affiliates 13,459 12,422 103,345
Identifiable intangible assets 60,169 46,503 386,880
Goodwill 36,825 125 1,040
Lease deposits 24,654 24,489 203,736
Other assets 7,163 11,533 95,948

Total investments and other assets 142,474 95,261 792,521

TOTAL ASSETS ¥328,091 ¥278,250 $2,314,892

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Short-term borrowings ¥ 10,948 ¥ 8,308 $ 69,118
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 4,751 1,815 15,100
Trade notes and accounts payable 20,292 18,684 155,441
Accrued income taxes 13,224 13,788 114,709
Accrued expenses 21,120 18,968 157,804
Deferred revenue 3,866 5,535 46,048
Other current liabilities 5,347 4,676 38,902

Total current liabilities 79,548 71,774 597,122
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 48,031 63,514 528,403
Accrued pension and severance costs 2,607 2,345 19,509
Deferred income taxes, net 24,169 18,854 156,855
Other long-term liabilities 2,830 2,502 20,815

Total long-term liabilities 77,637 87,215 725,582

MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 35,916 28,855 240,058

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 12 and 22) — — —

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Common stock, no par value—Authorized 450,000,000 shares;

issued 128,737,566 shares at March 31, 2002 and 2003 47,399 47,399 394,334
Additional paid-in capital 46,736 46,736 388,819
Legal reserve 2,163 2,163 17,995
Retained earnings 53,149 18,981 157,912
Accumulated other comprehensive income 546 790 6,572

Total 149,993 116,069 965,632
Treasury stock, at cost—

4,257,751 shares and 8,253,191 shares at March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively (15,003) (25,663) (213,502)

Total shareholders’ equity 134,990 90,406 752,130

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ¥328,091 ¥278,250 $2,314,892

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

NET REVENUES:
Product sales revenue ¥167,001 ¥165,154 ¥178,766 $1,487,238
Service revenue 4,480 60,426 74,891 623,053

Total net revenues 171,481 225,580 253,657 2,110,291

COSTS AND EXPENSES:
Costs of products sold 99,016 104,192 112,364 934,809
Costs of services rendered 4,052 50,459 62,515 520,091
Impairment charge for goodwill and other intangible assets — — 47,599 395,998
Selling, general and administrative 30,502 52,842 53,049 441,340

Total costs and expenses 133,570 207,493 275,527 2,292,238

Operating income (loss) 37,911 18,087 (21,870) (181,947)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
Interest income 468 244 373 3,103
Interest expense (1,266) (767) (938) (7,804)
Gain on sale of subsidiary shares 3,948 4,655 904 7,521
Other, net (226) 459 (565) (4,700)

Other income (expenses), net 2,924 4,591 (226) (1,880)

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY INTEREST AND
EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 40,835 22,678 (22,096) (183,827)

INCOME TAXES:
Current 20,902 17,276 14,912 124,060
Deferred (1,699) (5,609) (8,726) (72,596)

Total 19,203 11,667 6,186 51,464

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST
AND EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 21,632 11,011 (28,282) (235,291)

MINORITY INTEREST IN INCOME (LOSS) OF
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 420 364 (1,051) (8,744)

EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 356 755 (1,288) (10,716)

NET INCOME (LOSS) ¥ 21,568 ¥ 11,402 ¥ (28,519) $ (237,263)

Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

PER SHARE DATA:
Basic and Diluted Net Income (loss) per Share ¥ 189.04 ¥ 89.32 ¥ (234.58) $ (1.95)

Weighted-Average Common Shares Outstanding 114,093,518 127,647,120 121,572,154 121,572,154

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

KONAMI CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
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Millions of Yen

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Paid-in Legal Comprehensive Retained Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’
Stock Capital Reserve Income (Loss) Earnings Income Stock, at cost Equity

Balance at March 31, 2000 ¥15,794 ¥15,517 ¥1,162 ¥ 34,174 ¥(388) ¥       (32) ¥66,227
Comprehensive income:

Net income ¥ 21,568 21,568 21,568
Cash dividends, ¥54.0 per share (5,914) (5,914)
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities (26) (26)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 440 440
Other comprehensive income 414 414
Comprehensive income 21,982

New stock issuance for cash 31,605 31,219 62,824
Exercise of stock option 31 31
Reissuance of treasury stock 1 1
Transfer from retained earnings 608 (608) —
Balance at March 31, 2001 47,399 46,736 1,770 49,220 26 — 145,151
Comprehensive income:

Net income    11,402 11,402 11,402
Cash dividends, ¥54.0 per share (7,080) (7,080)
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities (189) (189)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 709 709
Other comprehensive income 520 520
Comprehensive income 11,922

Reissuance of treasury stock 3 3
Repurchase of treasury stock (15,006) (15,006)
Transfer from retained earnings 393 (393) —
Balance at March 31, 2002 47,399 46,736 2,163 53,149 546 (15,003) 134,990
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss  (28,519) (28,519) (28,519)
Cash dividends, ¥46.0 per share (5,649) (5,649)
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 159 159
Foreign currency translation adjustments 85 85
Other comprehensive income 244 244
Comprehensive loss ¥(28,275)

Repurchase of treasury stock (10,660) (10,660)
Balance at March 31, 2003 ¥47,399 ¥46,736 ¥2,163 ¥ 18,981 ¥790 ¥(25,663) ¥90,406

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Paid-in Legal Comprehensive Retained Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’
Stock Capital Reserve Loss Earnings Income Stock, at cost Equity

Balance at March 31, 2002 $394,334 $388,819 $17,995 $ 442,171 $4,543 $(124,817) $1,123,045
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss $(237,263) (237,263) (237,263)
Cash dividends, $0.38 per share (46,996) (46,996)
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 1,322 1,322
Foreign currency translation adjustments 707 707
Other comprehensive income 2,029 2,029
Comprehensive loss $(235,234)

Repurchase of treasury stock (88,685) (88,685)
Balance at March 31, 2003 $394,334 $388,819 $17,995 $ 157,912 $6,572 $(213,502) $   752,130

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

KONAMI CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

KONAMI CORPORATION and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) ¥ 21,568 ¥ 11,402 ¥(28,519) $(237,263)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities—
Depreciation and amortization 5,107 15,460 11,979 99,659
Impairment charge for goodwill and other intangible assets — — 47,599 395,998
Provision for doubtful receivables 36 4,189 429 3,569
Loss on sale or disposal of property and equipment, net 747 924 2,344 19,501
Gain on sale of subsidiary shares (3,948) (4,655) (904) (7,521)
Equity in net (income) loss of affiliated companies (356) (755) 1,288 10,716
Minority interest 420 364 (1,051) (8,744)
Deferred income taxes (1,699) (5,609) (11,326) (94,226)

Change in assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired:
Decrease (increase) in trade notes and accounts receivable (7,552) (3,930) 4,580 38,103
Decrease (increase) in inventories (1,053) (1,594) 2,556 21,264
Increase (decrease) in trade notes and accounts payable 6,443 (5,934) (1,521) (12,654)
Increase (decrease) in accrued income taxes 2,026 (1,722) 394 3,278
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 2,050 2,305 (2,271) (18,893)
Increase in deferred revenue 142 805 1,669 13,885

Other, net (1,533) (131) 465 3,869
Net cash provided by operating activities 22,398 11,119 27,711 230,541

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments in affiliates (3,887) (8,115) — —
Purchases of investments in subsidiaries — — (315) (2,621)
Proceeds from sales of investments in subsidiaries — 1,797 2,081 17,313
Capital expenditures (4,043) (8,095) (15,357) (127,762)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 1,274 444 2,234 18,586
Acquisition of new subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (68,656) 692 (449) (3,735)
Decrease in time deposits, net 1,415 90 516 4,293
Decrease (increase) in lease deposits, net 28 (1,877) (306) (2,546)
Other, net 1,081 (960) (646) (5,375)

Net cash used in investing activities (72,788) (16,024) (12,242) (101,847)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net decrease in short-term borrowings (1,220) (1,108) (2,448) (20,366)
Proceeds from long-term debt 721 45,230 15,402 128,137
Repayments of long-term debt (1,983) (13,172) (2,765) (23,004)
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (1,180) (2,407) (3,439) (28,611)
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 62,824 — — —
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock by subsidiaries 6,013 7,035 — —
Dividends paid (5,991) (7,652) (6,324) (52,612)
Purchases of treasury stock by parent company — (15,006) (10,660) (88,685)
Purchases of treasury stock by subsidiaries (48) (194) (4,516) (37,571)
Other, net 125 (113) (1,693) (14,085)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 59,261 12,613 (16,443) (136,797)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 576 667 466 3,877
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,447 8,375 (508) (4,226)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 57,366 66,813 75,188 625,524

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ¥ 66,813 ¥ 75,188 ¥ 74,680 $ 621,298

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KONAMI CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

1. Business and Organization, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business and Organization
KONAMI CORPORATION (the “Company”) was founded in 1969 and was incorporated under the laws of Japan in March
1973. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Konami”) engage in production and sale of game software for
home video game systems, game machines for installation in amusement arcades and other entertainment venues and
other amusement-related products, and operation of health and fitness club facilities. The principal markets for Konami’s
products are Japan, North America, Europe, Asia and Australia while all of its health and fitness club facility operation
is in Japan.

Substantially all of Konami’s revenues from video game software have historically been derived from sales of soft-
ware for use on proprietary game platforms developed and manufactured by other manufacturers. Konami may only
publish its games for use on the manufacturers’ game platforms if it receives a platform license from them, which is
generally for an initial term of several years and may be extended for additional one-year terms. If Konami cannot obtain
licenses to develop video game software from manufacturers of popular game platforms or if any of its existing license
agreements are terminated, it will not be able to release software for those platforms, which may have a negative
impact on its results of operations and profitability. To date, Konami has always obtained extensions or new agree-
ments with the platform manufacturers. These licenses include other provisions such as approval rights by the manufac-
turers of all products and related promotional materials which could have an effect on Konami’s costs and the timing of
release of new game titles.

In the United States, Canada and Australia, the manufacture and distribution of Konami’s gaming machines are
subject to numerous federal, state and local regulations. In addition, Konami may be subject to regulation as a gaming
operator if it enters into lease participation agreements under which it shares in the revenues generated by gaming
machines. These regulations are constantly changing and evolving, and may curtail gaming in various jurisdictions in the
future, which would decrease the number of jurisdictions from which Konami can generate revenues. Konami and its
key personnel are subject to an extensive investigation before each jurisdictional gaming license is issued. Also, Konami’s
gaming machines are subjected to independent testing and evaluation prior to approval from each jurisdiction. Generally,
regulatory authorities have broad discretion when granting, renewing or revoking these game approvals and licenses.

Basis of Accounting
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries maintain their books and records in conformity with accounting principles
and practices generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), and its foreign subsidiaries in conformity with those of
the country of their domicile. The consolidated financial statements presented herein have been prepared in a manner
and reflect certain adjustments which are necessary to conform them with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ consolidated financial statements to conform to the presen-
tation used for the year ended March 31, 2003.

Translation into U.S. Dollars
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the functional currency of the country
in which the Company is incorporated and principally operates. The U.S. dollar amounts included herein represent a
translation using the mid price for telegraphic transfer of U.S. dollars for yen quoted by The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi,
Ltd. as of March 31, 2003 of ¥120.20 to $1 and are included solely for the convenience of the reader. The translation
should not be construed as a representation that the yen amounts have been, could have been, or could in the future be
converted into U.S. dollars at the above or any other rate.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its majority-owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less.

Konami classifies its debt and equity securities into one of the three categories: trading, available-for-sale, or held-to-
maturity securities. Trading securities are bought and held primarily for the purpose of selling them in the near term.
Held-to-maturity securities are those securities in which Konami has the ability and intent to hold them until maturity.
All securities not included in trading or held-to-maturity categories are classified as available-for-sale. Trading and
available-for-sale securities whose fair values are readily determinable are recorded at fair value. Held-to-maturity
securities are recorded at amortized cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretion of premiums or discounts. Unreal-
ized gains and losses on trading securities are included in earnings. Unrealized gains and losses, net of the related tax
effect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate component of accu-
mulated other comprehensive income until realized. Realized gains and losses from sale of available-for-sale securities
are determined based on the average cost method. A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security
below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The
impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established. Dividend income is recognized
when earned. As of March 31, 2002 and 2003, all equity securities held by Konami are classified as available-for-sale.

For those investments in affiliates in which the Company’s voting interest is between 20% and 50% and it has the
ability to exercise significant influence over the affiliate’s operations, the equity method of accounting is used. Under
this method, the investment originally recorded at cost is adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of the net earnings
or losses of the affiliates. All significant intercompany profits from these affiliates have been eliminated.

Investments in non-marketable equity securities in which the Company’s ownership is less than 20% are carried at
cost. A decline in the value of a non-marketable equity security below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary
results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for
the security is established.

Inventories, consisting of merchandise for resale, finished products, work-in-process, raw materials and supplies, are
stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method for merchandise, by the specific
identification method for software products, and by the average method for others.

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed on the declining-balance method using estimated
useful lives ranging from 5 to 50 years for buildings and structures and from 2 to 20 years for tools, furniture and fixtures.
Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value of minimum lease payments and is amortized on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset, which ranged from 2 to 8 years.

Ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Major replacements and improvements are capitalized.
When properties are retired or otherwise disposed of, the property and related accumulated depreciation accounts are
relieved of the applicable amounts and any differences are included in operating income or expenses.

Under the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for Internal Use,” Konami has capitalized costs associated with software systems for internal use, that have
reached the application stage and meet recoverability tests as capitalized computer software in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Such capitalized costs primarily include external direct costs utilized in developing or
obtaining the applications. Capitalization of such costs ceases at the point in which the project is substantially complete
and ready for its intended use, and the costs capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of each application, ranging from 2 to 5 years. Konami expenses costs incurred during the preliminary project stage
which include costs for making strategic decisions about the project, and determining performance and system require-
ments. Konami also expenses costs incurred for internal-use software in the post-implementation stage such as training
and maintenance costs.

(a) Consolidation Policy

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

(c) Marketable Securities

(d) Investments in Affiliates

(e) Inventories

(f) Property and Equipment

(g) Software for Internal Use
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Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of acquired companies and amounts allocated to the estimated
fair value of their net assets. Identifiable intangible assets represent intangible assets related to trademarks, member-
ship lists, gaming licenses, existing technology, customer relationships and franchise contracts acquired in connection
with acquisitions of subsidiaries.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No.
16. SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for under the pur-
chase method of accounting. In addition, SFAS No. 141 establishes criteria for the recognition of intangible assets
separately from goodwill. Konami adopted SFAS No. 141 on June 30, 2001 and the adoption did not have a material
effect on Konami’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS No. 142, good-
will and other intangible assets with an indefinite life are no longer subject to amortization over their useful lives, but
are subject to assessments for impairment at least annually based on their fair value. Goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001 are subject immediately to the non-amortization provisions of SFAS No.
142 while those acquired prior to June 30, 2001 were not subject to the provisions until SFAS No. 142 was fully adopted
by Konami on April 1, 2002.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No.142, the recoverability of goodwill was assessed according to SFAS No. 121.
Goodwill acquired prior to June 30, 2001 was amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 20

years in accordance with the requirements under APB No. 17, “Intangible Assets,” until the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on
April 1, 2002 while goodwill acquired after June 30, 2001 has not been subject to amortization according to the non-
amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142. Intangible assets related to trademarks, gaming licenses and franchise con-
tracts are determined to have an indefinite useful life. Intangible assets with an indefinite life acquired prior to June 30,
2001 were amortized using the straight-line method over 40 years in accordance with the requirements under APB No.
17 until the adoption of SFAS No. 142 while those acquired after June 30, 2001 have not been subject to amortization
according to the non-amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142.

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142 effective April 1, 2002, Konami completed its transitional impairment test for goodwill
and other intangible assets with an indefinite life based on their fair value. For the purpose of the test, goodwill and other
intangible assets were assigned to the reporting units determined by Konami according to the requirements under SFAS No.
142. Based on management’s assessment of the circumstances, considering the independent appraiser’s findings, Konami
concluded that there was no impairment in the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life.

In the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, however, using the same methodologies and again
considering the independent appraiser’s findings, Konami determined that the fair value of the Exercise Entertainment
reporting unit was lower than the carrying value. As a result of the subsequent reassessment of fair values of goodwill
and other intangible assets which were allocated to the reporting unit, a non-cash impairment charge was recognized
for goodwill and trademarks as a component of operating loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of opera-
tions for the year ended March 31, 2003, as more fully disclosed in Note 7.

Intangible assets related to membership lists, existing technology, and customer relationships have been amortized
over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years. Konami assesses the recoverability of these intangible assets according
to SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” as described in (i).

Konami’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors Konami considers important which could trigger an impair-
ment review include: significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
significant changes in the manner of the use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; significant negative
industry or economic trends; significant decline in the stock price of the acquired entity for a sustained period; and market
capitalization of the acquired entity relative to its net book value. When it is determined that the carrying amount of assets
to be held and used may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of these indicators of impairment,
recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows (undiscounted and
without interest charges) expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impair-
ment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair
value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(h) Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets

(i) Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets
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In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”.
SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, but retains SFAS No. 121’s fundamental provisions for (a) recognition and
measurement of impairment of long-lived assets held and used and (b) measurements of long-lived assets disposed of
by sale. SFAS No. 144 also supersedes APB No. 30 “Reporting the Results of Operation—Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”
for segments of a business to be disposed of but retains APB No. 30’s requirement to report discontinued operations
separately from continuing operations. SFAS No. 144 also extends reporting of discontinued operations to a part of a
company that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale. Konami adopted SFAS No. 144 on April 1,
2002 and the adoption did not have a material effect on the results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

From time to time, Konami uses certain derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency risks. Konami
may enter into forward contracts to reduce its exposure to short-term (generally no more than one year) movements in
exchange rates applicable to firm funding commitments that are denominated in currencies other than the Japanese yen.

Effective April 1, 2001, Konami adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties.” SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that all derivative instruments be reported on the balance sheet as either
assets or liabilities measured at fair value. For derivative instruments designated and effective as fair value hedges,
changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recog-
nized in earnings. For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any hedge is
reported in other comprehensive income until it is recognized in earnings in the same period in which the hedged item
affects earnings. Any amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness as well as the ineffective portion
of all hedges are reported in current earnings each period. Changes in fair value of derivative instruments that are not
designated as a hedge are recorded each period in current earnings. If a derivative instrument is not designated as a
hedge, the gain or loss is recognized in earnings in the period of change. The adoption of SFAS 133 did not have a
material impact on Konami’s consolidated financial position and results of operations. To date, there has been no
derivative instrument designated as a hedge by Konami.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit severance and retirement plans which are accounted
for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.”

Konami accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under SFAS No.
109, deferred income taxes are recognized by the asset and liability method for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabili-
ties and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates in effect for
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date.

Konami derives revenue from primarily two sources: (i) product revenue, which includes packaged game software and
other products, game machines and related equipment and components, and (ii) membership fee revenue from health
and fitness club members.

Konami’s revenue recognition criteria are as follows:

Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement.
For product sales, it is Konami’s customary practice to have a written contract, which is signed by both the customer and
Konami, or a purchase order or amendment to the written contract from those customers that have previously negoti-
ated a standard purchase agreement.

For Konami’s health and fitness clubs, members are required to sign a standard monthly membership agreement
upon admission, which is automatically renewed unless the member provides advance notice of his or her intention to
cancel prior to the tenth day of the month at the end of which the membership will terminate.

(j) Derivative Financial
Instruments

(k) Severance and
Retirement Plans

(l) Income Taxes

(m) Revenue Recognition
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Delivery Has Occurred.
Packaged game software and other products are physically delivered to customers. Also, Konami’s game machines and
related equipment are physically delivered to customers as a fully-assembled, ready to be installed unit. Accordingly,
Konami recognizes revenue from product sales upon delivery and acceptance since title and risk of loss transfer to the
customer based on free on board (“FOB”) destination. Generally, Konami does not permit exchanges or accept returns of
unsold merchandise except in the case of obvious defects. In certain limited circumstances Konami may allow returns,
for which Konami estimates the related allowances based upon management’s evaluation of historical experience, the
nature of the software titles and other factors. These estimates are deducted from gross sales.

Revenue from health and fitness club membership is derived primarily from monthly membership fees from club
members. Revenue for those fees is recognized as monthly charges are generally made to the members’ accounts in
advance, at the end of each month, with respect to the following month’s membership. This policy requires Konami to
defer the applicable membership fee revenue for one month. Initial membership fee revenue is deferred and recognized
over the estimated period of the related membership.

The Price is Fixed or Determinable.
The price customers pay for Konami’s products is negotiated at the outset of an arrangement, and is generally deter-
mined by the specific volume of product to be delivered. Therefore, the prices are considered to be fixed or determinable
at the start of the arrangement. Konami’s membership fee for health and fitness clubs is fixed at the time of admission
of the member.

Collection is Probable.
Probability of collection is assessed on a customer-by-customer basis. Konami typically sells to customers with whom
Konami has a history of successful collection. New customers are subjected to a credit review process that evaluates
the customers’ financial position and ultimately their ability to pay. For Konami’s health and fitness clubs, the collectibility
of membership fees is assured as it generally charges members’ accounts one-month in advance.

Research and development expenses are charged to income as incurred. Research and development expenses included in
selling, general and administrative expenses amounted to ¥836 million, ¥861 million and ¥855 million ($7,113 thousand) for
the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed”, provides for
the capitalization of certain software development costs incurred after technological feasibility is established or for devel-
opment costs that have alternative future uses. Under Konami’s current practice of developing new game software prod-
ucts, technological feasibility is not established until substantially all development activities are complete, which generally
include the development of a working template and the related tools. For game products where a proven game engine
technology exists and other criteria supporting the technological feasibility of the game title in development have been
met, which include coding and testing of unique or unproven functions and features, Konami capitalizes these costs and
begins to expense them upon release of the product through cost of revenues or when they are deemed unrecoverable.

Konami pays royalties and license fees to professional sports organizations and certain other third parties for use of
their trade names. Minimum portions of such royalties and license fees paid up-front are recorded as prepaid royal-
ties and are expensed to cost of products sold over the contractual terms ranging primarily from 4 to 12 months.
Variable portions of such royalties and license fees, which are generally determined based on the number of copies
shipped at the predetermined royalty rates, are expensed to cost of products sold based on actual shipment.
Management periodically evaluates the future realizability of prepaid royalties and charges to income any amounts
deemed unlikely to be realized. Prepaid royalties amounted to ¥1,005 million and ¥984 million ($8,186 thousand) at
March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and were included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(n) Software Development
Costs

(o) Royalties and License
Fees
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Advertising expenses are charged to earnings as incurred and are included in Selling, general and administrative ex-
penses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Advertising expenses amounted to ¥6,572 million,
¥6,973 million and ¥10,284 million ($85,557 thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Konami accounts for its stock-based compensation plan to directors and employees using the intrinsic value based
method prescribed by APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 44,
“Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation an Interpretation of APB No. 25”. As such, compen-
sation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current fair value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise
price. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” allows companies to continue to apply the provi-
sions of APB No. 25, where applicable, and provide pro forma disclosure for employee stock option grants as if the fair
value based method defined in SFAS No. 123 had been applied. Konami has elected to continue to apply the provisions
of APB No. 25 for their stock-based compensation plans to directors and employees.

Had Konami determined compensation expense based on the fair value at the grant date for rights of stock-based
compensation plans under SFAS No. 123, Konami’s net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been
adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Reported net income (loss) ¥21,568 ¥11,402 ¥(28,519) $(237,263)
Add back: stock-based compensation expense under

intrinsic-value-based method, net of tax — — — —
Deduct: stock-based compensation expense under

fair-value-based method, net of tax (1) (8) (322) (2,679)
Pro forma net income (loss) ¥21,567 ¥11,394 ¥(28,841) $(239,942)

Yen U.S. Dollars

Per share data:
Reported net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted ¥189.04 ¥89.32 ¥(234.58) $(1.95)
Add back: stock-based compensation expense under

intrinsic-value-based method, net of tax — — — —
Deduct: stock-based compensation expense under

fair-value-based method, net of tax (0.01) (0.06) (2.65) (0.02)
Pro forma net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted ¥189.03 ¥89.26 ¥(237.23) $(1.97)

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compen-
sation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures
in both annual and interim financial statements. Certain of the disclosure modifications are required for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002 and are included here in.

The change in the Company’s proportionate share of subsidiary equity resulting from issuance of stock by the subsidiary
is accounted for as gain or loss, including the related income tax effect, in the period such shares are issued provided
the sale of such shares by the subsidiary is not a part of a broader corporate reorganization contemplated or planned by
the registrant, the value of the proceeds or other value received is objectively determinable and any resulting gains
reasonably assumed. If such criteria are not met, the issuance of stock is accounted for as a capital transaction in the
consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” requires classification of other comprehensive income in a financial
statement and display of other comprehensive income separately from retained earnings and additional paid-in capital.
Other comprehensive income includes primarily foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains (losses)
from marketable securities considered available-for-sale.

(p) Advertising Expenses

(q) Stock-based
Compensation

(r) Issuance of Stock by
Subsidiaries

(s) Comprehensive Income
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Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rates in effect as of the transaction
dates. The related foreign currency asset and liability balances are translated based on exchange rates prevailing at
each balance sheet date with the resulting gain/loss charged to income.

Assets and liabilities of a foreign subsidiary where the functional currency is other than Japanese yen are translated
into Japanese yen at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expense accounts are trans-
lated at average exchange rates during the current year. The resulting translation adjustments are included in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income.

Earnings per share (“EPS”) is presented in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.” Under
SFAS No. 128, basic EPS excludes dilution for potential common stock and is computed by dividing consolidated net
income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS reflects the effect of poten-
tial dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock. Diluted net income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted-average
number of shares plus additional shares that would be outstanding if potential dilutive shares had been issued.

Konami has no dilutive securities outstanding at March 31, 2002 and 2003, and therefore there is no difference
between basic and diluted EPS. Konami has certain stock subscription rights outstanding that will be potentially dilutive
in future periods. (See Note 16)

Preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management of Konami to make estimates and as-
sumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. There can
be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates.

Konami has identified four areas where it believes assumptions and estimates are particularly critical to the consoli-
dated financial statements. These are revenue recognition, accounting for software development costs, impairment on
long-lived and intangible assets, and realizability of deferred tax assets.

In June 2001, the FASB, issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 requires
that legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets be recorded as a liability and mea-
sured at fair value when those obligations are incurred if an estimate of fair value is possible. When a company initially
recognizes a liability for an asset retirement obligation, it must capitalize the cost by recognizing an increase in the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Konami adopted SFAS No. 143 on April 1, 2003 and the adoption did not
have a material effect on the results of operations and financial position.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS No. 145 provides for the rescission of several previously
issued accounting standards, new accounting guidance for the accounting for certain lease modifications and various
technical corrections that are not substantive in nature to existing pronouncements. Konami adopted SFAS No. 145 on
April 1, 2003, except for the provisions relating to the amendment of SFAS No.13, which was adopted for transactions
occurring subsequent to May 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on Konami’s
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”.
SFAS No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and
nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. This statement requires recog-
nition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred, as opposed to
when the entity commits to an exit plan under EITF No. 94-3. The provisions of this Statement are effective for exit or
disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application encouraged. The adoption of SFAS
No. 146 has not had a material effect on Konami’s consolidated financial statements.

(t) Translation of Foreign
Currencies

(u) Earnings Per Share

(v) Use of Estimates

(w) Recent Pronouncements
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In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and a
rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”. This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its
interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under guarantees issued. The Interpretation also clarifies that
a guarantor is required to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken.
The initial recognition and measurement provisions of the Interpretation are applicable to guarantees issued or modified
after December 31, 2002 and have not had a material effect on Konami’s consolidated financial statements. The disclosure
requirements are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. Konami
has not had a significant item to be disclosed under such requirements at March 31, 2003.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB
No. 51”. This Interpretation addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities as defined
in the Interpretation. The Interpretation applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest entities created
after January 31, 2003, and to variable interests in variable interest entities obtained after January 31, 2003. For nonpublic
enterprises with a variable interest in a variable interest entity created before February 1, 2003, the Interpretation is
applied to the enterprise no later than the end of the first annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2003. The
application of this Interpretation is not expected to have a material effect on Konami’s consolidated financial state-
ments. The Interpretation requires certain disclosures in financial statements issued after January 31, 2003 if it is
reasonably possible that variable interest entities will be consolidated or their information will be disclosed information
when the Interpretation becomes effective.

In February 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-02 (“EITF 03-02”), “Accounting for the Transfer to
the Japanese Government of the Substitutional Portion of Employee Pension Fund Liabilities.” This Issue provides a
consensus that Japanese employers should account for the entire separation process as a single settlement event upon
completion of the transfer to the Japanese government of the substitutional portion of the benefit obligations and
related plan assets. According to this consensus, the transfer is not viewed as a plan amendment unfavorable to em-
ployees. Furthermore, accounting recognition is done upon the actual transfer of the substitutional portion of the benefit
obligations and the related plan assets. Additionally, the EITF agreed that the resultant gain from the government
subsidy which is the difference between the fair value of the substitutional portion of the obligations transferred,
computed based on a market discount rate, and the amount of plan assets required to be transferred which the govern-
ment is to calculate, would be directly recognized as a gain or loss at settlement. The application of EITF 03-02 is not
expected to have any effect on Konami's consolidated financial statements, as it does not have such substitutional
portion subject to this consensus.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives) and for hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Except for certain provi-
sions, SFAS No. 149 is to be applied prospectively to contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and to
hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. Konami is in the process of determining the impact, if any, that
the adoption of SFAS No. 149 will have on its results of operations and financial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Financial Statement on Certain Financial Instruments with Character-
istics of Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 changes the accounting for certain financial instruments with character-
istics of both liabilities and equity that, under previous guidance, could be classified as equity, by now requiring those
instruments to be classified as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) in the statement of financial position.
Further, SFAS No. 150 requires disclosure regarding the terms of those instruments and settlement alternatives. SFAS
No. 150 is generally to be applied to all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and is
otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No.
150 is not expected to have a material effect on Konami’s results of operations and financial position.
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2. Acquisitions

Konami has acquired varying interests in subsidiaries during the periods presented. Konami has used the purchase
method of accounting for all such acquisitions and, accordingly, has allocated the purchase price based on the esti-
mated fair value of net assets of the acquired companies. Such companies have been included in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements since the dates of acquisition.

In February 2002, Konami acquired 82.17% of the issued and outstanding shares of Daiei Olympic Sports Club, Inc. for
the total cash consideration of ¥3,604 million including direct acquisition costs through a subsidiary, Konami Sports
Corporation (“Konami Sports”) discussed (b) below. The acquired company was a non-public health and fitness club
operator in Japan and a subsidiary of The Daiei Inc., and then renamed Konami Olympic Sports Club Corporation (“KOSC”).
The acquisition of KOSC was made for the purpose of expanding the health and fitness club operation of Konami Sports.
KOSC was subsequently merged into Konami Sports in October 2002.

Konami used the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of KOSC, and accordingly, the pur-
chase price has been allocated to the tangible and intangible net assets of KOSC based on the estimated fair value of
such net assets. The amount of consideration paid in excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired of
¥1,647 million was recorded as goodwill as a result of preliminary purchase price allocation at the time of acquisition
which was then adjusted to ¥1,443 million in connection with the finalization of purchase price allocation during the
year ended March 31, 2003. Such adjustment of goodwill resulted from the reassessment of KOSC’s accrued pension
cost due to its withdrawal from the former shareholder group’s welfare pension fund in June 2002 for its transfer to the
fund which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries have participated. Management of Konami believe that the solid
growth history and potential of KOSC contributed to the purchase price that resulted in recognition of such goodwill.
Assets, liabilities and operations of KOSC have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since
the acquisition date.

The following table reflects the February 28, 2002 condensed balance sheet of KOSC, as adjusted to give effect to
the purchase method accounting adjustments:

Millions of Yen

Cash, receivables and other assets ¥7,601
Property and equipment 4,607
Identifiable intangible assets 1,596
Goodwill 1,443
Debt and capital lease obligations (6,257)
Minority interest (442)
Other liabilities (4,944)

¥3,604

Identifiable intangible assets of KOSC include intangible assets related to trademarks of ¥767 million and member-
ship lists of ¥829 million acquired. Intangible assets related to trademarks are determined to have an indefinite useful
life while membership lists are estimated to have a useful life of 2 years. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of KOSC
has all been allocated to the Exercise Entertainment (former Health and Fitness) segment of Konami.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined results of operations for Konami are prepared assuming
that the foregoing acquisition was completed as of the beginning of the respective period in which the acquisition
occurred, as well as of the beginning of the immediately preceding period. This pro forma condensed combined financial
information does not purport to represent what Konami’s results of operations would actually have been if such trans-
action had in fact occurred on such dates. The pro forma adjustments are based upon available information and upon
certain assumptions that management believes are reasonable, and include amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets with an indefinite life that ceased upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on April 1, 2002.

(a) Konami Olympic Sports
Club
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Millions of Yen, except for
per shares data

(Unaudited) 2001 2002

Net revenues ¥184,609 ¥238,070
Net income 21,400 10,780
Basic and diluted net income per share 187.56 84.45

In February 2001, Konami acquired 54.64% of the issued and outstanding shares of People Co., Ltd., a public company
and a large health and fitness club operator in Japan, in a tender offer for the total cash consideration of ¥69,415 million
including direct acquisition costs. The acquired company was then renamed Konami Sports Corporation. The acquisition
of Konami Sports was made for the purpose of starting up a health and fitness related business line by obtaining a
controlling interest in a large, established health and fitness club operator in Japan. The purchase price was determined
based on the market value of stock of the acquired company adjusted for the control premium. Konami used the pur-
chase method of accounting to account for the acquisition, and, accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to
the tangible and intangible net assets of Konami Sports using an independent, third-party appraisal. The amount of
consideration paid in excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired of ¥37,064 million was recorded as
goodwill in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Management of Konami believed that the significant mar-
ket presence of Konami Sports, as well as its solid growth history and potential, contributed to the purchase price that
resulted in recognition of such goodwill. Assets, liabilities and operations of Konami Sports have been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date.

The following table reflects the February 28, 2001 condensed balance sheet of Konami Sports, as adjusted to give
effect to the purchase method accounting adjustments:

Millions of Yen

Cash, receivables and other assets ¥26,200
Property and equipment 18,000
Identifiable intangible assets 62,148
Goodwill 37,064
Debt and capital lease obligations (6,911)
Minority interest (26,965)
Other liabilities (40,121)

¥69,415

Identifiable intangible assets of Konami Sports include intangible assets related to trademarks of ¥50,277 million,
membership lists of ¥5,086 million and franchise contracts of ¥6,785 million acquired. Intangible assets related to
trademarks and franchise contracts are determined to have an indefinite useful life while membership lists are esti-
mated to have a useful life of 2 years. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Konami Sports has all been allocated to
the Exercise Entertainment (former Health and Fitness) segment of Konami.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined results of operations for Konami are prepared assuming
that the foregoing acquisition was completed as of the beginning of the respective period in which the acquisition
occurred. This pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to represent what Konami’s results
of operations would actually have been if such transaction had in fact occurred on such date. The pro forma adjustments
are based upon available information and upon certain assumptions that management believes are reasonable, and
include amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life that ceased upon the adoption of SFAS No.
142 on April 1, 2002.

Millions of Yen,
except for

per shares data

(Unaudited) 2001

Net revenues ¥224,866
Net income 19,140
Basic and diluted net income per share 167.76

(b) Konami Sports
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As more fully discussed in Note 7, Konami recognized an aggregate non-cash impairment charge of ¥47,599 million
($395,998 thousand) for goodwill and certain intangible assets in the Exercise Entertainment segment as a result of the
annual assessment under SFAS No. 142 during the fourth quarter ended March 31, 2003.

3. Investments in Affiliates

Konami has acquired varying interests in affiliated companies during the periods presented. The carrying amount of invest-
ments in affiliates as of March 31, 2002 and 2003 is ¥13,459 million and ¥12,422 million ($103,345 thousand), respectively,
and includes ¥5,016 million and ¥2,576 million ($21,431 thousand), respectively, of the excess cost of investments over the
Company’s equity in net assets of the affiliates (“equity method goodwill”). Equity method goodwill acquired prior to June
30, 2001 has been amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years through April 1, 2002, the adoption date of SFAS No.
142, while the equity method goodwill acquired after June 30, 2001 has not been subject to amortization according to the
provisions of SFAS No. 142. Under SFAS No. 142, equity method goodwill is not amortized but continues to be reviewed for
impairment in accordance with APB No. 18, which requires an other than temporary decline in value of an investment to be
recognized as an impairment loss. All significant intercompany profits from these affiliates have been eliminated according
to the equity method of accounting.

At March 31, 2003, Konami held investments in the equity method affiliates as follows:

Description of business Acquisition Date Ownership %

Takara Co., Ltd. (“Takara”) Toy manufacturer July 2000 23.0%
Hudson Soft Co., Ltd. (“Hudson”) Game software producer August 2001 45.5%
Genki Co., Ltd. (“Genki”) Game software producer January 2002 37.2%

Considering the flagging economy and stock market in Japan during the year ended March 31, 2003, Konami re-
viewed the values of its equity method investments in order to determine if there was any other-than-temporary decline
in the investment values. In performing the assessment, Konami utilized cash flow projections, market capitalization
and if applicable, independent valuations.

As a result, Konami determined that the decline in value of its investment in Hudson Soft Co., Ltd. was other than
temporary and recorded a net-of-tax impairment charge of ¥2,438 million ($20,283 thousand) for the year ended March
31, 2003. The impairment charge is included in equity in net loss of affiliated companies in the accompanying consoli-
dated statement of operations.

Condensed financial information of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates at March 31, 2002 and 2003 and for
each of the three years ended March 31, 2003 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Combined Financial Position:
Property and equipment, net ¥  8,351 ¥10,026 $  83,411
Other assets, net 62,349 70,040 582,695

Total assets 70,700 80,066 666,106
Debt 23,055 28,572 237,704
Other liabilities 15,989 18,316 152,378
Minority interest 455 672 5,591
Shareholders’ equity 31,201 32,506 270,433

Total liabilities and equity ¥  70,700 ¥80,066 $666,106
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Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Combined Operations:
Sales ¥54,073 ¥75,020 ¥100,634 $837,221
Cost of revenues 40,131 52,284 67,379 560,557
Selling, general and administrative expenses 11,969 21,562 27,093 225,399

Operating income 1,973 1,174 6,162 51,265
Interest expense, net (25) (272) (409) (3,403)
Other, net (449) 2,443 (57) (474)

Net income ¥  1,499 ¥  3,345 ¥    5,696 $  47,388

The Company’s share of undistributed earnings of affiliated companies included in consolidated retained earnings
was earnings of ¥491 million and ¥1,637 million ($13,619 thousand) as of March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Affiliated companies accounted for under the equity method with an aggregate carrying amount of ¥12,708 million
and ¥11,536 million ($95,973 thousand) as of March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, were traded on established mar-
kets and were quoted at an aggregate value of ¥23,336 million and ¥18,252 million ($151,847 thousand) as of March 31,
2002 and 2003, respectively.

4. Inventories

Inventories at March 31, 2002 and 2003 consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Finished products ¥  4,136 ¥  3,344 $   27,820
Work in process 9,566 8,967 74,601
Raw materials and supplies 2,288 1,048 8,719

Total ¥15,990 ¥13,359 $111,140

5. Marketable and Investment Securities

Marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2002 and 2003 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

2002

Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized

Cost gains losses Fair value

Available-for-sale:
Marketable equity securities ¥191 ¥6 ¥107 ¥  90
Other securities 200 – 86 114

Total ¥391 ¥6 ¥193 ¥204

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2003 2003

Gross Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized unrealized

Cost gains losses Fair value Cost gains losses Fair value

Available-for-sale:
Marketable equity securities ¥119 ¥  1 ¥ 15 ¥105 $   990 $  8 $125 $   873
Other securities 84 — — 84 699 — — 699

Total ¥203 ¥  1 ¥ 15 ¥189 $1,689 $  8 $125 $1,572
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7. Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Konami evaluated the recoverability of goodwill on its books under SFAS No. 142 at its adoption on April 1, 2002 and
again in the forth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. In both instances, Konami engaged an independent
appraiser to assist management in its determination of the fair values of its reporting units. In its determination of the
fair values, the appraiser primarily utilized a discounted cash flow analysis as well as other valuation approaches
including the stock price and market capitalization of the acquired entity and asset and liability structure of the reporting
units. Significant assumptions used in this analysis included 1) expected future revenue growth rates, profit margins
and working capital levels of the reporting units, 2) a discount rate, and 3) a terminal value multiples. The revenue
growth rates, profit margins and working capital levels of the reporting units were based on management’s expectation
of future results. In evaluating the recoverability of other intangible assets which were allocated to the reporting units,
Konami primarily utilized a discounted cash flow analysis as well as other applicable valuation approaches, and if
applicable, independent valuations.

At the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on April 1, 2002, Konami completed its transitional impairment assessment for
goodwill and other intangible assets based on their fair value. Based on management’s assessment of the circum-
stances, considering the independent appraiser’s findings, Konami concluded that there was no impairment in the
carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life.

In the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, however, using the same methodologies and again
considering the independent appraiser’s findings, Konami determined that the fair value of the Exercise Entertainment
reporting unit was lower than the carrying value. As a result of the subsequent reassessment of fair values of goodwill
and other intangible assets which were allocated to the reporting unit, an aggregate non-cash impairment charge of
¥47,599 million ($395,998 thousand) was recognized for these intangible assets as a component of operating loss in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2003. The impairment charge con-
sisted of ¥36,717 million ($305,466 thousand) for goodwill and ¥10,882 million ($90,532 thousand) for trademarks.
These impairment losses were attributed to the reporting unit’s failure to meet previous growth expectations as a result
of negative trends in general economic condition of domestic Japan.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment for the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2003
are as follows:

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at March 31, 2002 and 2003 consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Property and equipment, at cost:
Land ¥   7,797 ¥ 11,541 $   96,015
Buildings and structures 52,733 54,504 453,444
Tools, furniture and fixtures 24,802 22,852 190,116
Construction in progress 175 322 2,679

Total 85,507 89,219 742,254
Less-Accumulated depreciation (41,945) (42,935) (357,196)

Net property and equipment ¥ 43,562 ¥ 46,284 $ 385,058

Depreciation expense for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted to ¥4,124 million, ¥7,688
million and ¥7,768 million ($64,626 thousand), respectively.
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Millions of Yen

Exercise
Entertainment Gaming Total

Balance at April 1, 2001 ¥  36,913  — ¥  36,913
Additional acquisitions during year (Note 10) 1,647 ¥125 1,772
Amortization during year (1,860) — (1,860)
Balance at March 31, 2002 ¥  36,700 ¥125 ¥  36,825
Additional acquisitions during year 389 — 389
Effect of a merger between acquired entities (168) — (168)
Post-acquisition adjustment (204) —  (204)
Impairment charge (36,717) — (36,717)

Balance at March 31, 2003 ¥        — ¥125 ¥      125

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Exercise
Entertainment Gaming Total

Balance at March 31, 2002 $  305,324 $1,040 $  306,364
Additional acquisitions during year 3,236 —  3,236
Effect of a merger between acquired entities (1,397) — (1,397)
Post-acquisition adjustment (1,697) — (1,697)
Impairment charge (305,466) — (305,466)

Balance at March 31, 2003 $          — $1,040 $     1,040

Konami acquired additional shares of Konami Sports and KOSC during the year ended March 31, 2002 and 2003. As
a result, additional goodwill was recorded at the Exercise Entertainment segment for the excess cost over the estimated
fair value of the additional net assets acquired. The post-acquisition adjustment for goodwill resulted from a decrease
in accrued pension cost of KOSC as a result of its withdrawal from the former shareholder group’s welfare pension fund
in June 2002. (See Note 2)

Effect of a merger between acquired entities above represents a reduction in goodwill in the Exercise Entertainment
segment of ¥168 million ($1,397 thousand) due to a merger between acquired subsidiaries, Konami Sports and KOSC in
October 2002.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, accumulated amortization for goodwill at March 31, 2002 amounted to ¥2,011 million.
Identifiable intangible assets at March 31, 2002 and 2003 primarily representing intangible assets acquired in con-

nection with acquisitions of subsidiaries consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Identifiable intangible assets subject to amortization:
Membership lists ¥  5,915 ¥  5,915 $  49,210
Existing technology 800 721 5,998
Customer relationships 93 84 699
Total 6,808 6,720 55,907
Less-Accumulated amortization (3,177) (5,878) (48,902)

Net amortized identifiable intangible assets  3,631  842  7,005
Identifiable intangible assets with an indefinite life:

Trademarks 49,682 38,800 322,795
Franchise contracts 6,601 6,601 54,917
Gaming licenses 255 260 2,163

Total unamortized identifiable intangible assets  56,538  45,661  379,875

Total identifiable intangible assets ¥60,169 ¥46,503 $386,880
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8. Lease Deposits

Lease deposits at March 31, 2002 and 2003 representing refundable deposits for office and facility leases, primarily
related to health and fitness clubs of Konami Sports, consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Lease deposits ¥28,791 ¥28,626 $238,153
Less: Allowances for uncollectible amounts (4,137) (4,137) (34,417)

Lease deposits, net ¥24,654 ¥24,489 $203,736

During the year ended March 31, 2002, Konami provided an allowance for uncollectible amounts for deposits related
to certain facility leases of Konami Sports that were considered to be uncollectible due to a bankruptcy of the lessor.

The aggregate amortization expense for identifiable intangible assets for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003 was ¥350 million, ¥4,373 million and ¥2,701 million ($22,471 thousand), respectively. The estimated amortization
expense for the following years is as follows:

Thousands of
Year ending March 31 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2004 ¥504 $4,193
2005 144 1,198
2006 144 1,198
2007 50 416
2008 — —

The following table represents the impact of SFAS No. 142 on net income and net income per share previously
reported for the year ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, had the statement been in effect on April 1, 2000:

Millions of Yen

2001 2002

Reported net income ¥21,568 ¥11,402
Add back:

Goodwill amortization 151 1,853
Intangible assets amortization, net of tax 38 452
Goodwill amortization related to equity method affiliates 79 181
Intangible assets amortization related to equity method affiliates, net of tax 6 9

Adjusted net income ¥21,842 ¥13,897

Yen

2001 2002

Per share data:
Reported net income per share, basic and diluted ¥189.04 ¥89.32
Add back:

Goodwill amortization 1.33 14.52
Intangible assets amortization, net of tax 0.33 3.54
Goodwill amortization related to equity method affiliates 0.69 1.42
Intangible assets amortization related to equity method affiliates, net of tax 0.05 0.07

Adjusted net income per share, basic and diluted ¥191.44 ¥108.87
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9. Other Assets

Other assets at March 31, 2002 and 2003, consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Capitalized computer software, net ¥2,639 ¥  2,401 $ 19,975
Investments in non-marketable securities 1,556 1,399 11,639
Other 2,968 7,733 64,334

Total other assets ¥7,163 ¥11,533 $95,948

Amortization expense of capitalized computer software and intangible assets included in costs of products sold,
costs of services rendered and selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of operations for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted to ¥482 million, ¥1,539 million
and ¥1,510 million ($12,562 thousand), respectively.

10. Related Party Transactions

Konami engages in sale and purchase transactions in the normal course of business with its equity method affiliates.
Such transactions for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are summarized as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Sales to Takara — ¥1,458 ¥   958 $  7,970
Purchases from Takara ¥28 2,121 2,168 18,037
Sales to Hudson — 36 12 100
Purchases from Hudson — 3,061 5,009 41,672
Sales to Genki — — 3 25
Purchases from Genki — — 648 5,391

The related notes and accounts receivable from Takara were ¥594 million and ¥74 million ($616 thousand) at March
31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and were included in Trade notes and accounts receivable in the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheets. The related notes and accounts payable to Takara were ¥83 million and ¥27 million ($225
thousand) at March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and were included in Trade notes and accounts payable in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The related accounts receivable from Hudson were ¥2 million and ¥2 mil-
lion ($17 thousand) at March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and were included in Trade notes and accounts receivable
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The related accounts payable to Hudson was ¥104 million and ¥344
million ($2,862 thousand) at March 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and were included in Trade notes and accounts
payable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The related accounts receivable from Genki were ¥2 million
($17 thousand) at March 31, 2003 and were included in Trade notes and accounts receivable in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The related accounts payable to Genki was ¥355 million ($2,953 thousand) at March 31,
2003 and were included in Trade notes and accounts payable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In October 2001, Konami acquired, based on an approval by its board of directors, 100% equity interest in Konami
Australia Pty. Ltd. (“Konami Australia”) for 27.2 million Australian dollars (¥1,662 million) from its sole owner who was,
and currently is, the CEO and major shareholder of Konami. Konami Australia was established in November 1996 for
manufacturing and sales of Konami gaming machines in Australia, and has obtained the licenses to sell and service
gaming machines in Australia, as well as similar licenses in South Africa.
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11. Short-term Borrowings and Long-term Debt

A summary of short-term borrowings at March 31, 2002 and 2003 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Unsecured bank loans consisting of notes to banks and bank overdrafts with
interest rates ranging from 0.62% to 3.015% and from 0.56% to 2.358% per annum
at March 31, 2002 and 2003 ¥10,948 ¥8,308 $69,118

Total ¥10,948 ¥8,308 $69,118

Weighted-average interest rate on short-term borrowings was 1.08% and 1.05% at March 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. Those unsecured short-term bank loans included loans denominated in foreign currencies amounting to
$13,740 thousand (¥1,831 million) at March 31, 2002 and $13,375 thousand (¥1,608 million) at March 31, 2003.

A summary of long-term debt at March 31, 2002 and 2003 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Unsecured 0.70% per annum bonds due in September 2005 ¥15,000 ¥15,000 $124,792
Unsecured 0.92% per annum bonds due in September 2006 15,000 15,000 124,792
Unsecured 1.05% per annum bonds due in September 2007 15,000 15,000 124,792
Unsecured 1.18% per annum bonds issued by Konami Sports due in December 2006 — 5,000 41,597
Unsecured 1.25% per annum bonds issued by Konami Sports due in December 2007 — 5,000 41,597
Unsecured 1.39% per annum bonds issued by Konami Sports due in December 2008 — 5,000 41,597
Unsecured loans from banks due serially to 2005 with interest rates ranging from

1.46% to 3.64% and from 1.46% to 1.68% per annum at March 31, 2002 and 2003 2,838 540 4,494
Total long-term debt 47,838 60,540 503,661

Less: current portion (2,585) (40) (333)
Long-term debt, non-current portion ¥45,253 ¥60,500 $503,328

Unsecured long-term loans from banks included loans denominated in U.S. dollars amounting to $2,400 thousand
(¥320 million) at March 31, 2002 while Konami did not have any long-term loans denominated in foreign currencies at
March 31, 2003. At March 31, 2002 and 2003, Konami did not have any assets that were pledged as collateral for any of
the debt obligations.

Konami had unused committed lines of credit amounting to ¥12,000 million ($99,834 thousand) with certain financial
institutions at March 31, 2002 and 2003. The aggregate commitment fee paid for such credit line agreements for the years
ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted to ¥20 million, ¥18 million and ¥18 million ($149 thousand), respectively.

Konami used the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of Konami Australia, and accordingly,
the purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible net assets of Konami Australia based on the estimated
fair value of such assets. The amount of consideration paid in excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets
acquired of ¥125 million has been recorded as goodwill. Management of Konami believes that the growth potential of
Konami Australia in the Australian gaming industry have contributed to the purchase price that has resulted in recogni-
tion of such goodwill. The Konami Australia assets, liabilities and operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since the acquisition date. Pro forma financial information has not been presented as the effects of
the acquisition were not significant to Konami’s results of operations.
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12. Leases

Konami is obligated under various capital leases and noncancelable operating leases which expire at various dates
during the next 20 years.

At March 31, 2002 and 2003, the amounts of assets and related accumulated depreciation included in property and
equipment on the consolidated balance sheet recorded under capital leases were as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Tools, furniture and fixtures, at cost ¥10,564 ¥ 8,760 $ 72,879
Accumulated depreciation (5,763) (4,710) (39,185)
Net leased property ¥  4,801 ¥ 4,050 $ 33,694

Amortization of capitalized leases is included in depreciation expense.
Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases as of March 31, 2003 are

as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

Capital Operating Capital Operating
Leases Leases Leases Leases

Year ending March 31
2004 ¥1,884 ¥  2,570 $15,674 $   21,381
2005 1,299 2,530 10,807 21,048
2006 959 2,449 7,978 20,374
2007 648 2,296 5,391 19,102
2008 199 2,144 1,656 17,837
Thereafter 21 18,878 175 157,055

Total minimum lease payments 5,010 ¥30,867 41,681 $256,797
Less: amount representing interest

(rates ranging from 1.548% to 7.584% per annum) 221 1,839

Present value of net minimum lease payments 4,789 39,842
Less: current portion 1,775 14,767

Non-current portion ¥3,014 $25,075

Current and non-current portions of minimum leases payments for capital leases are included in current and non-
current portions of long-term debt, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Konami occupies certain offices and lease equipment under cancelable lease arrange-ments. Rental expenses for all
operating leases for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 totaled ¥1,216 million, ¥14,361 million and ¥16,439
million ($136,764 thousand), respectively, and were included in costs of products sold, costs of services rendered and
selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding at March 31, 2003 are as follows:

Thousands of
Year ending March 31 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2004 ¥       40 $       333
2005 500 4,161
2006 15,000 124,792
2007 20,000 166,389
2008 20,000 166,389
Thereafter 5,000 41,597
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13. Gain on Sale of Subsidiary Shares

In August 2000, Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo, Inc. (“Konami TYO”), a consolidated subsidiary, completed its
initial public offering in Japan. In such offering, Konami TYO issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of ¥3,030 per
share, which was in excess of the Company’s carrying amount of Konami TYO shares. As a result of such share issu-
ance, the Company’s interest in Konami TYO decreased from 85.0% to 69.6%, resulting in recognition of a gain of
¥3,948 million which was included in gain on sale of subsidiary shares in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended March 31, 2001.

In February 2002, Konami Computer Entertainment Japan, Inc. (“Konami JPN”), a consolidated subsidiary, com-
pleted its initial public offering in Japan. In such offering, Konami JPN issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of
¥3,572 per share, which was in excess of the Company’s carrying amount of Konami JPN shares. As a result of such
share issuance, the Company’s interest in Konami JPN decreased from 78.8% to 62.4%, resulting in recognition of a
gain of ¥3,526 million which was included in gain on sale of subsidiary shares in the accompanying consolidated state-
ment of operations for the year ended March 31, 2002.

During the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company sold a portion of shares of Konami TYO for ¥1,797 million in the
market. The sale resulted in a gain of ¥1,129 million. As a result of the sale of such shares, the Company’s interest in
Konami TYO decreased from 69.6% to 62.1%.

In May 2002, Konami entered into an agreement to sell its amusement facility operation business, which consisted
of 18 amusement facilities and was a part of the Other segment, to a third-party purchaser. Revenue from such business
for the year ended March 31, 2002 was ¥6,779 million, representing approximately 3% of the total consolidated revenue
of Konami for the year. All respective assets and liabilities of the amusement facility operation business were trans-
ferred to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Konami, KAO Co., Ltd., which was established to facilitate the sale. The sale was
closed on May 31, 2002 for ¥2,239 million ($18,627 thousand), resulting in recognition of a gain of ¥552 million ($4,592
thousand) in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2003.

14. Income Taxes

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to a national corporate tax of 30% and the local income tax rate
of 12%, net of national tax benefit, which in the aggregate resulted in a statutory income tax rate of approximately 42%
for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. On March 24, 2003, Japanese Diet approved the Amendments to
Local Tax Law, which will reduce the standard tax rates for the income-based business tax, as well as add business tax
based on corporate size, effective for the years beginning on or after April 1, 2004. Consequently, the statutory income
tax rate will be reduced to approximately 40% effective for the years beginning on or after April 1, 2004, which is used
to provide deferred tax assets and liabilities for the temporary differences that are expected to reverse in the years
under the reduced rate.

The income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity in income (loss) of affiliates companies (“Income
(loss) before income taxes”) and income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
consisted of the following:
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Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Income (loss) before income taxes:
Japanese ¥31,854 ¥ (8,134) ¥(74,791) $(622,221)
Foreign 8,981 30,812 52,695 438,394

¥40,835 ¥22,678 ¥(22,096) $(183,827)
Income taxes —Current:

Japanese ¥20,743 ¥15,505 ¥1 3,649 $ 113,552
Foreign 159 1,771 1,263 10,508

¥20,902 ¥17,276 ¥ 14,912 $ 124,060
Income taxes —Deferred:

Japanese ¥ (1,699) ¥ (5,609) ¥  (8,726) $  (72,596)
Foreign — — — —

¥ (1,699) ¥ (5,609) ¥  (8,726) $  (72,596)

The significant components of income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Income taxes on continuing operations before minority interest and equity
in net income (loss) of affiliated companies ¥19,203 ¥11,667 ¥5,531 $46,015

Provision for income tax on investments in affiliated companies — — 655 5,449
Income tax expense (benefit) reported on other comprehensive income related to:

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities (19) (135) 73 608
Income taxes before minority interest and equity in net income (loss) of

affiliated companies ¥19,184 ¥11,532 ¥6,259 $52,072

Reconciliations of the differences between the statutory tax rates and the effective tax rates are as follows:

2001 2002 2003

Statutory tax rate 42.0% 42.0% (42.0)%
Increase (reduction) in taxes resulting from:
Non-deductible expenses 2.0 3.5 4.2
Amortization / Impairment of goodwill 0.1 3.6 69.8
Change in Valuation allowance 3.0 3.1 (5.3)
Change in income tax rate — — (1.7)
Provision for investments in affiliates — — 3.0
Other — net (0.1) (0.7) (0.0)

Effective income tax rate 47.0% 51.5% 28.0%
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The effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2002 and 2003
are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued enterprise taxes ¥   1,100 ¥   1,205 $   10,025
Accrued expenses 753 2,393 19,909
Liability for retirement benefits 1,538 1,290 10,732
Allowance for doubtful accounts 3,066 2,807 23,353
Inventories 6,762 9,125 75,915
Net operating loss carryforwards 7,390 6,283 52,271
Property and equipment basis differences 1,418 1,021 8,494
Other 1,112 1,355 11,273

Gross deferred tax assets 23,139 25,479 211,972
Less valuation allowance (9,232) (7,988) (66,456)
Total deferred tax assets 13,907 17,491 145,516

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (24,922) (18,693) (155,516)
Gain on sales of subsidiary shares (3,588) (3,477) (28,927)
Investments in affiliates — (655) (5,449)
Other (422) (700) (5,823)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (28,932) (23,525) (195,715)
Net deferred tax liabilities ¥(15,025) ¥  (6,034) $  (50,199)

A valuation allowance is provided to reduce certain deferred tax assets with respect to certain deductible temporary
differences and net operating loss carryforwards. Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for
future taxable income over the periods in which the net deductible temporary differences are expected to reverse,
management believes it is more likely than not that Konami will realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets, net of the
existing valuation allowance, at March 31, 2003. The net changes in the total valuation allowance for the years ended
March 31, 2002 and 2003 were increase of ¥1,886 million and decrease of ¥1,244 million ($10,349 thousand), respectively.

Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income taxes of the countries in which they operate. At March 31, 2002 and 2003,
no deferred tax liabilities were recognized for undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries aggregating ¥7,034 million
and ¥8,422 ($70,067 thousand), respectively, because Konami currently does not intend to repatriate such earnings and/
or believes no material additional tax would result should they be repatriated to Konami.

At March 31, 2003, certain domestic subsidiaries had operating loss carryforwards aggregating approximately ¥2,018
million ($16,788 thousand), which expire as follows:

Thousands of
Year ending March 31 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2004 ¥   106 $     882
2005 — —
2006 338 2,812
2007 363 3,020
2008 1,211 10,074

Total ¥2,018 $16,788

U.S. subsidiaries had federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately ¥14,040 million ($116,805
thousand) and ¥10,939 million ($91,007 thousand), respectively, which expire in varying amounts through the year 2021.

As the Company does not file a consolidated tax return by a parent company in Japan, certain portions of the above
loss carryforwards may not be realizable.
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15. Severance and Retirement Plans

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit severance and retirement plans covering their employ-
ees. The plans provide, under most circumstances, retirement benefits and lump-sum severance payments to the em-
ployees determined by reference to their rate of pay at the time of termination, years of service and certain other
factors. Konami also has a fixed annual compensation system under which employees are to receive all compensation
currently during their employment, thereby eliminating separate severance and retirement benefits upon their termina-
tion or retirement. Employees become eligible to participate in such compensation system generally after three years of
service. An eligible employee can make an election either to remain in the defined benefit plans or to withdraw from the
plans and enroll under such system.

Net periodic cost of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries’ plans accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87
for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 included the following components:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Service cost – benefits earned during the year ¥178 ¥345 ¥324 $2,696
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 24 83 79 657
Expected return on plan assets (69) (94) (53) (441)
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss (12) (7) 7 58
Amortization of prior service cost — — (14) (116)
Net periodic cost ¥121 ¥327 ¥343 $2,854

The reconciliations of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations of the Company and its domestic
subsidiaries’ plans accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning of year ¥ 2,982 ¥ 3,305 $27,496
Service cost 345 324 2,696
Interest cost 83 79 657
Effect of acquisition 23 49 407
Actuarial gain (60) (204) (1,697)
Amendments — (164) (1,364)
Benefits paid (68) (72) (599)
Benefit obligation, end of year ¥ 3,305 ¥ 3,317 $27,596

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year ¥ 2,107 ¥ 2,006 $16,689
Actual return on plan assets (359) (279) (2,321)
Employer contribution 282 561 4,667
Benefits paid (24) (29) (241)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 2,006 2,259 18,794

Funded status (1,299) (1,058) (8,802)
Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) 178 299 2,488
Unrecognized prior service cost — (150) (1,248)

Net amount recognized ¥(1,121) ¥   (909) $ (7,562)



75

2001 2002 2003

Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate 3.3% 2.9% 1.9%
Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 2.6% 2.4% 3.1%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 4.7% 4.7% 2.7%

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have participated in the welfare pension fund for the computer industry
association, a multi-employer contributory plan, since its establishment in October 1989. Konami’s contributions to the
plan amounted to ¥445 million, ¥545 million and ¥929 ($7,729 thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively, and were recorded as costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have accrued the liability for retirement benefits for their directors and
corporate auditors in the amount of ¥1,486 million and ¥1,436 million ($11,947 thousand) at March 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, which is included in Accrued pension and severance costs in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

16. Shareholders’ Equity

Dividends
Under the Japanese Commercial Code (the “Code”), the amount available for dividends is based on retained earnings as
recorded on the books of the Company maintained in conformity with Japanese GAAP. Certain adjustments not re-
corded on the Company’s books are reflected in the consolidated financial statements for reasons described in Note 1.
At March 31, 2003, the retained earnings available for dividends determined in accordance with Japanese GAAP re-
corded on the Company’s books of account was ¥8,439 million ($70,208 thousand).

The Code, as amended effective October 1, 2001, provides that earnings in an amount equal to at least 10% of
appropriations of retained earnings that are paid in cash shall be appropriated as a legal reserve until an aggregated
amount of capital surplus and the legal reserve equals 25% of stated capital.

Stock Split
On May 19, 2000, the Company completed a 2-for-1 stock split by means of a free share issuance and issued 56,868,783
shares to the shareholders of record on March 31, 2000. Accordingly, the historical number of common shares outstand-
ing, the number of common shares issued, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and per share
data in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted giving effect to such stock split.

Stock-based Compensation Plan
On June 27, 1997, the Company’s shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and the grant of subscription
rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 34,000 common shares to the Company’s 10 directors and an aggregate of
up to 76,000 shares to 151 employees at an exercise price of ¥1,565 per share. These subscription rights were exercis-
able from April 1, 1998 through March 31, 2001. Konami accounted for the subscription rights according to APB No. 25
and FIN No. 44 and recorded no compensation expense as there was no intrinsic value to the subscription rights at the
date of grant. All subscription rights had been exercised, including 30,000 shares during the years ended March 31,
2001, prior to their expiration.

On June 29, 2000, the board of directors and shareholders of Konami Computer Entertainment Osaka, Inc. (“Konami
OSA”) approved a subscription-rights option plan and the grant of subscription rights for directors and employees of
Konami OSA (“OSA Plan 2000”) exercisable for an aggregate of up to 47,250 shares at an exercise price of ¥1,160 per
share. Subscription rights for 47,250 ordinary shares were granted under OSA Plan 2000. Those subscription rights will
vest on August 4, 2003 and will expire on August 2, 2005. During the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, 3,750
shares, 5,250 shares and 4,250 shares, respectively, expired under OSA Plan 2000. Konami OSA completed a 2.5-for-1
stock split by means of a free share issuance on May 20, 2002. The above information reflects the effect from the stock split.
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On June 28, 2001, Konami TYO’s board of directors and shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and
the grant of subscription rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 113,300 ordinary shares of Konami TYO at an
exercise price of ¥1,779 per share to directors and employees of Konami TYO (“TYO Plan 2001”). Subscription rights for
105,050 ordinary shares were granted under TYO Plan 2001. Those subscription rights will vest in four installments
beginning on July 1, 2004 through April 1, 2006 and will expire on June 30, 2006. During the year ended March 31, 2003,
2,200 shares expired under TYO Plan. Konami TYO declared 10% stock dividends on May 20, 2002. The above informa-
tion reflects the effect from the stock dividends.

On June 18, 2002, Konami OSA’s board of directors and shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and
the grant of subscription rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 72,200 ordinary shares of Konami OSA at an
exercise price of ¥1,182 per share to directors and employees of Konami OSA (“OSA Plan 2002”). Subscription rights for
72,200 shares were granted under OSA Plan 2002. Those subscription rights will vest on July 1, 2005 and will expire on
June 30, 2007. None of those subscription rights have expired under OSA Plan 2002.

On June 19, 2002, Konami TYO’s board of directors and shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and
the grant of subscription rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 47,300 ordinary shares of Konami TYO at an
exercise price of ¥1,670 per share to directors and employees of Konami TYO (“TYO Plan 2002”). Subscription rights for
47,300 shares were granted under the TYO Plan 2002. Those subscription rights will vest in four installments beginning
on July 1, 2005 through April 1, 2007 and will expire on March 31, 2006 through June 30, 2007. None of those subscrip-
tion rights have expired under TYO Plan 2002.

On June 20, 2002, the Company’s shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and the grant of subscrip-
tion rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 2,200,000 common shares to Konami’s directors and employees at an
exercise price of ¥3,640 per share (“Parent Plan 2002”). Subscription rights for 1,787,900 shares were granted under
Parent Plan 2002. These subscription rights will vest in three equal installments beginning on July 1, 2004 through July
1, 2006 and will expire on June 30, 2005 through June 30, 2007. During the year ended March 31, 2003, 22,600 shares
expired under Parent Plan 2002.

On June 21, 2002, Konami JPN’s board of directors and shareholders approved a subscription-rights option plan and
the grant of subscription rights exercisable for an aggregate of up to 110,000 ordinary shares of Konami JPN at an
exercise price of ¥1,739 per share to directors and employees of Konami JPN (“JPN Plan 2002”). Subscription rights for
110,000 shares were granted under JPN Plan 2002. Those subscription rights will vest on July 1, 2004 and will expire on
June 30, 2007. None of those subscription rights have expired under JPN Plan 2002.

Under Konami’s plans described above, the number of ordinary shares issuable will be adjusted for stock splits,
reverse stock splits and certain other recapitalizations. After the initial grant of subscription rights under these plans, no
additional subscription rights were granted, none of the subscription rights were exercised and none of the subscription
rights were exercisable at March 31, 2003.

Konami has accounted for the subscription rights granted under those plans according to APB No. 25 and FIN No. 44
and has recorded no compensation charge as there was no intrinsic value to the subscription rights at the date of grant
based on the market value of the respective stock. The fair value of the subscription rights granted was determined
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model under the assumptions described below:
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2001 2002 2003

OSA Plan 2000:
Risk-free interest rate 0.76% 0.76% 0.76%
Expected life 4.53 years 4.53 years 4.53 years
Expected dividends 3.04% 3.04% 3.04%
Expected volatility 87.49% 87.49% 87.49%
Weighted-average fair value ¥156,791 ¥156,791 ¥156,791

TYO Plan 2001:
Risk-free interest rate — 0.52% 0.52%
Expected life — 4.44 years 4.44 years
Expected dividends — 2.43% 2.43%
Expected volatility — 53.27% 53.27%
Weighted-average fair value — ¥473 ¥473

OSA Plan 2002:
Risk-free interest rate — — 1.48%
Expected life — — 4.26 years
Expected dividends — — 4.26%
Expected volatility — — 68.75%
Weighted-average fair value — — ¥384

TYO Plan 2002:
Risk-free interest rate — — 1.48%
Expected life — — 3.81 years
Expected dividends — — 6.53%
Expected volatility — — 50.87%
Weighted-average fair value — — ¥282

Parent Plan 2002:
Risk-free interest rate — — 1.57%
Expected life — — 3.71 years
Expected dividends — — 1.74%
Expected volatility — — 54.88%
Weighted-average fair value — — ¥1,015

JPN Plan 2002:
Risk-free interest rate — — 1.48%
Expected life — — 4.26 years
Expected dividends — — 5.07%
Expected volatility — — 31.53%
Weighted-average fair value — — ¥173

Treasury Stock Transactions
The Company’s board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 5 million shares of the Company’s common stock in
October 2001. In addition to this, in April 2002 the Company’s board of directors approved a plan to purchase additional
2 million shares, total up to 7 million shares. Under these plans, the Company repurchased 4,256,800 shares for ¥15,000
million ($124,792 thousand) during the period from November 2001 to March 2002 and 2,000,000 shares for ¥5,509
million ($45,832 thousand) during the period from April 2002 to June 2002. As the Japanese commercial code was
amended, the Company’s shareholders approved new plan in June 2002 to purchase up to 9 million shares, which
superseded the above plans approved by the Company’s board in October 2001 and April 2002 and subsequently, the
Company repurchased 1,989,900 shares for ¥5,135 million ($42,720 thousand) up to March 31, 2003 from June 2002. For
the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2003, there were no shares reissued. When treasury shares are reissued, any
excess of the average acquisition cost of the shares over the proceeds from reissuance will be charged to retained
earnings.
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17. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Balance, beginning of year ¥ (392) ¥   48 ¥ 757 $ 6,298
Aggregate adjustment for the year resulting from translation of

foreign currency financial statements 440 709 85 707
Balance, end of year ¥    48 ¥ 757 ¥ 842 $ 7,005

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale:
Balance, beginning of year ¥      4 ¥  (22) ¥(211) $(1,755)
Net decrease  (26) (189) 159 1,322
Balance, end of year ¥   (22) ¥(211) ¥  (52) $   (433)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance, beginning of year ¥ (388) ¥   26 ¥ 546 $ 4,543
Adjustments for the year  414 520 244 2,029
Balance, end of year ¥    26 ¥ 546 ¥ 790 $ 6,572

Tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income (loss) and adjustments are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Tax (expense) Net of tax
Pretax amount or benefit amount

2001
Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥ 440 ¥  — ¥ 440
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities:

Unrealized losses arising during the year (45) 19 (26)
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains) or losses included in net income — — —

Net unrealized losses  (45) 19  (26)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ¥ 395 ¥   19 ¥ 414
2002
Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥ 709 ¥  — ¥ 709
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities:

Unrealized losses arising during the year (370) 155 (215)
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains) or losses included in net income (loss) 46 (20) 26

Net unrealized losses (324) 135 (189)
Other comprehensive income ¥ 385 ¥ 135 ¥ 520
2003
Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥   85 ¥  — ¥   85
Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities:

Unrealized losses arising during the year (21) 30 9
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains) or losses included in net income (loss) 253 (103) 150

Net unrealized losses 232 (73) 159
Other comprehensive income ¥ 317 ¥  (73) ¥ 244
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Tax (expense) Net of tax
Pretax amount or benefit amount

2003
Foreign currency translation adjustments $   707 $   — $   707
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities:

Unrealized losses arising during the year (175) 249 74
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains) or losses included in net income (loss) 2,105 (857)  1,248

Net unrealized losses 1,930 (608) 1,322
Other comprehensive income $2,637 $(608) $2,029

19. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, Trade notes and accounts receivable, Trade notes and accounts payable, Accrued expenses, and
Short term borrowings

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Investments in marketable securities
The fair values of Konami’s investments in marketable securities are based on quoted market prices.

Investments in non-marketable securities
For investments in non-marketable securities for which there are no quoted market prices, a reasonable estimate of fair
value could not be made without incurring excessive costs. It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of common
stock representing certain untraded companies. These investments are carried at cost.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments

Konami uses foreign exchange forward contracts with terms ranging from 3 to 6 months to reduce its exposure to short-
term movements in the exchange rates applicable to firm funding commitments denominated in currencies other than
Japanese yen. The aggregate notional amounts of derivative financial instruments outstanding at March 31, 2002 and
2003 were as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Forward exchange contracts:
To sell foreign currencies ¥6,793 ¥10,484 $87,221

Konami does not designate the forward exchange contracts as hedges. Accordingly the foreign currency losses of
¥113 million, ¥49 million and ¥147 million ($1,223 thousand) arising from these forward exchange contracts at March
31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, were included in earnings under the caption Other, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Foreign exchange net gains and (losses), including those on these forward
exchange contracts, for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were ¥(218) million, ¥335 million and ¥450
million ($3,744 thousand), respectively.

Effects of exchange rate changes subsequent to March 31, 2003 on fair value of those forward exchange contracts
have not been significant as of the reporting date.
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Long-term debt
The fair values of Konami’s long-term debt instruments are based on the quoted price in the most active market or the
present value of future cash flows associated with each instrument discounted using the Company’s current borrowing
rate for similar debt instruments of comparable maturity.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair values of derivative financial instruments, consisting principally of foreign exchange contracts, all of which are
used for purposes other than trading, are estimated by obtaining quotes from brokers.

The estimated fair values of Konami’s financial instruments at March 31, 2002 and 2003 are as follows:

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2002 2003 2003

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
amount fair value amount fair value amount fair value

Nonderivatives:
Investment in marketable securities ¥      204 ¥      204 ¥       189 ¥      189 $      1,572 $     1,572
Long-term debt, including current installments (47,838) (45,329) (60,540) (59,163) (503,661) (492,205)

Derivatives:
Foreign exchange forward contracts:

Assets 8 8 18 18 150 150
Liabilities (57) (57) (165) (165) (1,373) (1,373)

Limitations
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and information about the
financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judg-
ment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

20. Supplemental Disclosures to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Thousands of
Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2003

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest ¥      899 ¥      691 ¥     886 $    7,371
Income taxes 18,875 19,010 17,117 142,404

Cash acquisitions of new subsidiaries:
Fair value of assets acquired 105,589 30,849 688 5,724
Liabilities assumed (47,032) (29,048) (239) (1,989)
Goodwill 37,064 1,772 — —
Minority interest (26,965) (4,265) — —

Cash paid, net of cash acquired 68,656 (692) 449 3,735
Cash sale of all shares in a subsidiary:

Assets transferred — — 2,018 16,789
Liabilities transferred — — (489) (4,068)
Gain on sale of subsidiary shares — — 552 4,592

Cash proceeds received, net of cash transferred — — 2,081 17,313
Property acquired under capital leases during the year 2,476 1,923 3,296 27,421
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21. Segment Information

Under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” operating segments are
defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is regularly evalu-
ated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The
operating segments are managed separately as each segment represents a strategic business unit that offers different
products and serves different markets.

Konami operates on a worldwide basis principally with the following five business segments:
• Computer & Video Games (former Consumer Software) – production and sale of home-use video game software
• Exercise Entertainment (former Health and Fitness) – operation of health and fitness clubs
• Toy & Hobby (former Character Products) – production and sale of character related products
• Amusement (former Amusement Content) – manufacture and sale of amusement arcade games and

          token-operated games
• Gaming (former Gaming Content) – manufacture and sale of gaming machines for overseas market
“Other” includes operations of amusement facility and real estate management services provided primarily to subsidiaries.
During the year ended March 31, 2003, Konami renamed each of its business segments in order to clarify the

operations of each segment. Former “Consumer Software” became “Computer & Video Games”, former “Health and
Fitness” became “Exercise Entertainment”, former “Character Products” became “Toy & Hobby”, former “Amusement
Content” became “Amusement” and former “Gaming Content” became “Gaming”.

In May 2002, Konami sold its amusement facility operation business, which was a part of the Other segment, to a
third-party purchaser.

In the fourth quarter ended March 31, 2003, Konami transferred its fitness equipment business from the Amusement
segment to the Exercise Entertainment segment and its token-operated game machine business from the Gaming seg-
ment to the Amusement segment. In accordance with these changes, results for the previous fiscal years have been
reclassified to conform to the presentation for the year ended March 31, 2003.

The following table summarizes revenue, operating income (loss), total assets, depreciation and amortization and
capital expenditures by operating segment which are the primary measures used by Konami’s chief operating decision
maker to measure Konami’s operating results and to measure segment profitability and performance. This information
is derived from Konami’s management reports which have been prepared based on U.S. GAAP for fiscal periods begin-
ning after March 31, 2002. Such reports were previously prepared based on Japanese GAAP. Accordingly, results for the
previous fiscal years have been restated based on U.S. GAAP.

(1) Revenue and operating income (loss)

Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2001 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥59,176 ¥4,732 ¥60,526 ¥39,880 ¥    425 ¥6,742 ¥171,481 — ¥171,481
Intersegment  1,711  452  64 621 — 2,135 4,983 ¥(4,983)  —

Total 60,887 5,184 60,590 40,501 425 8,877 176,464 (4,983) 171,481
Operating expenses  53,774 5,424 30,230 30,475 3,163 8,896 131,962 1,608 133,570
Operating income (loss) ¥  7,113 ¥  (240) ¥30,360 ¥10,026 ¥(2,738) ¥    (19) ¥  44,502 ¥(6,591) ¥ 37,911

a . Operations in Different
Industries
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Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2002 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥88,762 ¥65,619 ¥25,213 ¥36,649 ¥ 3,063 ¥6,274 ¥225,580 — ¥225,580
Intersegment  1,367  31  388 1,269 – 2,623 5,678 ¥(5,678) —

Total 90,129 65,650 25,601 37,918 3,063 8,897 231,258 (5,678) 225,580
Operating expenses  71,777 70,273 18,400 29,318 5,789 9,241 204,798 2,695 207,493

Operating income (loss) ¥18,352 ¥(4,623) ¥  7,201 ¥  8,600 ¥(2,726) ¥  (344) ¥  26,460 ¥(8,373) ¥  18,087

Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥85,891 ¥ 78,437 ¥45,887 ¥33,105 ¥8,215 ¥2,122 ¥253,657 — ¥253,657
Intersegment  1,585  88  61 1,200 – 3,398 6,332 ¥(6,332) —

Total 87,476 78,525 45,948 34,305 8,215 5,520 259,989 (6,332) 253,657
Operating expenses  73,489 127,937 29,319 27,035 8,384 6,330 272,494 3,033 275,527

Operating income (loss) ¥13,987 ¥(49,412) ¥16,629 ¥  7,270 ¥  (169) ¥  (810) ¥ (12,505) ¥(9,365) ¥ (21,870)

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers $714,567 $   652,554 $381,755 $275,417 $68,344 $ 17,654 $2,110,291 — $2,110,291

Intersegment  13,186  732  508  9,983 – 28,270 52,679 $(52,679) —

Total 727,753 653,286 382,263 285,400 68,344 45,924 2,162,970 (52,679) 2,110,291
Operating expenses  611,389 1,064,368 243,918 224,917 69,750 52,663 2,267,005 25,233 2,292,238

Operating income (loss) $116,364 $  (411,082) $138,345 $  60,483 $ (1,406) $ (6,739) $ (104,035) $(77,912) $ (181,947)

Intersegment revenues primarily consists of sub-licensing of intellectual property rights from Computer & Video
Games and Toy & Hobby to Amusement and Gaming, sales of hardware and components from Amusement to Computer
& Video Games and Exercise Entertainment, and administrative services provided by shared-service subsidiaries in-
cluded in Other. Eliminations and corporate primarily consist of eliminations of intercompany profits on inventories and
expenses for corporate headquarters.

As discussed in Note 7, an impairment charge of ¥47,599 million ($395,998 thousand) for goodwill and other
intangible assets was included in the operating expenses of the Exercise Entertainment segment for the year ended
March 31, 2003.
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(2) Total assets, depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures

Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2001 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Depreciation and amortization ¥1,261 ¥     925 ¥  76 ¥718 ¥53 ¥1,550 ¥  4,583 ¥   524 ¥  5,107
Capital expenditures 1,846 71,357 264 753 94 1,815 76,129 1,469 77,598

Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2002 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Assets ¥72,181 ¥152,705 ¥7,843 ¥28,268 ¥6,648 ¥25,287 ¥292,932 ¥35,159 ¥328,091
Depreciation and amortization 2,311 9,923 116 817 296 1,375 14,838 622 15,460
Capital expenditures 2,400 11,355 81 712 2,998 2,607 20,153 528 20,681

Millions of Yen

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Assets ¥79,494 ¥102,433 ¥11,759 ¥23,240 ¥10,513 ¥18,980 ¥246,419 ¥31,831 ¥278,250
Depreciation and amortization 1,774 7,736 60 789 419 376 11,154 825 11,979
Capital expenditures 838 6,868 555 272 258 3,690 12,481 5,438 17,919

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Computer & Eliminations
Video Exercise Toy & and

Year ended March 31, 2003 Games Entertainment Hobby Amusement Gaming Other Total Corporate Consolidated

Assets $661,348 $852,188 $97,829 $193,344 $87,463 $157,903 $2,050,075 $264,817 $2,314,892
Depreciation and amortization 14,758 64,360 499 6,564 3,486 3,128 92,795 6,864 99,659
Capitalexpenditures 6,972 57,138 4,617 2,263 2,147 30,699 103,836 45,241 149,077

Eliminations and corporate primarily consist of eliminations of intercompany profits on inventories and assets for
corporate headquarters, which primarily consist of cash and financial assets. Capital expenditures include expenditures
for acquisitions of tangible and intangible long-lived assets used in operations of each segment, including those ac-
quired in acquisitions of businesses.
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Millions of Yen

Year ended March 31, 2001 Japan Americas Europe Asia/Oceania Total Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥153,269 ¥ 8,499 ¥8,172 ¥1,541 ¥171,481  — ¥171,481
Intersegment  11,911  398  2  42  12,353 ¥(12,353)  —

Total 165,180 8,897 8,174 1,583 183,834 (12,353) 171,481
Operating expenses  119,043  12,156  7,515  1,633  140,347  (6,777) 133,570
Operating income (loss) ¥  46,137 ¥(3,259) ¥   659 ¥    (50) ¥  43,487 ¥ (5,576)  ¥ 37,911

Millions of Yen

Year ended March 31, 2002 Japan Americas Europe Asia/Oceania Total Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥177,618 ¥26,002 ¥19,320 ¥2,640 ¥225,580  — ¥225,580
Intersegment  31,446  2,860  6  199  34,511 ¥(34,511)  —

Total 209,064 28,862 19,326 2,839 260,091 (34,511) 225,580
Operating expenses  185,089  30,438  14,944  2,695  233,166  (25,673)  207,493
Operating income (loss) ¥  23,975 ¥ (1,576) ¥  4,382 ¥   144 ¥  26,925 ¥  (8,838) ¥  18,087
Assets ¥323,470 ¥  7,779 ¥16,897 ¥3,474 ¥351,620 ¥(23,529) ¥328,091

Millions of Yen

Year ended March 31, 2003 Japan Americas Europe Asia/Oceania Total Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers ¥182,345 ¥47,729 ¥16,297 ¥7,286 ¥ 253,657  — ¥253,657
Intersegment  50,670  805  27  506  52,008 ¥(52,008)  —

Total 233,015 48,534 16,324 7,792 305,665 (52,008) 253,657
Operating expenses  258,551  47,112  14,917  6,236  326,816  (51,289)  275,527
Operating income (loss) ¥ (25,536) ¥  1,422 ¥  1,407 ¥1,556 ¥ (21,151) ¥     (719) ¥ (21,870)

Assets ¥277,637 ¥18,787 ¥13,715 ¥4,281 ¥314,420 ¥(36,170) ¥278,250

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Year ended March 31, 2003 Japan Americas Europe Asia/Oceania Total Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue:
Customers $1,517,013 $397,080 $135,582 $60,616 $2,110,291  — $2,110,291
Intersegment  421,548  6,697  225  4,209  432,679 $(432,679)  —
Total 1,938,561 403,777 135,807 64,825 2,542,970 (432,679) 2,110,291

Operating expenses  2,151,007  391,947  124,101  51,880  2,718,935  (426,697)  2,292,238
Operating income (loss) $  (212,446) $  11,830 $  11,706 $12,945 $  (175,965) $    (5,982) $  (181,947)
Assets  $2,309,792 $156,298 $114,101 $35,616 $2,615,807 $(300,915) $2,314,892

For the purpose of presenting its operations in geographic areas above, Konami attributes revenues from external
customers to individual countries in each area based on where products are sold and services are provided, and at-
tributes assets based on where assets are located.

As discussed in Note 7, an impairment charge of ¥47,599 million ($395,998 thousand) for goodwill and other intan-
gible assets was included in the operating expenses of the Japan segment for the year ended March 31, 2003.

b. Operations in Geographic
Areas
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22. Commitments and Contingencies

Konami is subject to pending claims and litigation. Management, after review and consultation with counsel, considers
that any liability from the disposition of such lawsuits would not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial condition and results of operations of Konami.

Konami has placed firm orders for purchases of property, plant and equipment and other assets amounting to ap-
proximately ¥607 million ($5,050 thousand) as of March 31, 2003.

23. Subsequent Events

Not applicable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Konami Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Konami Corporation and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2002

and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in

the three-year period ended March 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Konami Corporation and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2002 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1(h) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” effective April 1, 2002.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2003 have been translated into

United States dollars solely for the convenience of the reader. We have recomputed the translation and, in our opinion, the

consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule expressed in yen have been translated into United States

dollars on the basis set forth in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Tokyo, Japan

June 20, 2003
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(Yen in millions and U.S. dollars in thousands except per share data)

1998 1999 2000(1) 2001(2) 2002 2003 2003

Income Statement Data:

Net revenues ¥  89,624 ¥113,414 ¥146,667 ¥171,481 ¥225,580 ¥253,657 $2,110,291
Cost of revenues 61,072 75,029 90,755 103,068 154,651 174,879 1,454,900
Impairment on goodwill and other intangible assets — — — — — 47,599 395,998
Selling, general and administrative expenses 20,959 21,650 24,973 30,502 52,842 53,049 441,340

Operating income (loss) 7,593 16,735 30,939 37,911 18,087 (21,870) (181,947)

Other income (expenses)—net (1,050) (2,090) 3,471 2,924 4,591 (226) (1,880)

Income (loss) before income taxes 6,543 14,645 34,410 40,835 22,678 (22,096) (183,827)
Income taxes 1,490 9,326 15,650 19,203 11,667 6,186 51,464
Minority interest in income (loss)

consolidated subsidiaries (3) 50 214 415 420 364 (1,051) (8,744)
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies — — — 356 755 (1,288) (10,716)

Net income (loss) ¥    5,003 ¥    5,105 ¥  18,345 ¥  21,568 ¥  11,402 ¥ (28,519) $  (237,263)

Net income (loss) per share-basic (4) ¥    46.86 ¥    48.13 ¥  164.26 ¥  189.04 ¥    89.32 ¥ (234.58) $       (1.95)
Net income (loss) per share-diluted (4) ¥    44.10 ¥    45.33 ¥  163.33 ¥  189.04 ¥    89.32 ¥ (234.58) $       (1.95)
Cash dividends per share (4, 5) ¥    30.00 ¥    43.00 ¥97.00 ¥    54.00 ¥    54.00 ¥    54.00 $         0.44

Balance Sheet Data:
Total current assets ¥  69,135 ¥  80,797 ¥102,953 ¥124,852 ¥142,055 ¥136,705 $1,137,313
Total assets 107,660 117,383 136,081 293,830 328,091 278,250 2,314,892
Total current liabilities 44,441 45,166 46,647 80,350 79,548 71,774 597,122
Total long-term liabilities 21,758 24,605 16,348 36,754 77,637 87,215 725,582
Total shareholders’ equity 41,262 46,908 70,844 145,151 134,990 90,406 752,130

* Figures for the  fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 and earlier fiscal years are based on generally accepted accounting principles in Japan (Japanese GAAP), while figures for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2001 and subsequent fiscal years are based on US GAAP.

Notes: (1) Effective April 1, 1999, we adopted the new Japanese GAAP accounting standard for deferred income taxes, which required recognition of deferred income taxes for the estimated
future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. As a
result of the adoption, net income increased by ¥783 million for the year ended March 31, 2000 compared with what would have been recorded under the previous standard.

(2) In February 2001, we acquired 54.64% of the issued and outstanding shares of People Co., Ltd., a health and fitness club operator in Japan, for total cash consideration of ¥69,415 million.
The acquired company was then renamed Konami Sports Corporation. The assets, liabilities and results of operations of Konami Sports Corporation have been included in our consolidated
financial statements since the acquisition date.

(3) For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 and earlier, income before income taxes includes equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies in accordance with Japanese GAAP. For
subsequent fiscal years, income before income taxes excludes equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies, in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

(4) Net income per share and cash dividends per share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the relevant period, and is adjusted to reflect the
issuance of new shares gratis through stock splits conducted from May 20, 1999 to May 19, 2000.

(5) Cash dividends per share consist of interim dividends paid during the fiscal year and year-end dividends paid after the fiscal year-end.
(6) U.S. dollar amounts are translated from Japanese yen, solely for the convenience of readers, at the rate of ¥120.20 to U.S.$1, the approximate rate of exchange on March 31, 2003 on

the Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market.

SIX-YEAR SUMMARY

KONAMI CORPORATION and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Fiscal year ended/as of March 31
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March 1969 Kagemasa Kozuki (current Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) founded a jukebox rental/repair
business in 148, Kozushima, Toyonaka City, Osaka.

March 1973 Konami Industries Co., Ltd. (currently KONAMI CORPORATION) was established with capital of ¥1 million and started
manufacturing amusement machines for arcades.

January 1978 KONAMI’s first game machine using a microcomputer was produced; manufacture and sales began.

January 1979 KONAMI began exporting products to the United States; laid foundations for business expansion in that country.

May 1980 Headquarters was moved to a new office building in Shonai-sakae machi, Toyonaka City, Osaka.

March 1982 Osaka Small and Medium Business Investment & Consultation Co., Ltd. invested in KONAMI.
Headquarters was transferred to Osaka Ekimae Dai 4 Building in Kita Ward, Osaka.

October 1982 KONAMI began manufacture and sales of game software for PCs.

November 1982 Konami of America Inc. (currently Konami of America, Inc.) was established in the U.S.

November 1983 Manufacture and sales of game software for MSX PCs commenced.

March 1984 New building was constructed for Technology Development Center in Shonai-takara machi , Toyonaka City, Osaka.

June 1984 Konami Limited (currently Konami Marketing Europe Ltd.) was established in the U.K.

October 1984 KONAMI was listed on the Second Section of the Osaka Securities Exchange (capitalized at ¥2.94 billion).

December 1984 Konami GmbH (currently Konami of Europe GmbH) was established in Germany.

April 1985 KONAMI began manufacture and sales of game software for Nintendo’s Family Computer.

August 1986 KONAMI Software Development Building was completed in Port Island, Chuo Ward, Kobe, and KONAMI headquarters
(currently Kobe Building) was moved there.

November 1986 New production control department and distribution center opened in Toyonaka City, Osaka.

August 1988 KONAMI was listed on the first sections of the Tokyo Stock Exchange and Osaka Securities Exchange.

May 1991 KONAMI Technology Development Center (currently Kobe Office) opened in Nishi Ward, Kobe, Hyogo prefecture.

June 1991 The Company’s name was changed from Konami Industries Co., Ltd., to Konami Co., Ltd.

June 1992 KONAMI set up Tokyo Headquarters in Minato Ward, Tokyo.

April 1993 Headquarter functions were moved from Kobe to Tokyo Headquarters.

August 1994 The Tokyo Technical Center (currently Zama Office) was opened in Zama, Kanagawa Prefecture.

September 1994 Konami (Hong Kong) Ltd. (currently Konami Marketing (Asia) Ltd.) was established in Hong Kong.

January 1995 The Kobe Building was partly damaged in the Great Hanshin Awaji Earthquake.

April 1995 Konami Computer Entertainment Osaka Co., Ltd. (currently Konami Computer Entertainment Studios, Inc.) was
established.
Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo Co., Ltd. was established.

December 1995 Konami Music Entertainment Co., Ltd. was established.

April 1996 Konami Computer Entertainment Japan Co., Ltd. was established.

May 1996 KONAMI shifted to an organization based on business divisions.

March 1997 The new Amusement Business plant was constructed in Kobe (subsequently merged with the Kobe Office).
Konami Computer Entertainment School Co., Ltd. (currently Konami School, Inc.) was established.

November 1997 KONAMI was listed on the Stock Exchange of Singapore.

March 1998 KONAMI began exporting production components of video slot machines to Australia.

September 1999 KONAMI was listed on the London Stock Exchange.
Konami Computer Entertainment Osaka Co., Ltd. (currently Konami Computer Entertainment Studios, Inc.) registered its
shares on the over-the-counter (OTC) market.

KONAMI’S HISTORY
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December 1999 The official registered address of KONAMI’s headquarters was changed from Kobe to Minato Ward, Tokyo.

January 2000 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Nevada.

June 2000 Konami Software Shanghai, Inc. was established in Shanghai, China.

July 2000 KONAMI invested in TAKARA Co., Ltd., making it an affiliated company.

August 2000 Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo, Inc., registered its shares on the OTC market.

October 2000 Konami Marketing Inc. was established and KONAMI transferred its sales divisions to that company.
KONAMI was awarded a product license by the U.S. state of Nevada (shipments commenced in December 2000).
KONAMI was awarded a license related to the manufacture and sale of gaming machines by the U.S. state
of Mississippi.

November 2000 Pachinko slot machine made by Konami Parlor Entertainment, Inc. (currently KPE, Inc.) passed a type approval test of
the Security Electronics and Communications Technology Association.

February 2001 Outstanding shares of PEOPLE CO., LTD. (renamed Konami Sports Corporation in June 2001) were purchased through
a tender offer (TOB), and the company became a KONAMI subsidiary.

March 2001 Konami Parlor Entertainment, Inc. (currently KPE, Inc.) Zama office was approved as a manufacturer of pachinko slot
machines by the Japanese Crime Prevention Association.

May 2001 KONAMI was awarded a license to produce and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Indiana.

June 2001 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Iowa.

August 2001 KONAMI invested in HUDSON SOFT CO., LTD., making it an affiliated company.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the Canadian province of Ontario.

October 2001 Konami Marketing, Inc. merged with 11 distributors.
Konami Mobile Online, Inc. was established.
KONAMI converted Konami Australia Pty Ltd into a wholly owned subsidiary through the purchase of all outstanding
shares, gaining licenses to sell gaming machines throughout Australia.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Oregon.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Arizona.

December 2001 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Michigan.

January 2002 KONAMI invested in Genki Co., Ltd., making it an affiliated company.

February 2002 Konami Computer Entertainment Japan, Inc. registered its shares on the OTC market.
Konami Sports Corporation transformed Daiei Olympic Sports Club, Inc. (renamed Konami Olympic Sports Club
Corporation in February 2002) into a subsidiary through a share purchase.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Illinois.

May 2002 The operation of amusement facilities was transferred to AmLead Co., Ltd.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Kansas.

June 2002 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Minnesota.

July 2002 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
(U.S. territory).

August 2002 The official registered address of KONAMI’s headquarters was changed to Marunouchi, Chiyoda Ward in Tokyo.

September 2002 KONAMI’s stock was listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of West Virginia.

November 2002 KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Louisiana.
KONAMI was awarded a license to manufacture and sell gaming machines by the U.S. state of Wisconsin.

March 2003 Konami Sports Corporation transformed NISSAY ATHLETICS COMPANY (company name was changed to Konami
Athletics Inc.) into a subsidiary through a purchase of shares.
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Konami Computer Entertainment Tokyo, Inc. (JASDAQ)
Paid-in Capital: ¥2,323.1 million
8-10, Harumi 1-chome, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-6041
TEL: 81-3 5144-0573 FAX: 81-3 5144-0574

Konami Computer Entertainment Japan, Inc. (JASDAQ)
Paid-in Capital: ¥3,366.52 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6112, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5413-0573 FAX: 81-3 5413-0574

Konami Computer Entertainment Studios, Inc. (JASDAQ)
Paid-in Capital: ¥1,213.05 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6113, Japan
TEL: 81-3 3470-0573 FAX: 81-3 3470-0574

Konami Mobile & Online, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥300 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6114, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5771-0573 FAX: 81-3 4466-1573

Konami Sports Life Corporation
Paid-in Capital: ¥15,050 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6156, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5771-0573 FAX: 81-3 4426-0580

Konami Sports Corporation (1st Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange)
Paid-in Capital: ¥5,040.95 million
10-1, Higashi-Shinagawa 4-chome, Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 140-0002, Japan
TEL: 81-3 6688-0573 FAX: 81-3 6688-5743

Konami Music Entertainment, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥60 million
12-1, Dogenzaka 1-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 150-0043, Japan
TEL: 81-3 3780-0573 FAX: 81-3 5458-6430

Konami Marketing Japan, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥1,162.39 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6165, Japan
TEL: 81-3 6833-5730 FAX: 81-3 3479-9405

Konami Real Estate, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥6,000 million
7-16, Kyobashi 2-chome, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0031, Japan
TEL: 81-3 6800-0573 FAX: 81-3 6800-0574

Konami School, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥160 million
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6160, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5772-0573 FAX: 81-3 5772-0574

Konami Career Management, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: ¥60 million
7-16, Kyobashi 2-chome, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0031, Japan
TEL: 81-3 6800-2573 FAX: 81-3 6800-2574

Konami Corporation of America
Paid-in Capital: US$34.9 million
1400 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065 U.S.A.
TEL: 1-650-654-5600 FAX: 1-650-654-5690

Konami of America, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: US$21.5 million
1400 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065 U.S.A.
TEL: 1-650-654-5600 FAX: 1-650-654-5690

Konami Marketing, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: US$0.17 million
1400 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065 U.S.A.
TEL: 1-650-654-5637 FAX: 1-650-654-3294

Konami Gaming, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: US$1.7 million
7140 South Industrial Rd. Suite 700, Las Vegas, NV 89118 U.S.A.
TEL: 1-702-367-0573 FAX: 1-702-367-0007

Konami Computer Entertainment Hawaii, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: US$2.2 million
2222 Kalakaua Ave. Suite 1500, Honolulu, Hawaii 96815, U.S.A.
TEL: 1-808-923-0573 FAX: 1-808-921-2244

Konami Australia Pty Ltd.
Paid-in Capital: A$3 million
28 Lord St., Botany, NSW, Australia 2019
TEL: 61-2-9666-5731 FAX: 61-2-9666-3695

Konami Corporation of Europe B.V.
Paid-in Capital: EURO 9.01 million
Konami House, 54A Cowley Mill Road, Uxbridge, Middlesex, UB8 2QE, U.K.
TEL: 44-1895-200-573 FAX: 44-1895-200-500

Konami of Europe GmbH
Paid-in Capital: EURO 5.11 million
Berner Str. 103-105, 60437 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
TEL: 49-069-985573-0 FAX: 49-069-985573-77

Konami Marketing (Asia) Ltd.
Paid-in Capital: HK$19.5 million
Suite 2007, Tower 1, The Gateway, 25 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
TEL: 852-2956-0573 FAX: 852-2956-2300

Konami Software Shanghai, Inc.
Paid-in Capital: US$2 million
15F, JinMao Tower, No.88 Century Boulevard, Pu-Dong New Area,
Shanghai 200121, P.R. China
TEL: 86-21-50470573 FAX: 86-21-50470140

MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES (As of June 30, 2003)
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Board of Directors and Corporate Auditors

Corporate Officers

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, CORPORATE AUDITORS AND CORPORATE OFFICERS

(As of June 19, 2003)

(As of May 22, 2003)

Note: Corporate auditors Noboru Onuma, Tetsuro Yamamoto, Minoru Nagaoka and Masataka Imaizumi are external corporate auditors as defined under Article 18,
Section 1 of the “Law Concerning Special Measures under the Commercial Code with respect to Audits, etc. of Corporations (Kabushiki Kaisha).”

Position Name

    Representative Director Kagemasa Kozuki

    Representative Director Kagehiko Kozuki

    Representative Director Noriaki Yamaguchi

    Director Toshiro Tateno

    Director (external) Tomokazu Godai President, Maya Tec Co., Ltd.

    Director (external) Satoshi Akagi Director, Kozuki Foundation For Advanced Information  Technology
(Former Assistant Division Chief, Hyogo Prefectural Board
 of Education)

    Director (external) Hiroyuki Mizuno Director, Research Institute of Kochi University of Technology
(Former Vice President, Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.)

    Director (external) Tsutomu Takeda (Former President, Asatsu-DK Inc.)

    Standing Corporate Auditor Noboru Onuma (Former Director, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation)

    Standing Corporate Auditor Tetsuro Yamamoto (Former Director, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd.)

    Corporate Auditor Minoru Nagaoka President, Capital Markets Research Institute (Former Administrative
Vice Minister for Finance, Ministry of Finance; former Commissioner,
National Public Safety Commission)

    Corporate Auditor Masataka Imaizumi Chairman, Zenkoku Keiyukai Rengokai (Former Superintendent-General
of the Metropolitan Police Department)

Position Name In Charge

    President, Corporate Officer Kagemasa Kozuki Chief Executive Officer

    Executive Vice President, Noriaki Yamaguchi Chief Financial Officer
    Corporate Officer

    Executive Corporate Officer Kazumi Kitaue Computer & Video Games Business

    Executive Corporate Officer Fumiaki Tanaka Amusement Business, Exercise Entertainment Business,
IT management

    Executive Corporate Officer Akihiko Nagata Toy & Hobby Business

    Executive Corporate Officer Shuji Kido Gaming Business

    Executive Corporate Officer Toshiro Tateno Corporate Planning

    Corporate Officer Shigeo Niwa Intellectual Property

    Corporate Officer Osamu Kishima Finance and Accounting

    Corporate Officer Shinichi Furukawa Administration

    Corporate Officer Kimihiko Higashio Human Resources

    Corporate Officer Seiji Ito Secretary Office
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Principal Shareholders

Common Stock

Authorized: 450,000,000 shares

Outstanding: 128,737,566 shares
(including 8,253,191 treasury shares)

Number of
Shareholders: 51,010

Listed Exchanges: Tokyo, New York, London and Singapore

Shareholder's Name Shares (Thousands) (% of total)

Kozuki Holding B.V. 13,530 10.50

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 9,487 7.36

KONAMI CORPORATION 8,253 6.41

Kozuki Capital Corporation 7,000 5.43

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 6,959 5.40

Kozuki Foundation for Advanced Information Technology 5,880 4.56

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 4,584 3.56

Kozuki Foundation for Sports and Athletes 4,120 3.20

Kozuki Foundation for Higher Education 3,194 2.48

UFJ Trust Bank Limited (Trust Account A) 2,533 1.96

Lehman Brothers Inc. Tokyo Branch 1,752 1.36

Nippon Life Insurance Company (Pension Special Account) 1,705 1.32

Nomura Securities Co., Ltd. 1,593 1.23

THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A. LONDON S.L. OMNIBUS ACCOUNT 385011 1,572 1.22

THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A. LONDON 1,558 1.21

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 4G) 1,374 1.06

Mitsui Asset Trust and Banking Company, Limited Pension Trust Account No.2 1,135 0.88

J.P.Morgan Trust Bank Ltd. (Non-Taxable Account) 1,103 0.85

The Mitsubishi Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. (Trust Account) 1,090 0.84

Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account B) 1,084 0.84

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Composition of Shareholders
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(As of March 31, 2003)



Founded:

Incorporated:

Paid-in Capital:

Representative:

Employees:

Average Age:

Principal Businesses:

March 21, 1969

March 19, 1973

¥47,399 million

Kagemasa Kozuki, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Consolidated: 4,313

Consolidated: 32.1 years

Computer & Video Games Business

Production, manufacture and sale of video game software for consoles.

Production of content for mobile phones.

Distribution of video game software produced by third parties.

Production of on-line game software.

Exercise Entertainment Business

Management of sports clubs.

Design, manufacture and sale of fitness machines with entertainment elements.

Toy & Hobby Business

Planning, production and sale of electronic toys, educational toys, toys for infants, boys

and girls, handheld games, candy toys, figures, card games, trading cards, character

goods, sundry goods, prizes, books, music CDs and others.

Amusement Business

Design, manufacture and sale of content for amusement facilities such as video games

and token-operated games.

Design, manufacture and sale of special-purpose LCDs.

Gaming Business

Design, manufacture and sale of gaming machines for casinos.

Headquarters
4-1, Marunouchi 2-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-6330, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5220-0573 FAX: 81-3 5220-9900

Computer & Video Games Business Head Office
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6114, Japan
TEL: 81-3 4333-0573 FAX: 81-3 3403-0761

Toy & Hobby Business Head Office
12-1, Dogenzaka 1-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 150-0043, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5458-0573 FAX: 81-3 5458-1040

Amusement Business Head Office
10-1, Roppongi 6-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6158, Japan
TEL: 81-3 5771-0573 FAX: 81-3 3423-0574

Gaming Business Head Office
1-1, Higashihara 5-chome, Zama-shi, Kanagawa 228-0004, Japan
TEL: 81-46 298-0573 FAX: 81-46 298-0574

CORPORATE DATA

DOMESTIC OFFICES

(As of March 31, 2003)
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